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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Act”). All

statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding our future results of operations and linancial position, business
strategy, product candidates, planned preclinical studies and clinical trials, results of clinical trials, research and development costs, regulatory approvals, timing and likelihood of success, as well as
plans and ohjectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other impormant factors that are in
soime cases beyond our control and may cause our acteal resulis, performance or achievements o be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by
the forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause actual resulis to differ from expected results include, among others:

*  our ability to obtain regulatory approval and successfully commercialize TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis;

= the likelihood of our clinical trials demonstrating safety and efficacy of our product candidates, and other positive results;

«  the timing and progress of our current clinical trials and timing of initiation of our future clinical trials, and the reporting of data from our current and future trials;

*  thetiming or likelihood of regulatory filings and approval for our product candidates;

«  our plans relating to the clinical development of our current and future product candidates, including the size, number and disease areas o be evaluated;

+  the prevalence of Demodex blepharitis and the size of the market opportunity for our product candidates;

+  the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of our product candidates;

*  owr plans relating 1o commercializing our product candidates, if approved, including sales strategy;

«  the impact of health epidemics, including COVID-19, on our business and operations;

+  the success of competing therapies that are or may become available;

«  our estimates of the number of patients in the United States ("U.5.") or globally, as applicable, who suffer from Demodex blepharitis, Meibomian Gland Disease, rosacea, Lyme
disease and malaria and the number of patients that will enroll in owr clinical trials;

+  the beneficial characteristics, safery, efficacy, therapeutic effects and potential advantages of our product candidates;
«  our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our product candidates and our product candidates to meet existing or future regulatory standards;

«  ouwr plans relating to the further development and manufacturing of our product candidates, including additional indications for which we may pursue;

«  owr ability to identify additional products, product candidates or technologies with significant commercial patential that are consistent with our ¢ 1al objectives;

+  the expected potential benefits of strategic collaborations with third parties {including, for example, the receipt of payments, achievement and timing of milestones under license
agreements, and the ability of our third party collaborators to commercialize our product candidates in the territories under license) and our ability to attract collaborators with
development, regulatory and commercialization expertise;

«  existing regulations and regulatory developments in the U5, and other jurisdictions;




+  our plans and ability to obtain or protect intellectual property rights, including extensions of existing patent terms where available;

+  our continued reliance on thind parties w conduct additional clinical wials of owr product candidates, and for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical studies and
clinical trials;

»  the need to hire additional personnel, in particular sales personnel, and our ability to attract and retain such personnel;

«  the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses. future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

+  owr financial performance;

+  the sufficiency of our existing capital resources to fund our future operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements;

* our competitive position;

«  our expectations regarding the period during which we will gualify as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act; and

»  owr anticipated use of our existing resources and the proceeds from our Initial Public Offering and subsequent follow-on public offerings, and credit facility.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about our business, the industry in which we operate and financial irends that we believe
may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects, and these forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or development. These
forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in the section
titled “Risk Factors™ elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Moreover, we cperate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, New risks emerge from time to time, It is not
possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to
differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed
in this report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Except as required by applicable law, we do
not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date of this Annval Report on Form 10-K, whether as a result of any new information, future events or otherwise.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, advancements, discoveries, levels of activity, performance or events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-looking
staternents will be achieved or oecur. Moreover, except as required by law, neither we nor any ather person assumes
responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update
publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this report ta conform these statements to actual results
or to changes in our expectations,

You should read this report and the documents that we reference in this report and have filed with the SEC as
exhibits to this report with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance and events and
circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the “Company”, “we,” *us,” “our,” “Tarsus,"” and “Tarsus Pharmaceuticals” refer to Tarsus
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We primarily conduct sur business activities as Tarsus Pharmaceuticals.

e

Tarsus Pharmaceuticals, Tarsus, and Tarsus Pharmaceuticals, Inc., our logo and other registered or common law trade names, rademarks or service marks of Tarsus appearing in this report
are the property of the Company. This report contains additional rade names, trademarks and service marks of other companies that are the property of their respective owners, We




do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks or service marks to imply a relatienship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these other companies, Solely for
convenience, our trade names, rademarks and service marks referred to in this report appear without the ®, ™ or ** symbaols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will
not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or the right of the applicable licensor to these trade names, trademarks and service marks,

SUMMARY OF RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS
W face risks and uncertainties associated with our business, many of which are beyvond our control. Some of the more significant risks associated with our business include the following:

* W are a biopharmaceutical company with limited operating history, We have incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception and anticipate that we
will continue to incur significant expenses and losses for the foreseeable future.

*  We may need to obtain additional funding to complete the development and any commercialization of our product candidares, if approved. If we are unable (o raise this necessary capital
when needed, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our product development programs, commercialization efforts or other operations.

*  We are heavily dependent on the success of our lead product candidate, TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis. If we are unable to successfully obtain regulatory approval for, or
commercialize, TP-03, or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

= Even if TP-03 or any other product candidate that we develop receives marketing approval, we may not be successful in educating eve care physician ("ECPs"), and the market about the
need for treatments specifically for Demodex blepharitis and or other diseases or conditions targeted by our product candidates, and TP-03 or other product candidates that we may develop
may fail wo achieve market acceptance by ECPs, other healthcare providers and patients, or adequate formulary coverage, pricing or reimbursement by thivd-party payers and others in the
medical community, and the market opportunity for these products may be smaller than we estimate.

*  The sizes of the market opportunity for our product candidates, particularly TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis and MG, have not been established with precision and may be
smaller than we estimate, possibly materially, [f our estimates of the sizes overestimate these markets, our sales growth may be adversely affected. We may also not be able 1o grow the
markets for our product candidates as Intended or at all.

*  The development and commercialization of our products, including our lead product candidate, TP-03 for the potential treatment of Demodex blepharitis and Meibomian Gland Disease
("MGD"), TP-04 for the potential treatment of rosacea and TE-05 for potential Lyme prophylaxis and community malaria reduction, is dependent on intellectual property we license from
Elanco Tiergesundheit AG ("Elanco”).

* We will need to develop and expand our company and we may encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.

* Wi contract with third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical studies, clinical trials and for eventual commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases
the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or compounds or that such supply will not be available to us at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or

impair our development or commercialization efforts.

«  Clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with uncertain timelines and uncertain outcomes, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future
results,

= Any termination or suspension of, or delays in the commencement or completion of, our planned clinical trials could result in increased costs to us, delay or limit our ability to generate
revenue and adversely affect our commercial prospects.

= We rely on third parties o conduct our clinical trials and perform some of our research and preclinical studies.

*  If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection is not sufficiently broad, our
competitors could develop and




commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability o successfully commercialize our products may be adversely affected.
Patent terms may be inadequate (o protect our competitive position on our product candidates and preclinical programs for an adeguate amount of time.

The cencentration of our stock ownership will likely limit your ability to influence corporate matters, including the ability to influence the outcome of director elections and other matters
requiring stockholder approval.




PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of therapeutics, starting with eye care. Our lead product candidate, TP-03 (lotilaner aphthalmic
solution, 0,.25%), is a novel investigational eye drop (o treat blepharitis caused by the infestation of Demodex mites, which is referred 1o as Demodex blepharitis. Blepharitis (*Blephar” is a reference
1o eyelid and “itis™ is a reference o infl n) is an ophthalmic lid margin disease characterized by inflammation of the evelid margin, redness and ocular irritation, including a specific type of
eyelash dandruff called collaretes, which are pathognomonic for Demodex blepharitis. Poorly controlled and progressive blepharitis can lead w corneal damage over time and, in extreme cases,
blindness, There are an estimated 25 million people in the U.S. who suffer from Demodex blepharitis.

We designed TP-03 to target and eradicate the root cause of Demodex blepharitis — Demodex mite infestation. The active pharmaceutical ingredient (" API") of TP-03, lotilaner, paralyzes
and eradicates mites and other parasites through the inhibition of parasite-specific gamma-aminobutyric acid-gated chloride ("GABA-CI"} channels.

We intend to further advance our pipeline with lotilaner API w address several diseases across therapeutic and/or prophylactic categories in human medicine, including eye care,
dermatology, and other diseases, We are investigating the development of product candidates to address targeted diseases with high unmet medical needs, which currently include TP-03 for the
potential treatment of MGD, TP-04 for the potential treatment of rosacea, and TP-05 for potential Lyme disease prophylaxis and community malaria reduction.

TP-03 for the Potential Treatment of Demodex Blepharitis

We designed TP-03 to target and eradicate the root cause of Demodex blepharitis — Demodex mite infestation. The APLof TP-03, lotilaner, paralyzes and eradicates mites as well as other
parasites through the inhibiton of parasite-specific GABA-C] channels.

To date, we have completed seven clinical trials for TP-03 in Demodex blepharitis that include a Phase 1 trial (the "Hyperion trial”), four Phase 2 trials, a Phase 2b/3 tnal (the "Saturn-1
trial"), and the Phase 3 trial (the "Satum-2 trial"). Each of these trials for TP-03 met primary, secondary and/or certain exploratory endpoints, with the drug well tolerated. In Movember 20232, we
announced that the New Drug Application ("NDA") submission package for TP-03 for the wreatment of Demodex blepharitis was accepted by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FIDNA"), with a
stated Prescription Drug User Fee Act ("PDUFA") decision date of August 25, 2023, We believe TP-03 has the potentlal to be the first therapeutic approved by the FDA and become the definitive
standard of care for the weatment of Demodex blepharitis,

TP-03 for the Poiential Treatment of Meibomian Gland Disease (MGD)

W are also exploring the therapeutic potential of TP-03 for a second ophthalmic condition, MGD, commuonly characterized as a clogging or destruction of the metbomian glands that
secrete a substance that helps stabilize the ocular surface and can result in tear film deficiency, and is one of the leading causes of dry eve disease. There are no FDA-approved therapeutics for MGD.
In the U.5., MGD prevalence has been found o be approximately two-thirds of the estimated 34 million dry eve patient population. One species of Demodex mite, Demodex brevis, is known to infest
the meibomian gland, and clinical signs of MGD have heen shown o be correlated with infestation of Demadex brevis andior decreasing inflammation of the eye lid due to Demaodex.

In August 2022, we announced the enrollment of our first patient in the Phase 2a clinical trial {the "Ersa trial"} studying TP-03 for the treatment of MGD in patients with Demodex
blepharitis, We expect to report topline data from the Ersa trial during the second half of 2023

TP-04 for the Potential Treatment of Rosacea

Rosacea is a chronic skin disease characterized by facial redness, inflammatory lesions, burning and stinging, which can flare up in response to certain triggers such as sun exposure or
emotional stress. According to the U5, National Rosacea Society, approximately 16 million people in the U.S. are affected by rosacea and rosacea prevalence can represent up to 5.4% of the global
population. We conducted a Phase 1 clinical study with TP-04 and initiated a Phase 2a trial (the "Galatea trial”} in March 2023, for the treatment of TP-04, a novel gel formulation of lotilaner, for the
treatment of rosacea.




TP-05 for the Potential Prevention of Lyme Disease

In December 2022, we announced positive topline results from the completed Phase 1 Callisto trial (the "Callisto trial™) and enrollment of the first patient in the Phase 2a clinical trial
(the "Carpo trial”). The Callisto and Carpo trials are designed to evaluate TP-05, a novel investigative oral, non-vaccine prophylactic for the potential prevention of Lyme disease, The Callisto trial
was a randomized, double-blind, single and multiple-ascending dose wrial that evaluated the safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics ("PK") of TP-05 in healthy subjects. Results from the trial
showed that TP-05 was well wlerated with no dose-related or drug-related serious adverse events. PK data from the trial demanstrated rapid absorption and an extended half-life of TP-05 that
potentially supports a convenient oral therapy regimen, supporting its patential as a rapid onset, prophylactic therapy for Lyme disease. Additionally, an exploratory ex-vivo tick kil study that utilized
serum fram TP-05 treated subjects demonstrated potent, rapid killing of adult and nymph ticks, The Carpo trial, evaluating TP-05 for the potential prevention of Lyme disease in humans, is a
randomized, double-blind trial that will evaluate the efficacy of TP-05 in killing lab grown, non-disease carrying ticks after they have attached o the skin of healthy volunteers, as well as confirm the
safety, wlerability, and blosd concentration of TP-05. We expect to report topline data from the Carpo trial during the second half of 2023,

Wi are investigating the development of TP-05 as an oral formulation that is designed as a prophylactic against Lyme disease to eradicate the tick before it can transmit the Borrelia
burgdorferi infection, There are approximately 80 million people in the LS. at risk of Lyme disease exposure, more than 27 million of which are at moderate to high risk and there are greater than
ADLO0D reported cases in the ULS. each year, which is believed to be an underestimation of the actual cases. Lyme disease can potentially cause severe, often debilitating symptoms with permanent
and irreversible damage. The disease can result in inflammation, nerve, joint and muscle pain or swelling, numbness, shoriness of breath and - in severe cases newrological complications such as
facial palsy, vision issues and meningitis, including severe headaches and neck stiffness. Lyme disease can often go undetected and untreated because the ticks are not always noticed before they
transmit the discase. People who are in high risk areas and/or spend extended amounts of time outdoors in wooded, grassy areas are at higher risk of contracting the infection. Data from the Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention ("'CDC") show that the risk of Lyme disease is spreading 1o new geographical areas, resulting in a significant need for prophylactic solutions, Currently, there are
no FDOA-approved phammacological prophylactic options for Lyme disease. We believe TP-05 is currently the only non-vaccine, drug-based, preventive therapeutic in development that targets the
ticks, and potentially prevenis Lyme disease transmission. It is designed to rapidly provide systemic blood levels of lotilaner, a well-characterized anti-parasitic agent that paralyzes and kills infected
ticks attached to the human hody before they can transmit the Bomelia burgdorferi infection that causes Lyme disease, The ticks are paralyzed and eradicated by lotilaner through selective targeting of
parasite-specific GABA-CI channels.




The following pipeline chart presents our wholly-owned product candidates and clinical development status:

Figure 1: Pipeline Chart
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Cur Strategy

Our goal is to transform the treatment of Demodex blepharitis with a first ever FDA approved pharmaceutical therapeutic, and to develop our pipeline of innovative therapies that target
cenain parasite-mediated diseases with large market opporunities. We intend to achieve these goals by pursuing the following key strategic objectives:

. Advance TP-03 to eventual approval for the tr of Demodex blepharitis. In February 2022, we completed enrollment of our second and final TP-03 pivotal trial,
the Saturn-2 trial. [n May 2022, we announced positive tnplme results of the Saturn-2 trial, which enrolled 412 adults having, among other things, more than ten collarettes
per lid and at least mild lid erythema. All pre-specified primary and secondary endpoints were met, TP-03 was well tolerated and complete resolution of Demaodesx
blepharitis was demonstrated in patients treated with TP-03 (lotilaner ophthalmic solution, 0_25%]. ‘We utilized the data from the Saturn-2 and Satum-1 trials to support the
submission of our NDA with the FDA for TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis. In November 2022, we announced the acceptance of our NDA by the FDA, with
a stated PDUEA decision date of August 25, 2023,

- Educate ECPs and establish our own specialty sales organization to commercialize TP-03 in the U.S, [f approved by the FDA for Demodex blepharitis, we intend 1o
commercialize TP-03 by developing our own sales organization targeting a subset of the approximately 15,000 prescribing ECPs in the ULS. Our commercialization efforts
will include educating ECPs on the simplicity and speed of diagnosing Demodex blepharitis through a standard eye examination.

. Expand the eye care applications of TP-03 for other indications, including MGD. Similar to blepharitis, MGD may also be caused by Demodex infestation, and we
intend to explore TP-03 in this indication. We plan to advance the Ersa trial for MGD, with topline resulis expected during the second half of 2023,




. Continue to advance and expand our pipeline, bringing novel products utilizing lotilaner to unmet needs across human medicine, including rosacea and, Lyme
disease prophylaxis. The mechanism of lotilaner coupled with our insights into disease where it can demonstrate clinical benefit, provides an opportunity to expand into
new indications for reatment or prevention. In December 2022, we announced positive topline data from the Callisto trial, designed w evaluate TP-05 for potential Lyme
disease prophylaxis. The wopline data showed that TP-05 is well wolerated and that safety data supports progression to the Phase Za Carpo trial, which we initiated in
December 2022, Topline data from the Carpo trial is expected in the second half of 2023, We initiated the Galatea wial for the portential treatment of rosacea in March 2023,

. Evaluate and selectively enter collaborations to maximize the potential of our pipeline and the scope of our eve care product offerings. Apart from the recent out-
license agreement (the "China Out-License Agreement”) with LianBio Ophthalmology Limited ("LianBio") of TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis and MGD
within the China Territory as noted above, we have retained our rights glohally o all of our indications for use in humans, including our lead product candidate, TP-03, for
the patential treatment of Demodex blepharitis and MGD, TP-04 for the potential treatment of rosacea and TP-05 for potential Lyme disease prophylaxis and community
malaria reduction. Given the patential to treat patients worldwide we may opportunistically enter into additional strategic collaborations around certain product candidates,
disease andior geographic regions.

Blepharitis: Market Overview

Blepharitis is a common, chronic ophthalmic lid margin disease characterized by inflammation of the eyelid margin, redness and ocular irritation. It is also a progressive disease that
often manifests with more severe symptoms if left untreated, such as blurring of vision, missing eyelashes, corneal damage and potentially, in extreme cases, blindness. We helieve that the number of
Demadex hlepharitis patients in the U.S. may be as high as approximately 25 million based on "Trattler W, et al. Clin Opthalmal, 2022;doi: 10,2147/ 0FPTH.5354692" (Titan study], indicating
approximately 58% of patients presenting to eye care clinics have callarettes and that at least 45 million people annually visit an eye care clinic as reported hy Saydah et al. JAMA Opthalmol,
2020;138(5):479-489.doi: 10.1001jamaopthalmal 20200273, In addition, there is growing awareness among, ECPs of the pathognomonic sign of Demodex infestation called collarettes or cyclindrical
dandruff; which is a specific type of debris found at the base of the eyelashes. Collarettes are composed of partially digested epithelial cells, mite waste products and eggs among other things and can
be easily diagnosed by ECPs as part of a standard eve examination. The prevalence of Demodex blepharitis increases progressively with aging, which is one main risk factor for the disease, though
other frequently presenting patients can also suffer from dry eye, contact lens intolerance, and cataracts. These patients commonly present 1o the offices of ECPs for other ophthalmic diseases besides
blepharitis, such as cataract surgery evaluation and contact lens discomfort. Accordingly, we believe that there is significant opportunity to increase the diagnosis rate of Demodex blepharitis through
ECP and patient education that encourages examination of the disease in standard practice.

Despite the high prevalence of patients with Demodex blepharitis and growing awareness of the disease amongst ECPs, there are no FDA-approved therapeutics for the treatment of
blepharitis let alone Demodex blepharitis. Although we believe blepharitis and Demodex blepharitis are significantly under-diagnosed diseases, with limited treatment alternatives, there are already
approximately 1.5 million annual Demodex blepharitis diagnoses in the 1.5, based on findings from a U.S. prevalence study (the "Titan study”) and data that show blepharitis classified per the
International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification ("1CD-10-CM"), Demodex blepharitis is currently treated with a variety of over-the-counter remedies such as tea tree
oil, lid wipes and artificial tears, as well as off-label prescription products, which often show sub-optimal efficacy, are poorly tolerated and may lead to significant irritation and dissatisfaction for
patients. Furthermare, these treatments do not typically eradicate the Demodex mites, which are the root cause of Demadex blepharitis.

We have conducted epidemiology and market research on the prevalence of blepharitis and potential adoption of TP-03. Our research indicates approximately 58% of patients presenting
10 ECP offices have collarettes and, based on Gao et al. (2005): High Prevalence of Demodex in Evelashes with Cylindrical Dandruff. Invst Ophth and Vis Sci, September 2005, Vol. 46, No. 3089
3094 (the “Gao Swdy™), all patients with collarettes were also found o have Demaodex mites, In addition, our market research suggests the potential for a high level of adoption of TP-03, if approved,
In our surveys, we interviewed approximately 250 ECPs, over 90% of whom indicated they would preseribe an FDA approved prescription therapy as a first-line treatment for Demodex blepharitis.
Further, patients continue to have underlying risk of Demodex infestation, as there could be a recurrence or reinfestation based on the presence of Demodex mites in the facial pores even after
eradication of Demodex mites from the eyelid. Our Phase 2 data from the Mars clinical rial (evaluated the safety and efficacy of TP-03 with a 28-day twice per day (“BID"), dosing regimen, with
exploratory endpoints including collarette grade and mite density) and Phase 2b Jupiter clinical trial (a randomized, controlled double-blind trial with mite density and collarette grade as primary and
secondary endpoints, respectively) followed patients to one yvear after four week treatment and showed meaningful recurrence of Demodex blepharitis within six to nine months, which increased
considerably one year after weatment. Additionally, the results from the observational extension study of the Phase 2bv3 Saturn-1 wial (the "Saturn-1 Extension study™), showed meaningful collarete
reduction in 63% of the patients at one year following a six week treatment. We believe there is a




significant opportunity (o increase the diagnosis rate of Demodex blepharitis and build a significant new market with the potential approval of a therapy that addresses the underlying cause of the
disease.

Blepharitis Overview
Blepharitis

Blepharitis is a common chronic ophthalmic lid margin disease, which may lead to or exacerbate ocular surface disease. Blepharitis is characterized by inflammation of the evelid
margin, redness and ocular irfitation, and is primarily diagnosed and treated by ECPs, including ophthalmologisis and optometrists. Typical signs and sympioms of blepharitis include debris on the
eyelashes, redness of the eye and evelid, missing or misdirected evelashes, blurring of vision, irritation, lid irchiness and ocular discomfort, Blepharitis is challenging to manage, recurs frequently, and
its progression can lead to scaming of the evelid, loss of proper eyelid and tear-film function, eyelid and lash abnormalities, inflammation of the conjuncriva and surrounding skin, suboptimal surgical
outcomes, corneal damage, and potentially in extreme cases, hlindness, Further, according to studies we have conducted, approximately 56% of cataract patients have Demodex infestation, which
may increase the risk for infection after cataract and refractive surgery. Therefore, treating Demaodex blepharitis may potentially improve patient satisfaction with cataract and refractive surgery.
Additionally, the primary reason people stop wearing contact lenses is due to discomfort; blepharitis has been shown o cause contact lens intolerance. Therefore, treating Demodex blepharitis may
reduce contact lens intolerance. We believe these benefits may lead 1o better vision and improved activities of daily living for patients.

Multiple factors can cause blepharitis, including infestation by Demodex mites, bacterial infection, clogging of the meibomian glands and seborrheic dermaritis.

The following images illusirate representative evelids with Demodex blepharitis demonsirating the characieristic sign of collarettes:

Figure 2: E

Demodex Blepharitis

Demodex infestation is a major cause of hlepharitis, and we estimate that the number of Demodex blepharitis patients in the U5, may be as high as approximately 25 million. Although
wee helieve hlepharitis and Demodex blepharitis are significantly under-diagnosed diseases, with limited treatment options, there are already an estimated 1.5 million annual Demodex blepharitis
diagnoses in the U.S. based on the Tian study and coding for blepharitis classified per the ICD-10-CM. Demodex mites are the most common ectoparasite found on humans and are maore likely o
cause infestation and disease with aging. Demodex blepharitis typically presents bilaterally in patients with the disease. There are two species of Demodex, folliculorum and brevis, that live on the
skin of the face and evelids. Demodex folliculorum, which is commonly found in the follicle, is the more commen sub-species of mite that cavses Demodex blepharitis,

The pathognomanic sign of Demodex blepharitis is a specific type of evelid debris known as the collarette, which is also sometimes referred to as cylindrical dandruff or waxy scurf
Collarettes are composed of partially digested epithelial cells, mite waste products and eggs among other things and can be easily diagnosed by ECPs with a standard eye examination known as the
slit lamp examination. Other bothersome signs and symptoms of Demodex blepharitis that can lead to funther disease progression include missing or misdirected evelashes, crusting, redness of the lid
margin, inflammation of the lid margin, inflammation of the conjunctiva andor inflammation of the cornea, also known as blepharoconjunctivitis and blepharokeratitis. Demodex blepharitis is a
progressive disease that often manifests with more severe signs and symptoms if left unireated, such as blurring of vision, missing evelashes, comeal damage and potentially, in extreme cases,
blindness, Furthermore, Demodex hlepharitis can negatively impact daily activities and create an emational burden for individuals with the disease.

The following figures Hlustrate how Demodex folliculorum mites enter and reside in the evelash follicles:




Figure 3: Demodex folliculorum Mites Entering and Residing in Eyelash Follicles
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Demadex infestation can lead to Demaodex blepharitis in three main ways:
1) Mechanical: Overcrowded mites scrape the epithelial cell lining of the eyelash follicles with their claws and lay eggs, causing follicular distention, misdirected lashes,
eyelash loss and irritation, Dead mites and collarettes also obstruct the hair follicle opening, leading to inflammation.

2) Chemical: Mites excrete digestive enzymes as they feed and exude digestive waste when they die, resulting in inflammation, redness, irritation and epithelial hyperplasia.
3 Bacterial: Bacteria living on the mite surface or in its gut may cause inflammation of the surrounding ocular tissues, As mites scratch and feed on the skin, the partially

digested epithelial cells, keratin, mite waste and eggs combine to form collarettes, These collarettes are typically found at the base of the lash but can migrate away as the hair
shaft grows.

The following figure illusirates collaretes at the base of an eyelash:

Figure 4: Collarettes Are the Pathognomonic Sign of Demodex Blepharitis




The Gao study confirmed the pathognomonic relationship of the collarette to Demodex infestation, The study included 55 patients seen at the Ocular Surface Center in Miami, Florida to
determine the prevalence of Demodex in eyelashes with collaretes. All patients underwent a routine, complete eve examination and external photography. Patients were divided into three main
groups; those with collarettes; those without collarettes and those who had been using daily lid scrubs for a full year; and as well as those without collarettes who were not using daily lid scrubs, OF
the thinty-twao patients in the study, 100% of patients with at least one collarette had Demodex present, Those patients without collarettes were divided into two groups; patients who were using lid
scrubs for a full year and those who were not. Only 7% (n=15) of patients witheut collarettes and who were not performing the daily lid scrubs had Demodex, whille 50% (n=8) of those subjects
without collarettes, but who were using daily lid scrubs with shampoo for a full year, had Demodex infestation, implying that hygiene alone did not eradicate the mites. All 55 patients were seen at
one lecation and may not be representative of the ULS. population. However, subsequent studies including the two TP-03 pivotal Satum studies that had =800 patients, consistently demonsirate a
correlation between the presence of collarettes and Demodex mites.

Demaodex blepharitis can be diagnosed by ECPs with a slit lamp examination, by confirming the presence of collarettes, The slit lamp examination is routinely performed by ECPs as
part of standard practice during a customary eye iom, so diagnosing D dex blepharitis via presence of collarettes would not involve any additional equipment, training or workflow
alterations on the part of the ECP.

Current Treatment Options and Their Limitations

Demodex blepharitis is currently treated with a variety of over-the-counter remedies such as tea tree oil, lid wipes and anificial tears, as well as off-label prescription products for dry
eye.

These approaches have significant limitations, including:

. limited efficacy of over-the-counter and off-label treatments as well as device-based treatments administered in clinic by ECPs;
. insufficient definitive knowledge of diagnostic criteria o guide reatment decisions;
. prohibitive side effects (significant burning and stinging) from treatments that target Demodex mites (e.g. tea tree oil);
¥ current weatments do not typically eradicate the Demodex mites, leading to a chronic and progressive disease; and
* some treatments may be harmful (e.g. 1o melbomian gland epithelial cells).
According to the Titan real-world prevalence siudy, 75% of patients using tea tee oils and 57% of those using lid wipes were found 1o have a high prevalence of collareties, indicating

that current management tools for this disease are largely ineffective. The Titan study was an [RB-approved, retrospective chart review of 1,032 patients across six U.S.-based ophthalmology and
aptometry practices conducted by seven investigators, The study was designed to better understand the prevalence of Demaodex blepharitis via collarettes in U.S. eye care clinics,

Our Approach: Treating Demodex Mites, a Root Cause of Discase




To address these limitations and high unmet need for effectively rreating Demodex blepharitis, we are developing TP-03, formulated as an eve drop, which we believe, if approved, has
the potential o become the standard of care for Demodex blepharitis. TP-03 is a novel therapeutic based on the drug, lotilaner, which is designed w paralvze and eradicate mites and other parasites
through the inhibition of parasite-specific GABA-CI channels. To date, TP-03 has successfully met the primary and secondary endpoints, as applicable, in the completed Phase 2b/3 Satim-1 and
Phase 3 Satrn-2 randomized, placebo controlled pivotal trials, as well as sach of the four completed Phase 2 trials. TP-03 was generally well tolerated throughout these trials. As a result, we believe
that TP-03 has the potential to be the first ever approved therapeutic for Demodex blepharitis.

TP-03 Eye Drops -~ Mechanism of Action

The active ingredient in TP-03 eye drops is lotilaner, a member of & new class of anti-parasitic molecules called isoxazolines. It is a potent non-competitive antagonist of
insect and arachnid GABA-CI channels, Lotilaner is designed to eradicate Demodex mites by selectively inhibiting GABA-CI channels, causing mite paralysis and eventual
deanh. It has demonstrated no binding 1o human GABA-CI and other ion channels (e.g. hERG) and thus likely has no known impact on the human nervous system. Lotilaner is a
lipophilic molecule, which may promote its uptake in the oily sebum of the hair follicle, where the mites reside. In clinical wials, TP-03 is wopically applied to the eye twice daily
to ensure delivery of the drug to the eyelid margin. Following mite eradication, collaretes eventally clear from the eyelid since thev are composed of mite-related waste.

The following figures illustrate the intended paralysis of mites in the hair follicle by TP-03 administration:

Figure 5: Progression of TP-03 Application, Mite Paralysis and Eradication
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Clinical Development Program

To date we have completed one Phase 1 wrial, four Phase 2 mrials, one Phase 2b/3 rial, and one Phase 3 trial for TP-03 in Demodex blepharitis, all of which mer primary, secondary and/or
certain exploratory endpoints, while demonsirating the drug was well tolerated. The TP-03 pivotal trial resulis (Phase 2b/3 and 3) supported the TP-03 NDA package submitted to the FDA for the
teatment of Demodex blepharitis, and in November 2022, we announced the acceptance of our NDA submission package by the FDA with a PDUFA decision date of August 25, 2023,

The Saturn-2 Trial

In May 2021, we initiated the Saturn-2 trial. It was a randomized, controlled, multicenter, double-masked trial studying the safety and efficacy of TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex
blepharitis, The Satum-2 trial was similar in design and size 10 Saturn-1, which met the primary and all secondary endpoints. The Satm-2 trial's primary endpoint was the proportion




of patients achieving collarette cure, defined as zero to two collarettes per lid. Secondary endpoints included the eradication of Demodex mites and the proportion of patients achieving a cure based on
a composite of collarette cure and ervthema cure {eyelid redness). A statistically significant outcome for primary efficacy endpoints is typically one of the requirements for FDA approval of a product.
A statistically significant outcome indicates that the probahility of the outcome occurring at random is less than the pre-established allowed error level, frequently set at 0.05 (or 1 in 20).

In May 2022, we announced positive topline results of the Saturn-2 trial, our second TP-03 pivotal rial. The Satm-2 wial enrolled 412 adults having, among other things, more than ten
collarettes per lid and at least mild fid erythemna. All pre-specified primary and secondary endpoints were met, TP-03 was well tolerated and complete resolution of Demodex blepharitis was
demonstrated in patients mreated with TP-03 (lotilaner ophthalmic solution, 0.25%).

Primary End !
*  56% of patients on TP-03 achieved complete collarette cure, defined as zero to two collarettes per lid at day 43, compared to 13% on vehicle (p<0.0001).

E in
*  52% of patients on TP-03 achieved mite eradication defined as zero mites per lash ar day 43, compared to 15% on vehicle (p=0.0001).
*  31% of patients on TP-03 compared to 9% of patients on vehicle (p=0,0001) achieved complete lid erythema cure at day 43,

*  19% of patients on TP-03 achieved a complete composite cure, based on achieving both complete collarette cure and complete lid erythema cure, compared to 4% on vehicle (p<0.0001) at
day 43,

Safety Profile:
*  Consistent with the results from Saturn-1, Saturn-2 demonstrated that TP-03 was well tolerated with a safety profile similar to the vehicle group.
= 91% of TP-03 patients reported that the drop comfort was neutral 1o very comionable.
& There were no serious treatment-related adverse events nor any treatment-related adverse events leading o treatment discontinuation,

Additional Analysis:
*  89% of patients on TP-03 achieved a clinically meaningful collarette reduction, defined as zero o ten collarettes per lid at day 43 compared to 33% of those on vehicle (p<0.0001),

The Saturn-1 Trial

The Satm-1 trial was a randomized, controlled, multi center, double-masked Phase 2b/3 wial that evalvaved the safety and efficacy of TP-03 in adults with Demodex blepharitis. In
September 2020, we commenced the Saturn-1 trial and completed enrollment of 421 patients aged 18 and over having more than ten collavettes on the upper lid and at least mild ervthema of the upper
eyelid margin. Each patient had at least 1.5 mites per lash on the upper and lower evelids combined. One drop of TP-03 was self-administered twice per day in each eve for six weeks, Enrolled
patients received no treatment for blepharitis svmptoms (i.e, lid hygiene) during the trial or 14 days prior to enrollment. The primary endpoint was complete collarette cure (grade zero defined as -
zero to two collarettes per lid) and the secondary endpoints included complete mite eradication {mite density of zera mites per lash) and composite cure (the presence of zero to two collarettes on the
upper eyelid and the absence of erythema (redness)).

In June 2021, we announced positive results of the Satm-1 trial. The pre-specified primary and secondary endpoints were met, and complete resolution of Demaodex blepharitis signs
(e.g. grade zero collarettes) was demonstrated in patients treated with TP-03 (lotilaner ophthalmic solution, 0.25%),

44% of patients on TP-03 achieved the primary endpoint of complete collarette reduction at day 43 compared to 7% on vehicle (p=0.0001). 81% of patients achieved a significant,
clinically meaningful collarette count reduction defined as zero to ten collarettes per lid at day 43 compared to 23% of those on vehicle (p<0.0001). Additionally, a significant, clinically meaningful
collarette reduction was seen in 23% of patients on TP-03 compared to 11% on vehicle as early as day B (p=0.0003).




The secondary endpaint of complete mite eradication achieved statistically significant results by day 15, and 68% of patients on TP-03 achieved mite eradication compared to 18% on
vehicle (p=0.0001) at day 43.

For composite cure, 13.4% of patients on TP-03 achieved a complete cure based on a composite endpoint of collarette cure and erythema cure compared to 1.0% on vehicle (p<0.0001} at
day 43. Results for complete erythema cure {19% of patients on TP-03 compared to 7% of patients on vehicle, p=0.0001) and one grade or more erythema improvement (45% of patients on TP-03
compared to 28% of patients on vehicle, p=0.0002) were also statistically significant. Additionally, 92% of TP-03 patients reporied that the drop comfort was neutral to very comfortable. There wene
no serious treatment-related adverse events nor any treatment-related adverse events leading to treatment discontinuation,

In July 2021, we presented additional data from the Samrn-1 Trial at the American Society of Cataract and Refractive Surgery 2021 Annual Meeting demonstrating high treatment
respanse rates, and reinforcing the potential of TP-03 to be the standard of care for Demodex blepharitis patients.

*  95% of TP-03 patients showed a significant improvement in mite count, achieving =0.5 mites per lash
*  93% of TP-03 patients impraved by at least one collarette grade

We also announced results from an additional Satum-1 safety analysis, which reinforced TP-03s positive profile, revealing that TP-03 had no clinically significant adverse effect on
multiple safety measures including Corrected Distance Visual Acuity ("CDVA"), corneal staining, and intraocular pressure ("10P"), and no significant findings from slit lamp biomicroscopy or fundus
exam in the study. In addition, no impact 1o endothelial cell density ("ECD") was demonstrated in a subset of 21 patients. ECD was further evaluated as part of the Saturn-2 trial plan and also
demonstrated no impact. We believe that the results from our Satum-1 trial, along with previously announced data, reinforce TP-03's potential, if approved.

Phase 2 Clinical Trials

We have completed four Phase 2 clinical trials to date, along with one additional ex vivo study, which included our Mars, Jupiter, lo, and Europa clinical trials. Key efficacy endpoints
for our Mars and Jupiter clinical trials included collarette grade and mite density and key efficacy endpoints for our lo and Europa clinical trials included collarette cure rate based on collarette grade,
which we refer o herein as collarette cure rate, and mite eradication rate. TP-03 met its primary, secondary and/or certain exploratory endpoints, as applicable, in such trials, and showed statistically
significant cure and eradication rates in fo and Europa. TP-03 was generally well wlerated throughout these trials.

C cial gy for D lex Blepharitis Launch

If approved, we plan to commercialize TP-03 in the U5, with a specialty sales force, social and digital media, and ECP education campaigns to targeted prescribing ophthalmologists
and optometrists. In our work with key opinion leaders and various associations to increase Demodex blepharitis awareness and education, we have highlighted prevalence, impact, and simplicity of
diagnosis of Demodex blepharitis. Our goal is to educate ECPs about the prevalence of Demodex blepharitis, simplicity and efficient diagnosis and the positive profile of our products, [n addition o
edurating ECPs, we believe that patient awareness and identification is important and plan to increase awareness through education and marketing efforts directed toward patients,

Consistent with our goal to educate ECPs, we have recently hired a field medical team that is actively communicating with our key ECPs across the country. We have also launched a
physician facing disease education campaign geared at increased disease awareness and encouraging ECPs to more proactively diagnose Demodex blepharitis by incorporating evelid screening as part
of their routine exams.

Development of TP-03 for Meibomian Gland Disease (MGD)

Beyond Demuodex blepharitis, we intend to explare the clinical potential for TP-03 in MGD, a chronic abnormality of the meibomian glands, which are glands on the inner part of the
eyelid that secrete lipids and other molecules that are critical to maintaining a healthy tear film on the surface of the eye. MG is commaonly characterized in part by a widespread clogging or
destruction of the meihomian glands that can result in tear film deficiency and is one of the leading causes of dry eye disease. In the U.S., MGD prevalence has been found to be approxamately two-
thirds of the estimated 34 million dry eve patient population. One species of Demodex mite, Demodex brevis, is known o infest the meibomian gland, and clinical signs of MGD have been shown 1o
be correlated with Demodex brevis infestation. While dry eye is a multi-factorial disease, TP-03 is designed to relieve some of the key elements that may be contributing to MGD by virtue of causing
the death of the Demodex brevis mites as well as decreasing the inflammation of the eyelid caused by Demodex blepharitis. In August




2022, we announced the enrollment of owr first patient in the Phase 2 Ersa wial studying TP-03 for the reatment of MGD. We expect 1o report topline resulis during the second half of 2023,

There are no FDA-approved therapeutics for MGD, which is currently treated with a variety of over-the-counter remedies such as tea tree oil, lid wipes and antificial tears, as well as off-
label prescription products for dry eve. MGD is also wreated with in-office device procedures for gland expression (de-clogging) by an ECP. Despite these existing eatments, there is still a significant
need for an effective prescription therapeutic in MGD.

The following figures illustrate a representation of Demodex mites infesting the meibomian gland:
\
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Figure 6: Demodex Mites Infesting the Meibomian Gland
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Our Additional Product Candidates
TP-04 Topical Formulation for the Treatment of Rosacea
Rosacea

Rosacea is a chronic skin disease characterized by facial redness, inflammatory lesions, burning and stinging, which can flare up in response o certain triggers such as sun exposure or
emational stress. Acconding to the 1.5, National Rosacea Society, approximately 16 million people in the 1.5, are affected by rosacea and a study estimates rosacea prevalence can represent up to
5.4% of the global population. There are two phenotypes for rosacea: patients who present with papulopustular rosacea ("PPR"), and patients who do not (non-PPR), with approximately 55% of
patients presenting, with the PPR phenotype and 45% presenting with the non-PPR phenotype. According to primary research we conducted with dermatologists, of patients who are being treated with
topicals for rosacea, an estimated 18% of overall rosacea patients are seeking reatments, with PPR patients generally more likely to seek rreatment given the noticeable symptoms,

The cause of rosacea remains multifactorial but there is increasing evidence that Demaodex mites play a role in the disease, Studies have found a correlation between Demodex
infestation and rosacea, with a higher density of Demodex mites found in the skin of rosacea patients than in controls. A proposed theory suggests that the Bacillus oleronius hacteria has a pathogenic
role, contributing to skin inflammation and the signs and symproms of rosacea; these bacteria are also known 1o be sensitive to the antibiotics gypically prescribed 1o weat rosacea. Meanwhile,
Demodex mites have been shown o carry Bocillus oleronius in thelr digestive racts, suggesting that Demodex may contribute to rosacea by being a transporter for the bacteria that causes the disease.
Furthering that paint, there is evidence to suggest that Bacillus oleronius forms a symbiotic relationship with Demaodex, and that both species must be present in order to cause the signs and symptoms
of rosacea. Other bacteria such as Staphylococcus epidermidis, also potentially carried by Demodex mites, may play a role in the disease as well.

Current Treatment Options and Their Limitations




Rosacea is currently treated through topical anti-parasitic creams like ivermectin and other topicals including azelaic acid, and antibiotics like metronidazole, as well as other therapies
such as alpha agonists. An estimated 50% of rosacea patients are on at least one prescription topical treatment, A current standard of care, is an anti-parasitic drug composed of 1% ivermectin cream,
but is only modestly effective, takes 8 to 12 weeks to show efficacy and is around approximately $700 wholesale acquisition cost for a 30-day supply.

Other available products include Galderma's Epsolay, a topical cream containing 5% encapsulated benzoyl peroxide and Journey Medical Corporation's Zilxi, a topical foam containing
1.5% minocycline is being commercialized for the treatment of Subtype 11 rosacea, characterized by small, dome-shaped erythematous papules that resemble acne but are associated with burning and
stinging sensations.

While current treatments can address the symptoms of the disease by reducing redness and decreasing papules and pustules, for the majority of patients, complete clearance of these
feamres is not currently achievable and there still exists an unmet medical need.

Our Approach: TP-04 Topical Formulation for Rosacea

To address this unmet need in the mosacea market, lotilaner is being developed as a topical dermatology product, TP-0M, initially for the treatment of a more severe form of rosacea, PPR.
It is designed to be active after topical administration in skin with no systemic activity. Lotilaner's mechanism of targeting and killing Demodex mites has been established through our preclinical
study and clinical trials evaluating TP-03 in Demodex blepharitis, which is why we believe it may be effective in another Demodex driven disease. We believe we can improve upon existing
treatments in the marker, like ivermectin cream (Soolantra), with an API that is potentially more effective (longer hali-life, more lipophilic, greater therapeutic window). We believe a longer half-life
leads to a more durable and long-lasting treatment and that more lipophilicity is expected to provide better bioavailability in the sebum in the follicle and sebaceous plands where mites reside, thus
increasing the opportunity to target and eradicate mites and a greater therapeutic window. We further believe there is potential for TP-04 to be evaluated in combination with topical anti-inflammatory
agents OF VaSoConsrictors.

Wi have completed the initial preclinical studies for TP-04 and have selected a topical formulation for early clinkcal studies. We intend to leverage systemic preclinical data from our
TP-03 program {such as embryofetal development studies, genotoxicity studies and safery pharmacology studies, and augment with the dermal toxicology studies. We plan w evaluate whether TP-04
is safe and effective at treating the symptoms of PPR in the Galatea study, a Phase 2a trial being conducted in Canada, and in March 2023 announced the initiation of this trial. Prior to commencing
clinical trials in the U5, for TP-04, we will need 1o obtain an investigational new drug application ("IND") from the FDA.

TP-05 Oral Formulation for the Potential Prophylactic Protection against Lyme Disease
Lyme Disease

Lyme disease is the most common vector-borne disease in the U.S., caused by infection of Borrelia bacteria following bite by a tick vector, predominantly ticks of the Ixodes genus
(namely Ixodes scapularis in the U.,5.), There are approximately B0 million people in the U.S, at risk of Lyme disease exposure, over 27 million of which are at moderate to high risk and there are
greater than 400,000 reported cases in the U.5. each year, which is believed to be an underestimation of the actual cases. ‘We estimate a greater than $1.3 billion impact to the 115, healthcare system as
a result of Lyme disease. Lyme disease occurs most commonly in geographical areas where the Ixodes scapularis tick is prevalent, namely in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic regions of the LLS,, but
also in other regions of the U.S. Lyme disease also occurs in certain parts of Europe, typically resulting from a different [xodes species vector,

The mechanism of Lyme disease infection is well understood, Borrelia bacteria colonizes the salivary glands of the ticks, and the infected saliva is transmitted to the human host when a
tick attaches to a person for feeding, The mansfer usually occurs at the conclusion of the feeding and therefore, the probability of Borrelia ransmission, and thus the risk of Lyme disease, increases
with the duration of the tick's anachment. Borrelia is rarely wansferred during the first or even second day of feeding but transfers quite efficiently during and after the third day of feeding (>48
hours). This window from the time of bite o the time of ransmission offers an opportunity for intervention o prevent Lyme disease if the tick can be killed prior w the wansfer of the Borrelia
bacteria.

Lyme disease can be a serious condition that may affect multiple organ systems and produce a broad range of symptoms. Early symptoms include a localized rash, fever and fatigue.
More severe, sometimes chronic, symptoms may evolve as the infection spreads, including fever, muscle and joint pain, peripheral and central neurological deficits and lymphocytic meningitis. Lyme
disease can be successfully treated with oral antibiotics when diagnosed sufficiently early, but chronic symptoms can commonly persist beyond antibiotic treatment. Because many people are either
undiagnosed or misdiagnosed, the treatment of Lyme disease with antibiotics may be commonly delayed or absent.




Current Lyme Prophylaxis Options and Their Limitations

Lyme disease is cumrently prevented through behavior modification — avoiding areas where ticks are prevalent, wearing clothing which minimizes tick exposure, using insect repellants,
and physically remaving ticks that have attached. With the exception of removing attached ticks, none of these approaches prevents the transmission of Baorrelia post-bite.

Moreover, there are currently no FDA-approved small molecules or biologics for the prevention of Lyme disease, A vaccine for Lyme disease, LY MERIx, was developed and launched
by SmithKline Beecham in 1999, Approximately 1.5 million doses of the vaccine were sold in 1999, but the praduct was quickly pulled from the market following negative press and a class-action
litigation claiming a dangerous side effect profile. We are aware of a second vaccine currently under development by Walneva in partnership with Pfizer for Lyme disease, VLA-15, an mRNA-hased
vaccine being developed by Yale University, and a pre-exposure prophylaxis injectable therapy being developed by MassBiologics invalving a human anti-Lyme monoclonal antibody,

Our Approach: TP-05 Oral Formulation for the Prophylaciic Protection against Lyme Disease

Since Borrelia is usually transferred during the second or third day following a tick bite, our approach is w eradicate the tick before it can transmit the bacteria. To do this, we ane
developing TP-05 as an oral formulation of lotilaner. We are targeting potentially at least 30 days of prophylactic protection against Lyme disease with a simple oral regimen of TP-05. Given that
lotilaner was developed specifically, in part, to eradicate ticks with systemic administration to domesticated animals such as dogs or cats, the pharmacology of Iotilaner for Lyme prophylaxis is well
understeod. Similar to its mechanism against Demaodex mites, lotilaner is a potent non-competitive antagonist of tick GABA-CI channels. Antagonism of these channels in ticks induces paralysis and
eventual death. The high selectivity for insect and arachnid GABA-CI channels over human channels where there has been no demonstrated binding, is a highly advantagecus part of the profile of the
molecule. Extensive preclinical systemic toxicology and safety pharmacology studies have been performed by third parties to date and support advancing TP-05 into clinical development. Lotilaner
has a long, approximate 30-day systemic half-life in dogs, which we believe could provide for a convenient oral administration,

In December 2022, we announced positive topline results from the Phase 1 Callisto trial for TP-05, a novel, oral. non-vaccine therapeutic for the prevention of Lyme disease. The
Callisto trial was a randomized, double-blind, single and multiple-ascending dose trial that evaluated the safety, tolerability, and PK of TP-05 in healthy subjects. Results from the trial showed that
TP-05 was well wlerated with no dose-related or drug-related serious adverse events. Pharmacokinetic data from the trial demonstrated rapid absorption and an extended half-life of TP-05 that
potentially supports a convenient oral regiment supporting its patential as a rapid onset, prophylactic therapy for Lyme disease. Additionally, exploratory ex-vivo tick kill modeling that utilized serum
from TP-05 treated subjects demonstrated potent, rapid killing of adult and nymph ticks. In Decernber 2022, we also announced the initiation of the Carpo trial, evaluating TP-05 for the potential
prevention of Lyme disease in humans, The Carpo wial is a randomized, double-blind wial that will evaluate the efficacy of TP-05 in killing lab grown, non-disease carrying ticks after they have
attached to the skin of healthy volunteers, as well as confirm the safery, tolerability, and blood concentration of TP-05.

There are currently no FDA-approved pharmacological prophylactic options for Lyme disease, We believe TP-05 is currently the only non-vaccine, drug-based, preventive therapeatic in
development designed to kill ticks w potentially prevent Lyme disease transmission. It is designed to rapidly provide sysiemic blood levels of lotilaner, a well-characterized anti-parasitic agent
potentially sufficient to paralyze and kill infected ticks attached to the human body before they can transmit the Borrelia burgdorferi infection that causes Lyme disease.

Chemistry, Manufacturing and Controls ("CMC™)
We do not currently own or operate and currently have no plans o establish facilities for manufacturing, storing, distributing or testing our product candidates. We rely and expect to
continue to rely for the foreseeable future on contract manufacturing organizations ("CMOs") to manufacture and supply our preclinical and clinical materials to be used during the development of

our product candidates, We have assembled a team of employees and consultants 1o oversee our technical quality and CMOs.

The product candidate TP-03 includes the lotilaner, AP, formulated into a topical eye drop formulation. Only one dose strength of TP-03 is currently being developed, 0.25% |otilaner
solution.

We believe that the existing capacity of our current API supplier will be sufficient wo suppon commercial scale-up, validation and commercial launch activities if TP-03 is approved. Our
current supplier currently manufactures current good manufacturing practice {"cGMP"') lotilaner at multiple geographically distinct facilities.




Although we have relied on a single supplier for both non-clinical and clinical supply for lotilaner under cGMP protocols and a single CMO to manufacture TP-03 and w perform
amalytical testing services, it ks our imtent w identify and qualify additional manufacturers 1w provide lotilaner and drug product manufacturing and analytical westing services. The drug product
manufacturing is a compounding and asepric filling operation that we believe could be transferved to additional CMOs as necessary. We have identified suppliers for TP-04 wpical formulation for
rosaced and TP-05 oral formulation tor Phase 12 wials for Lyme disease.

Ouwr third-party service providers, our third-party supply chain providers, their facilities and the TP-03 used in our clinical trials or for commercial sale are required to be in compliance
with the requirements of cGMP. The cGMP regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures, including requirements relating to organization of personnel, buildings and facilities,
equipment, control of components and packaging containers and closures, production and process controls, packaging and labeling controls, holding and distribution, laboratory controls, records and
reports, and returned or salvaged products. Product candidates used in late-stage clinical trials must be manufactured in accordance with cGMP requirements and manufacturing specifications and
processes must satisfy FDA or other authorities’ requirements before any product is approved and before we can manufacture commercial products, Our third-party manufacturers are also subject to
perindic inspections of facilities by the FDA and other authorities, including procedures and operations used in the testing and manufacture of TP-03 o assess compliance with applicable regulations.
Chur failure, or the failure of our thind-panty providers and supply chain providers, 1o comply with such statutory and regulatory requirements could subject us to possible legal or regulatory action,
including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, suspension of production, waming letters, the seizure or recall of
products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions. Any of these actions could have a material impact on clinical supplies of TP-03 or our other product candidates. Contract manufacturers at
times enceunter difficulties involving production yields, quality control and quality assurance, as well as shorages of qualified personnel.

Competition

The hintechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapid technological advancement, significant competition and an emphasis on intellectual property, We face
potential competition from many different sources, including major and specialty pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic research institutions, governmental agencies and public and
private research institutions. Any product candidates that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with existing approaches and new therapies that may become available in the
future, We believe that the kev competitive factors affecting the success of any of our product candidates will include efficacy, combinability, safety profile, convenience, cost, level of promational
activity devoted to them and intellectual property protection.

While there are no currently available on-label prescription pharmaceutical treatments available for the reatment of blepharitis or Demodex blepharitis specifically, a number of other
wreatments are currently available for the weatment of blepharitis in the U.5. Current wreatments for blepharitis in the U.S. include over the counter and off-label remedies such as tea tree oil, lid wipes
and artificial tears. We are aware of other companies developing prescription therapies for blepharitis, including Azura Ophihalmics, Aperta Biosciences, LLC, Formosa Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Glaukos Corp., Hoviene Scientia, Wicox 5A, Premark Pharma, Quorum Innovations and Viatris, To our knowledge, Azura Ophthalmics, Aperia Biosciences, LLC and Glaukos Corp, are the only
companies currently focused on Demodex blepharitis and Nicox SA and Premark Fharma are the only companies with blepharitis programs that have completed Phase 2 trials.

Many of the companies against which we may compete have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacwuring, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly
through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and
establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary o, or necessary for, our programs,

Sales and Marketing

1f TP-03 receives marketing approval, we plan to commercialize TP-03 in the U.5. by developing our own sales organization targeting a subset of the approximately 15,000 prescribing
ECPs in the U.S. Throughout our commercialization efforts, we have commenced and intend to further educate ECPs on Demodex blepharitis and how to properly diagnose it by having patients look
down during a standard slit lamp examination. Given the importance of increasing awareness and educating patients with blepharitis, we have deployed focused social and digital marketing
campaigns for TP-03. During 2022, we began the expansion of our commercial organization to support our business growth and the commercial leadership needed for TP-03 commercial launch
readiness in the second half of 2023, We expect this commercial expansion to continue with a meaningful ramp during 2023 as part of our TP-03 commercial launch-readiness activities,




Ourside the U5, we intend 1o further develop commercialization strategies for TP-03, which may include collaborations with other companies. In March 2021, we executed an out-
license agreement with LianBio, granting exclusive commercial rights of TP-03 for the treaument of Demodex blepharitis and MGD within the China Territory, The terms of this agreement are further
described below within License Agreements: LignBio Agreement.

Intellectual Property

Wi protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary technology with a combination of patent rights that we own or license in certain fields of use, rademark rights, confidentiality
procedures and contractual provisions, We seek not only to protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary technology in select key global markets, but also w supplement our intellectual
property portfolio with new filings and applications to enhance such protection and support commercialization of current and future product candidates. To that end, we continue to seek protection for
our technological innovations and branding efforts by [iling new patent and trademark applications when and where appropriate. In the normal course of business, we ntend 1o pursue, when possible,
composition, method of use, dosing and formulation patent protection, as well as manufacturing and drug development processes and technology.

Qur patent portfolio includes a combination of issued patents and pending patent applications licensed from third parties, a5 well as those assigned solely to us based on our engoing
development activities. The patents and applications in our portfolio can be categorized as related w TP-03, TP-04, TP-05 or future pipeline product candidates and alternative technologies. Some of
our issued patents and patent applications are exclusively licensed to us in therapeutic fields of use from Elanco. The patents and patent applications owned by or licensed 1o us worldwide include
approximately 40 issued patents and approximately 57 pending patent applications.

We in-license certain of such patents amd patent applications from Elanco. These patents and patent applications relate o lotilaner and ave issued or pending in, for example, the U.S.,
Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, several European territories, India, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, the Russian Federation, South Africa and Taiwan. The licensed-in portfalia
includes approximately 38 issued patents and approximately 4 pending patent applications; the issued patents and at least some of the pending patent applications include composition of matter
claims. The estimated natwral expiration date of the issued in-licensed patents is approximately 2029 with a potential extension until 2032,

Approximately 36 of our owned patents and pending patent applications include rreatment and composition of matter claims which relate to our TP-03 product candidate with respect o
our lead indication (e.g., isoxazoline parasiticides for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis), as well as other conditions. These pending patent applications Include applications in the LS., Auvstralia,
Brazil, Canada, China, Europe, Hong Kong, 1srael, India, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, the Russian Federation, and South Africa. We have two granted patents with treatment claims,
U.S. Par. No. 10,835,517 issued on November 17, 2020, and U.S. Pat. No. 11,197 847 issued on December 14, 2021, The estimated natural expiration date of these issued patents are 2038, and it
additional patents issue on these pending applications of ours, the estimated natral expiration dates are between approximately 2028 and 2040,

Our continuing research and development activities, technical expertise and contractual arrangements supplement our existing intellecoual property protection and help us mainain our
competitive position, and we rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary information and technologies, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable, or where
such patents would be difficult to enforce, In order to maintain such rade secrets and other proprietary information, we rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our employvees, consultants,
contractors, sutside scientific collaborators and other advisars,

Wi also protect our brand through trademark rights. We are the registered owner of approximarely nine U.S. pending trademark applications. In order to supplement the protection of our
brand, we also own at least three registered internet domain name.

License Agreements

January 2019 Elanco In-License Agreement for Skin and Eye Diseoses or Conditions in H

In January 2019, we entered into an agreement with Elanco granting us an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license o certain intellectual property for the development, marketing,
and commercialization of latilaner for the treatment, palliation, prevention or cure of any eye or skin disease or condition in humans (as amended, the "Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement”). We are
obligated to use commencially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize products comprising lotilaner and must achieve certain developmental milestones within specified achievement
deadlines. If we fail o meet these obligations, Elanco has the right o terminate the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement. We wtilize the intellectual propeny licensed




under the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement in our TP-03 and TP-04 product candidates. We are permitted to have certain third parties manufacture [otilaner for us and, upon Elanco's consent,
additional third parties.

We made a $1.0 million upfront payment at execution of the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement in January 2019 and also made a required $1.0 million clinical milestone payment in
September 2020, assoclated with the first two U.S. pivotal wrials for the reatment of Demodex blepharitis. We paid an additional $2.0 million for our second pivoral trial milestone in April 2021,
which was recorded in research and development expense in the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the year ended December 31, 2021, The Company made a
contraciual payment of $2.5 million to Elanco following the receipt of $25 million of proceeds from LianBio during the second quarter of 2021. In June 2022, the Company made a contractual
prepayment of $1.5 million that can be applied towards any milesiones that become due under the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement and/or the Company’s in-license agreement with Elanco, granting
it a worldwide license to certain intellectual property for the development and commercialization of lotilaner for the treatment, palliation, prevention, or cure of “all other” diseases and conditions in
humans (i.e., beyond that of the eye or skin), as amended in June 2022 (the “All Human Uses Elanco Agreement”™). In December 2022, the Company recognized $0.4 million of cost of license fees
and collaboration revenue in the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the vear ended December 31, 2022 upon receipt of $10 million of cash proceeds from LianBio
for the achievemnent of a clinical development milestane, which was applied against the $1.5 million prepayment.

In accordance with the terms of the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement, we are obligated to make further cash pavments to Elanco upon our achievement of various clinical milestones up
to an aggregate maximum of $3.0 million and various sales milestones up to an aggregate maximum of $§79.0 million. If we receive payments from sublicensees, we are ohligated to pay Elanco a
variable percentage beginning in the low double-digits of such proceeds and decreasing after certain milestones are met, except for sublicense revenue generated after achieving regulatory approval
for the use of lotilaner w treat or cure any eye or skin disease or condition in humans. We owe Elanco tiered rovalties during the royalty term in the mid-to-high single digits on our future net sales
and those of our sublicensees. The royalty term for any licensed product in a given country commences on the date of first commercial sale of such licensed product and ends on the latest of (i)
expiration of the last-to-expire of the licensed patents which has at least one valid claim, (ii) the expiration of regulatory exclusivity and (iii) ten vears after the first commercial sale of such licensed
product in such country. The Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement shall expire on a licensed product-by-licensed product and country-by-country basis upon the expiration of the applicable rovalty term
with respect to such licensed product in such country, The achievement deadlines for eye-related diligence milestones range between 18 months after contract execution to six years after contract
execution. The achievement deadlines for dermatological diligence milestones range between 24 months after contract execution o nine years after contract execution.

Either party may terminate the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement upon a material breach by the other party, solely in the country pertaining to such breach, that is not cured within 60
days after receiving written notice thereof. 1f we fail to comply with our development obligations under the Eve and Derm Elance Agreement, and fail to remedy such failure or cure such breach
within 60 days, Elanco will have the right 1o terminate the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement. If we fail 10 meet any diligence milestones by the achievement deadlines set forth in the Eve and Derm
Elanco Agreement for any reason other than those outside of our reasonable control, and such milestones remain unmet for 120 days after Elanco notifies us thereof, Elanco may terminate the Eye
and Derm Elanco Agreement. If we fail to meet certain dermatological milestones by the achievement deadlines set forth in the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement for any reasons other than those
outside of our reasonable control, and such milestones remain unmet for 120 days after Elanco notifies us thereof, Elanco may limit our field of use under the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement to the
treatment, palliation, prevention or cure of eve diseases or conditions in humans only. If Elance terminates the Eve and Derm Elance Agreement for our failure to achieve a development milestone hy
the specified achievement deadline, then we must grant Elanco & non-exclusive, sublicensable, royalty free license to our patents and know-how relating to lotilaner to develop, manufacture and
commercialize lotilaner and any licensed products for the treatment, palliation, prevention or cure of any eyve or skin disease or condition in humans. Elanco may also terminate the Eye and Derm
Elanco Agreement if we, our affiliates or sublicensees initiate proceedings to oppose Elanco's licensed patents and such proceeding is not withdrawn within 30 days of Elance providing notice to os;
provided that Elanco may not terminate the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement for a challenge by a sublicensee if we terminate the sublicense with such sublicensee within such 30 day period.

Under the terms of the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement, we granted Elanco a worldwide, sublicensable, rayalty-free, perpetual license to our patents related to lotilaner and the
licensed products and to our know-how o research, develop, make and commercialize lotilaner and the licensed products for all applications in non-human animals, agriculiural application, seed
treatment applications and wrban pest applications related w structural, wef, lawns and gardens. We also granted Elanco an exclusive royalty-free, perpetual license w any intellectual property we
conceive from our use of lotilaner applications in non-human animals, agricultural applications, seed reatment applications and urban pest applications related to structural, wrf, lawns and gardens.
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Elanco retains the sole responsibility to prosecute the patents they license to us and has the first right to enforce the licensed intellectual property against third parties in the licensed field
of use but cannot settle or dispose of any such action without our written consent.

September 2020 Elanco In-License Agreement for All Other Diseases or Conditions in Humans

In September 2020, we entered inte an agreement with Elanco granting us an exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable license w certain intellectual property for the development, marketing,
and commercialization of lotilaner for all applications in humans other than the weatment, palliation, prevention or cure of any eye or skin disease or condition {the "All Human Uses Elanco
Agreement™). We are obligated 1o use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize products comprising lotilaner and must achieve certain developmental milestones within
specified achievement deadlines. If we fail to meet these obligations, Elanco has the right to terminate the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement. We utilize the intelleciual property licensed under the
All Human Uses Elanco Agreement in our TP-05 product candidates, We are permitted to have certain third pamies manufacture lotilaner for us and, upon Elanco’s consent, additional third parties,

Under the terms of the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement, we issued 222,460 shares of common stock to Elanco at the execution of the September 2020 Agreement, with an estimated
fair value of $3.1 million ($14.0003 per share, approximating the issuance price of our Series C preferred stock in September 2020).

Wi are required 1o make additional cash payments o Elanco upon the achievement of various clinical milestones for an aggregate maximum of $4.0 million and variows commercial and
sales threshold milestones for an apgregate maximum of $77.0 million. [n addition, we are obligated te pay contractual royalties to Elanco for sales in certain countries, If we receive payments from
sublicensees, we are obligated to pay Elanco a variable percentage beginning in the low double-digits of such proceeds and decreasing after certain milestones are met, except for sublicense revenue
generated after achieving regulatory approval for the use of lotilaner to applications in humans other than to treat or cure any eye or skin disease or condition. We owe Elanco tiered royalties during
the royalty term in the mid-to-high single digits on our future net sales and those of our sublicensees. The rayalty term for any licensed product in a given country commences on the date of first
commercial sale of such licensed product and ends on the latest of (a) expiration of the lasi-to-expire of the licensed patents which has at least one valid claim, (h) the expiration of regulatory
exclusivity, and (c) ten years after the first commercial sale of such licensed product in such country. The All Human Uses Elanco Agreement shall expire on a licensed product-by-licensed product
and country-by-country basis upon the expiration of the applicable royalty term with respect to such licensed product in such country. The achievement deadlines for diligence milestones range
berween 24 months after contract execution 1o six years after contract execution.

In March 2021, the Company issued 187,500 shares of its common stock to Elanco to maintain the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement. These issued shares were valued at $5.5 million,
based on our closing stock price of $29.30 per share on the date this issuance became contractually required and is reported within research and development expense on the accompanying Statements
of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the year ended December 31, 2021, In December 2022, we achieved a clinical milestone related to the initiation of our Phase 2a clinical irial for TP-05
which triggered the recognition of $0.5 million of research and development expense on the accompanying § of Operations and Comprek ive Loss for the year ended December 31, 2022,
which partially offset the $1.5 million prepayment made w Elanco.

Either party may terminate the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement upon a material breach by the other party, solely in the country pertaining to such breach, that is not cured within 60
days after receiving written notice from the other party. If we fail to comply with our development obligations under the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement, and fail to remedy such failure or cure
such breach within 60 days, Elanco will have the right 1o terminate the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement. If we fail to meet any diligence milestones by the achievement deadlines set forth in the
All Human Uses Elanco Agreement for any reason other than those outside of our reasonable control, and such milestones remain unmet for 120 days after Elanco notifies us of the failure o meet
such diligence milestone, Elanco may terminate the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement. If Elanco rerminates the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement for our failure to achieve a development
milestone by the specified achievement deadline, then we must grant Elanco a non-exclusive, sublicensable, royalty free license to our patents and know-how relating to lotilaner to develop,
manufacture and commercialize latilaner and any licensed products for all applications in humans other than the treatment, palliation, prevention or cure of any eye or skin disease or condition.
Elanco may also terminate the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement if we, aur affiliates or sublicensees initiate proceedings to oppose Elance’s licensed patents and such proceeding is not withdrawn
within 30 days of Elanco providing notice 1o us; provided that Elanco may not terminate the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement for a challenge by a sublicensee if we terminate the sublicense with
such sublicensee within such 30 day period.

Under the terms of the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement, we grant to Elanco a non-exclusive worldwide, sublicensable, royalty-free, perpetual license o our patents related o
lotilaner and the licensed products and to our know-how o research, develop, make and commercialize lotifaner and the licensed produces for all applications in non-human animals, agricultural
applications, seed treatment applications and urban pest applications related to stectural, turf, lawns and gardens.




We also grant to Elanco an exclusive, royalty-free, perpetual license to any intellectual property we conceive from our use of lotilaner tor all applications in non-human animals, agriculiural
applications, seed treatment applications and urban pest applications related to stuctural, trf, lawns and gardens,

Elanco retains the sole responsibility to prosecute the patents they license to us and has the first right to enforce the licensed intellectual property against thivd parties in the licensed field
of use but cannot setile or dispose of any such action without our written consent.

LianBio Agreement

On March 26, 2021, we entered into a development and license agreement (the *China Out-License™) with LianBio for its exclusive develop andl © ialization rights of TP-03
(lotilaner ophthalmic solution, 0.25%) in the China Territory for the reatment of Demaodex blepharitis and MGD_

Through December 31, 2022, we received payments from LianBio totaling $80.0 million comprised of initial consideration of $15.0 million and $65.0 million for the achievement of
specified milestone events.

We will be eligible to receive further consideration from LianBio upon the achievement of additional TP-03 events, including: (i} additional development milestone payments of up to an
aggregate of $25.0 million (includes $2.5 million for a milestone triggered in February 2023), (ii) China-based TP-03 sales threshold milestone payments of up to an aggregate of $100.0 million, (iii)
tiered Jow-to-high-teen royalties for the China Territory TP-03 product sales, and (iv) vesting of a LianBio equity warrant upon certain regulatory milestones, The term of the China Out-License will
expire upon the expiration of the royalty term in the China Territory, as defined in the agreement, unless earlier lerminated. LisnBio may also terminate the China Out-License for any reason upon
ninety days' prior notice o us.

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the U.5. at the federal, state and local level and in other couniries extensively regulate, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture,
qualiry control, approval, labeling, packaging, storage, record-keeping, promation, advertising, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting, marketing and export and impornt of drug products
such as those we are developing, Generally, before a new drug can be marketed, considerable data demaonstrating its quality, safety and efficacy must be obtained, organized into a format specific for
each regulatory authority, submitted for review and approved by the regulatory authority. We will be required o navigate the various preclinical, clinical and commercial approval reguirements of the
governing regulatory agencies of the countries in which we wish w conduct studies or trials or seek approval of our product candidates. The processes for obtaining regulatory approvals in the U.S.
and other countries, as appropriate, along with subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations, require the expenditure of substantial time and
PESOUCEs,

L.S. Drug Regulation

In the U.5., we are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA, which regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the "FDCA"), and its implementing regulations,
FDA approval is required before any new unapproved drug or dosage form, including a new use of a previously approved drug, can be marketed in the U.S. Drugs also are subject to other federal,
state and local statutes and regulations. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate federal, state, local and foreign statutes and regulations requires
the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources. Failure to comply with the applicable U.S. or foreign requirements at any time during the product development process, approval process or
post-marketing may subject an applicant to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, such as the FDA's refusal to approve pending NDAs, withdrawal of an approval, imposition of a clinical
hold, issuance of warning or untitled letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, refusals of government contracts, restitution,
disgargement or civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial enforcement action could have a material adverse effect on our husiness, market acceptance of our products, and our reputation,

Our product candidates are considered small molecule drugs and must be approved by the FDA through the NDA process before they may be legally marketed in the U.S. The process
generally involves the following:

- completion of extensive preclinical studies in accordance with applicable regulations, including studies conducted in accordance with good laboratory practice ("GLE")
requirements;
. submission to the FDA of an IND, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin in the U5, and must be updated annually or when significant

changes are made;




. approval by an independent IRB or independent ethics committee at each clinical rial site before each wrial may be initiated;

. performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials in accordance with applicable IND regulations, GCP, requirements and other clinical trial-related
regulations to establish substantial evidence of the safety and efficacy of the investigational product for each proposed indication;

. submission to the FDA of an NDA;
. a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of an NDA to accept the submission for review;
. satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities where the drug will be produced to assess compliance with cGMP

requirements, and of selected clinical investigational sites o assess compliance with GCP;
. patential FDA andit of the preclinical study and/or clinical trial sites that penerated the data in support of the NDA filing;

. payment of user fees for FDA review of the NDA;

. FDA review and approval of the NDA, including consideration of the views of any FDA advisory committee, prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the drug in the
U.5;; and
L compliance with any post-approval requirements, including the potential requirement to implement a Risk Evaluation and Migration Strategy ("REMS") and the potential

requirement to conduct post-approval studies.

The data required (o support an NDA are generated in two distinet developmental stages: preclinical and clinical, The preclinical and clinical testing and approval process can take many
years and the actual time required to obtain approval, if any, may vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product or condition being weated.

Preclinical Studies and IND Submission

Before testing any drug product candidate in humans, the product candidate must undergo rigorous preclinical testing. The preclinical developmental stage generally involves laboratory
evaluations of drug chemistry, formulation and stability, as well as in vitro and animal studies to assess the potential for adverse events and in some cases to establish a rationale for therapeutic use.
The conduct of preclinical swudies is subject w federal regulations and requirements, including GLP regulations for certain safety/toxicology studies. An INID is a request for authorization from the
FDA to administer an investigational product to humans, and must become effective before human clinical rials may begin in the U.S,

An IND sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical tests, together with manufacwring information, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and plans for clinical
studies, among other things, to the FDA as part of an IND. Some long-term preclinical testing, such as animal tests of reproductive adverse events amnd carcinogenicity, may continue after the IND is
submitted. An IND automatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA and clinical irials may proceed under such IND at such time, unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or
questions related to one or more proposed clinical irials and places the trial on clinical hold. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns before the clinical
trial can begin. As a result, submission of an IND may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence. A separate submission o an existing IND must also he made for each successive
clinical rrial conducted during product development along with any subsequent changes to the investigational plan.

Clinical Trials

The clinical stage of development involves the administration of the investigational product to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of gualified investigators, generally
physicians not employed by or under the trial sponsor's control, in accordance with GCP requirements, which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for
their participation in any clinical wial. Clinical trials are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the clinical trial, dosing procedures, subject selection and exclusion
criteria and the parameters o be used to monitor subject safety and assess efficacy. Each protocel, and any subsequent amendments to the protocol, must be submited o the FDA as part of the IND.
Furthermore, each clinical wial must be reviewed and approved by an IRB for each institution at which the clinical trial will be conducted to ensure that the risks o individeals pamicipating in the
clinical trials are minimized and are reasonable in relation wo anticipated benefits. The IRB also approves the informed consent form that must be provided to each clinical trial subject or his or her
legal representative, and must monitor the clinical trial until completed. There also are requirements governing the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and completed clinical trial results to public
registries, including the website maintained by the U.S. Mational Institutes of Health, Clinical Trials gov.
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A sponsor who wishes o conduct a clinical trial owtside of the U.S. may, but need not, obtain FDA authorization wo conduct the clinical trial under an IND. If a foreign clinical trial is
not conducted under an [IND, the sponsor may still submit data from the clinical rial w the FDA in support of an NDA, The FDA may agree w accept a well-designed and well-conducted foreign
clinical rrial pot conducted under an IND if the mrial was conducted in accordance with GCP requirements and the FDA is able to validate the data through an onsite inspection, if deemed necessary,
and the practice of medicing in the foreign country is consistent with the U.5.

Clinical wrials in the U.S. generally are conducted in three sequential phases, known as Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3. Although the phases are usually conducted sequentially, they may
averlap or be combined.

- Phase | clinical trials generally invalve a small number of healthy volunteers or disease-affected patients who are initially exposed to a single dose and then multiple doses
of the product candidate. The primary purpose of these clinical trials is to assess the metabolism, pharmacologic action, tolerability and safety of the drug in humans, the
side effects associated with increasing doses, and if possible, to gain early evidence on effectiveness.

. Phase 2 clinical trials generally involve studies in disease-affected patients to determine the dose and dosing schedule required to produce the desired benefits. At the same
time, safety and further pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic information is collected, possible adverse effects and safety risks are identified and a preliminary evaluation
of efficacy is conducted.

. Phase 3 clinical trials generally involve a large number of patients at multiple sites and are designed to provide the data necessary to demonstrate the safety and
effectiveness of the product for its intended use and o establish the overall benefitrisk relationship of the product to provide an adequate basis for product approval. These
trials may include comparisons with placebo and/or other comparator reatments, The duration of eatment is often extended to mimic the actual use of a product during
marketing.

. A Phaze 1/2 clinical trial has elements of a Phase 1 wial and a Phase 2 wrial. We have designated our TP-04 and TP-05 trials as Phase 1/2 wrials since we intend to go beyond
the tvpical safety and wolerability assessments of a Phase 1 trial and intend 1o have these rials include additional efficacy assessments as well.

. A Phase 2b/3 clinical wrial has elements of a late Phase 2 trial and a Phase 3 wrial, We have designated Saturn-1 as a Phase 2b/3 wrial as it is both our first multi-center trial
based in the U.5., and also a pivotal trial for the U5,

Post-approval trials, sometimes referred to as Phase 4 clinical wrials, may be conducted after initial marketing approval. These trials are used to gain additional experience from the
wreatment of patients in the intended therapeutic indication. In certain instances, the FDA may mandate the performance of Phase 4 clinical trials as a condition of approval of an NDA.

Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical trisls, among other information, must be submitted at least annually to the FDA and written IND safety reports must be submitted to
the FOUA and the investigators for serious and unexpected suspected adverse events, findings from ather studies suggesting a significant risk to humans exposed to the drog, findings from animal ar in
vitro testing that suggest a significant risk for human subjects and any clinically important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in the protocol.

Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials may not be completed successfully within any specified period, if at all. The FDA or the sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical tral at
any time on various grounds, including a flinding that the research subjects or patients are being exposed w an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspend or terminate approval of a
clinical trial at its institution if the clinical trial is not being conducted in accordance with the IRE’s requirements or if the drug has been associated with unexpected serious harm to patients.
Eguivalent, and similarly detailed, obligations will apply to the conduct of clinical trials in third countries including the Eurapean Union (“EU™).

NDA Review and Marketing Approval

Following completion of clinical wials, data are analvzed to assess whether the investigational product is safe and etfective for the proposed indicated use or uses. The resulis of
preclinical studies and clinical trials are then submitted to the FDA as part of an NDA, along with proposed labeling, chemistry and manufacturing information, and other information in a request. for
approval to market the drug for one or maore specified indications. The application must include both negative and ambiguous results of preclinical studies and clinical wials, as well as positive
findings, Data may come from company-
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sponsored clinical wials intended to test the safety and efficacy of a product’s use or from a number of alternative sources, including studies initiated by investigators, To support marketing approval,
the data submitted must be sufficient in quality and quantity to establish the safety and efficacy of the investigational product to the satisfaction of FDA. FDA approval of an NDA must be obrained
before a drug may be marketed in the U5,

Under the PDUFA, as amended, each NDA must be accompanied by an application user fee, FDA adjusts the PDUFA user fees on an annual basis. PDUFA also imposes an annual
program fee for each marketed human drug. Fee waivers or reductions are available in certain circumstances, including a waiver of the application fee for the first application filed by a qualifying
small business. Additionally, no user fees are assessed on NDAs for products designated as orphan drugs, unless the product NDA also includes a non-orphan indication,

The FDA conducts a preliminary review of all submitted NDAs before it accepts them for filing to determine if they are sufficiently complete to permit a substantive review, and the
FDA may request additional information rather than accepting the NDA for filing. In this event, the application must be resubmitted with the additional information. The resubmitted application is
also subject o review before the FDA accepts it for filing, The FDA must make a decision on accepting an NDA for filing within 60 days of receipt, Once the submission is accepted for filing, the
FIDDA begins an in-depth review of the NDA to determine, among other things, whether the drog is safe and effective and whether the facility in which it is manufactured, processed, packaged or held
meets standards designed 1o assure the product’s continued safety, quality and purity.

Under PDUFA, the FDA has agreed to certain performance goals in the review of NDAs through a two-tiered classification system, standard review and priority review. According o
PDUFA performance goals, the FDA endeavors to review applications subject o standard review within ten months, whereas the FDA’s goal is 1o review priority review applications within six
months, depending on whether the drug is a new molecular entity. The FDA does not always meet its PDUFA goal dates for standard and priority NDAs, and the review process is often extended by
FDA requests for additional information or clarification.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003 as amended and reauthorized, certain NDAs or supplements to an NDA must contain data that are adeguate o assess the
safety and effectiveness of the drug for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations, and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the product
is safe and effective, The FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request of the applicant, grane deferrals for submission of some or all pediatric data until after approval of the product for use in
adults, or full or partial waivers from the pediatric data requirements.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA will conduct a pre-approval inspection of the manufacouring facilities for the new product to determine whether they comply with cGMP
requirements. The FIDA will not approve the product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent
production of the product within required specifications. The FDA may also andit data from clinical trials to ensure compliance with GCP requirements,

The FDA generally accepts data from foreign clinical wials in support of an NDA if the trials were conducted under an IND. If a foreign clinical wial is not conducted under an IND, the
FDA nevertheless may accept the data in support of an NDA if the study was conducted in accordance with GCP reguirements and the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-site inspection, if
deemed necessary. Although the FDA generally requests that marketing applications be supported by some data from domestic clinical studies, the FDA may accept foreign data as the sole basis for
marketing approval if (1) the foreign data are applicable to the U.S. population and U,5, medical practice, (2) the studies were performed by clinical investigators with recognized competence, and (3)
the data may be considered valid without the need for an on-site inspection or, if the FDA considers the inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-site inspection or
other appropriate means.

Additionally, the FDA may refer applications for novel drug products or drug praducts which present difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel
that includes clinicians and other expers, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under what conditions, if any. The FI3A is not bound by
recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such recommendations when making decisions on approval. The FDA also closely analyzes the clinical trial data, which could result in
extensive discussions between the FDA and the applicam during the review process.

After the FDA evaluates an NDA, it will issue an approval letter or a Complete Response Letter, An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific
prescribing information for specific indications and potentially subject to other reguirements. A Complete Response Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete and the
application will not be approved in its present form. A Complete Response Leter usually describes all of the specific deficiencies in the NDA identified by the FDA. The Complete Response Letier
may require additional clinical data, including




the potential requirement to conduct additional pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial(s) and/or other significant and time-consuming requirements related to clinical wials, or to conduct additional preclinical
studies or manufacturing changes. If a Complete Response Letter is issued, the applicant may either resubmit the NDA, addressing all of the deficiencies identified in the letter, or withdraw the
application. Even if such data and information are submitted, the FDXA may decide that the NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Data obtained from clinical trials are not always conclusive
and the FDLA may interpret data differently than we interpret the same data.

Post-Approval Requirements

Following approval of a new product, the product is subject to continuing regulation by the FDA, including, among other things, requirements relating to facility registration and drug
listing monitoring and record keeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and distribution, advertising and promation, and repomting of adverse experiences with the product. After approval, most
changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject to prior FDA review and approval. There also are continuing, annual user fee requirements for
any marketed products and the establishments at which such products are manufactured, as well as new application fees for supplemental applications with clinical data, The FDA sirictly regulates
marketing, labeling, advertising and promation of drugs, including after they are placed on the market. Dirugs may be promoted only far the approved indications and in accordance with the
provisions of the approved label,

Althaugh physicians may prescribe legally available drugs for off-label uses, manufacturers may not market or promote such uses. Prescription drug promotional materials must be
submitted to the FDA in conjunction with their first use or first publication,

The FDA may also place other conditions on approvals including the requirement for a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy ("REMS"), to assure the safe use of the product, If the
FDA concludes that a REMS is needed, the NDA sponsor must submit 2 proposed REMS. The FDA will not approve the FDA without an approved REMS, if required, Any of these limitations on
approval or marketing could restrict the commercial promotion, distribution, prescription or dispensing of products, Product approvals may be withdrawn for non-compliance with regulatory
standards or if problems occor following initial marketing.

FDA regulations require that products be manufactured in specific approved facilities and in accordance with cGMP regulations. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties
for the production of clinical and commercial guantities of our products in accordance with cGMP regulations, These manufacturers must comply with cGMP regulations that require, among other
things, quality control and quality assurance, the maintenance of records and documentation, and the obligation o investigate and correct any deviations from cGME. Manufacturers and other entities
involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved drugs are required 1o register their establishments with the FDA and certain siate agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced
inspections by the FD'A and certain state agencies for compliance with cGMP requirements and other laws. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of
production and quality contral to maintain cGMP compliance, The discovery of violative conditions, including failure to conform to cGMP regulations, could result in enforcement actions, and the
discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in restrictions on a product, its manufacturer or the NDA holder, including recalls.

The FDA may withdraw approval of a product if compliance with regulatory requirernents and standards is not maintained or if problems eccur atter the product reaches the market,
Corrective action could delay drug distribution and require significant time and financial expenditures. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety
information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical studies (o assess new safety risks or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS program, Other potential
consequences include, among other things:

. restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, suspension of the approval, complete withdrawal of the product from the market, or product recalls;
- fines, waming leters, or holds on post-approval clinical trials;
. refusal of the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications;
" suspension or revocation of product approvals;
. praduct seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or
* injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties,
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Crther Regulatory Matters

Pharmaceutical companies are subject to additional healthcare regulation and enforcement by the federal government and by authorities in the states and foreign jurisdictions in which
they conduct their business, For example, in the U5, sales, marketing and scientific and educational programs alse must comply with state and federal fraud and abuse laws, false claims laws,
transparency laws, government price reporting, and health information privacy and security laws, These laws include the following:

. the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which makes it illegal for any person, including a prescription drug manufacturer (or a party acting on its behalf), 1 knowingly and
willfully solicit, receive, offer or pay any remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, w induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase,
lease, order or recommendation of an item or service for which payment may he made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare or
Medicaid. Moreover, the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or
fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False Claims Act;

. the federal civil False Claims Act, which imposes civil penalties, sometimes pursued through civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities. for,
among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment of government funds that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement
material wo an obligation to pay money to the government or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly avoiding, decreasing, or concealing an obligation wo pay
money to the federal govermment;

* the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA™), which imposes criminal liability for, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing or
attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefic program, knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing from a health care benefit program, will fully
obstructing a criminal investigation of a health care offense, or knowingly and willfully making false statements relating to healthcare marers;

. HIPAA and its implementing regulations, also imposes obligations, on certain covered entity health care providers, health plans and health care clearinghouses as well as
their business associates that perform certain services involving the use or disclosure of individually identifiable health information, including mandatory contracwal terms,
with respect o safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

. federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate markerplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers;
. the FDCA, which prohibits, among other things, the adulteration or misbranding of drugs, biologics and medical devices, including off-label or pre-approval promotion;

. the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, which requires applicable manofacturers of covered drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for which payment is
available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to annually report to Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
("CMS") information regarding direct or indirect payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals (and certain other practitioners as of 2022), as
well as information regarding ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members; and

. analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws which may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims
invalving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non- governmental third-party payers, including private insurers, state laws that require pharmaceutical manufacturers
to comply with the industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government and may require drug
manufacturers to report information related o payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healtheare providers or marketing expenditres, state laws that
require pharmaceutical manufacturers to report information on the pricing of certain drug products, state and local laws that require the licensure and registration of
pharmaceutical sales representatives, and state and foreign laws that govern the privacy and security of health information in some circumstances, many of which differ
from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts.

Furthermore, states are constantly adopting new laws or amending existing laws, requiring attention to frequently changing regulatory requirements. For example, California has enacted
the California Consumer Privacy Act ("CCPA"). The CCPA created new transparency requirements, granted California consumers (as that word is broadly defined in the law)
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several new rights with regard their personal information, and places increased privacy and security obligations on entities handling personal data of consumers or households. The CCPA requires
covered companies 1o provide new disclosures to California consumers, provide such consumers new ways to opt-out of certain sales of personal information, and allow for a new cause of action for
data breaches. In addition, in November 2020, California voters approved the California Privacy Righis Act (*CPRA™) ballot initiative which introduced significant amendments to the CCPA and
established and funded a dedicated California privacy regulator, the California Privacy Protection Agency (“CPPA"). The amendments introduced by the CPRA went into effect on Janoary 1, 2023,
and new implementing regulations are expected to be introduced by the CPPA. Fallure w comply with the CCPA may result in, among other things, significant civil penalties and injunctive relief, or
potential statutory or aciual damages. In addition, California residents have the right o bring a private right of action in connection with certain types of incidents. These claims may result in
significant liability and potential damages. The CCPA could impact our business activities depending on how it is interpreted and exemplifies the vulnerability of our business w not only cyber threats
but also the evolving regulatory environment related to personal data and protected health information. We have implemented processes to manage compliance with the CCPA and we continue o
assess the impact of the CPRA, and other state legislation, on our business as additional information and puidance becomes available.

Products must meet applicable child-resistant packaging requirements under the U5, Poison Prevention Packaging Act. Manufacturing, sales, promotion and other activities also are
potentially subject to federal and state consumer protection and unfair competition laws.

The distribution of pharmaceutical products is subject 1o additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, storage and security requirements
intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products.

The failure 1o comply with any of these laws or regulatory requirements subjeces firms to possible legal or regulatory action. Depending on the circumstances, failure to meet applicable
regulatory requirements can result in significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, including damages, fines, disgorgement, individoal imprisonment, exclusion from participation in
government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, compliance oversight and reporting obligations, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future
eamings, injunctions, requests for recall, seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, denial or withdrawal of product approvals or refusal to allow a firm to enter into supply
contracts, including government contracts,

U.S. Patent-Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivity

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA approval of any future product candidates, some of our U5, patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under
the Hatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act permits restoration of the patent term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product development and FDA regulatory
review process. Patent-term restoration, however, cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the product’s approval date. The patent-term restoration period is
generally one-half the time between the effective date of an IND or the issue date of the patent, whichever is later, and the submission date of an NDA plus the time between the submission date of an
MDA or the issue date of the patent, whichever is later, and the approval of that application, except that the review period is reduced by any time during which the applicant failed to exercise due
diligence. Only one patent applicable to an approved drug is eligible for the extension and the application for the extension must be submitted prior 1o the expiration of the patent, The U5, Patent and
Trademark Office ("USPTOM), in consultation with the FDA, reviews and approves the application for any patent term extension or restoration. In the future, we may apply for restoration of patent
term for our currently owned or licensed patents to add patent life beyond its current expiration date, depending on the expected length of the clinical rials and other factors involved in the filing of
the relevant NDA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA also can delay the submission or the approval of certain applications. The FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent marketing
exclusivity within the U5, to the First applicant to gain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved any other new drug
containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the action of the drug substance. During the exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for review an abbreviated new
drug application ("ANDA") or a 505(b)2) NDA submitted by another company for another version of such drug where the applicant does not own or have a legal right of reference to all the data
required for approval, However, an application may be submitted after four years if it contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also provides three years of
marketing exclusivity for an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability studies, that were conducted or sponsored by the
applicant are deemed by the FDA to be essential to the approval of the application, for example, new indications, dosages or strengths of an existing drug,. This three-year exclusivity covers only the
canditions of use associated with the new clinical investigations and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs for drugs containing the original active agent. Five-year and three-year
exclusivity will not delay the submbssion or approval of a full S05(bN 1) NDA,




However, an applicant submitting a full NDA would be required to conduct or obtain a right of reference to all of the preclinical studies and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials necessary to
demonstrate safety and effectiveness,

European Union Drug Development

Similar to the U5, the various phases of preclinical and clinical research in the European Union are subject to significant regulatory controls. Although the European Union Clinical
Trials Directive 20012WEC has sought to harmonize the EU clinical wrials regulatory framework, setting out common rules for the control and authorization of clinical wials in the EU, the EU
Member States have ransposed and applied the provisions of the Divective differently. This has led to significant variations in the member state regimes. Under the regime of the Clinical Trials
Directive, before a clinical trial can be initiated it must be approved in each of the EU countries where the trial is to be conducted by two distinct bodies: the National Competent Authority ("NCA"),
and one or more ethics commirtees, Under the regime of the Clinical Trials Directive all suspected unexpected serious adverse reactions to the investigated drug that occur during the clinical trial hawve
to be reported to the NCA and ECs of the Member State where they occurred.

In order to streamline the regulation of clinical wials across the EU, the EU legislator has adopted Regulation (EU) No 5362014, or the EU Clinical Trials Regulation. The new EU
Clinical Trials Regulation, which repeals and replaces the EU Clinical Trials Directive, introduces a complete overhaul of the existing regulation of clinical trials for medicinal products in the EU.
The main characteristics of the regulation include: a streamlined application procedure through a single entry point, the “EU portal™; a single set of documents to be prepared and submitted for the
application as well as simplified reporting procedures for clinical trial sponsors; and a harmonized procedure for the assessment of applications for clinical trials, which is divided in two parts. The
EU Clinical Trials Regulation is applicable as of January 31, 2022 and is applicable directly in all countries of the EEA (which is comprised of 27 Member States of the EU plus Morway, lceland and
Liechtenstein). Clinical trials authorized under the current Clinical Trials Directive hefore January 31, 2023 can continue to be conducted under the Clinical Trials Directive until January 31, 2025,
An application to transition ongoing trials from the current Clinical Trials Directive to the new Clinical Trials Regunlation will need to be submitted and authorized in time before the end of the
wransitional period. The new Clinical Trials Regulation is intended to simplify and streamline the approval of clinical wials in the EEA.

European Union Drug Review and Approval

In arder to market any product outside of the U.5., a company must also comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of other countries and junisdictions regarding
quality, safety, and efficacy, and governing, among other things, clinical wials, marketing authorization, commercial sales, and distribution of products. Whether or not it obtains FDA approval for a
product, an applicant will need to obtain the necessary approvals by the comparable foreign regulatory authorities before it can commence clinical trial or marketing of the product in those countries
or jurisdictions.

Marketing Authorization

In the EEA, medicinal products can only be commercialized after obtaining a Marketing Authorization, or MA. There are a number of tvpes of marketing authorizations.

- The Community MA is adopted by the Evropean Commission in the form of a decision through the Centralized Procedure. The decision, which is based on the opinion of
the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use ("CHMP") of the EMA, is valid throughout the entire territory of the EEAL The Centralized Procedure is mandatory
for certain types of products, such as biotechnology medicinal products, orphan medicinal products, advanced-therapy medicines such as gene-thevapy, somatic cell-therapy
or tissue-engineered medicines and medicinal products containing a4 new active substance indicated for the reatment of HIV, AIDS, cancer, neurodegenerative disorders,
diabetes, auto-immune and other immune dysfunctions and viral diseases, The Centralized Procedure is optional, on approval by the EMA for products containing a new
active substance not vet authorized in the EEA, or for products that constitute a significant therapeutic, scientific or technical innovation or which are in the interest of
public health in the European Union.

Under the Centralized Procedure, the CHMP established at the EMA is responsible for conducting an initial scientific assessment of a product, The maximum timeframe for the
evaluation of an MA under the Centralized Procedure is 210 days, excluding clock stops when additional information or written or oral explanation is to be provided by the applicant in respanse to
questions of the CHMP.

Accelerated evaluation may be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is of major interest from the point of view of public health and, in particular, from
the viewpoint of therapeutic innovation. If the CHMP




accepts such a request, the time limit of 210 days will be reduced to 130 days, but it is possible that the CHMP may revert to the standard time limit for the Centralized Procedure if it determines that
it is no longer appropriate to conduct an accelerated assessment.

. M As hased on the Mutual Recognition Procedure or the Decentralized Procedure are available for products not falling within the mandatory scope of the Centralized
Procedure. Where a product is first authorized by a Reference Member State this may be recognized by other Concerned Member States through the Muotual Recognition
Procedure. Alternatively, a product can be approved simultaneously in various EU Member States through the Decentralized Procedure. Under the Decentralized Procedure
an identical dossier is submitted to the competent authorities of each of the EU Member States in which the MA is sought, one of which is selected by the applicant as the
Reference Member State. The competent authority of the Reference Member State prepares a draft assessment report, a draft Summary of Product Characteristics ("SmPC")
and a draft of the labeling and package leaflet. which are sent to the other Member States (referred to as the "Concerned Member States”) for their approval, If the
Cancerned Member Siates raise no ohjections, based on a potential seriows nsk to public health, to the assessment, SmPC, labeling or packaging proposed by the Reference
Member State, the product is subsequently granted a national MA in all the Member States (i.e., in the Reference Member State and the Concerned Member States).

Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of our products will depend, in part, on the extent to which our products will be covered by third-party payers, such as government health programs, commercial insurance, and
managed healthcare organizations. In the U5, for example, principal decisions about reimbursement for new products are typically made by CMS or by Medicare's contractors and third-party payers
or insurance plans, These entities decide whether and to what extent a new product will be covered and reimbursed based on clinical needs and economic impact. To date no uniform policy of
coverage and reimbursement for drug products exisis. Accordingly, decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of reimbursement to be provided for any of our products will be made on a
payer-by-payer basis.

Increasingly, third-party payers are requiring that drug companies provide them with discounts usually in the form of rebates from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for
medical products. Further, such payers are examining the medical necessity and reviewing the cost effectiveness of newly launched drugs. There may be especially significant delays in obtaining,
coverage and reimbursement for newly approved drugs as several large payers have implemented new to market blocks that can last anywhere between six to twelve months. Third-party payers may
limit coverage to specific product candidates on an approved list, known as a formulary, which might not include all FDA-approved drugs for a particular indication. We may need to conduct
expensive pharmaco-economic studies to demonstrate the medical necessity and cost effectiveness of our products. As a resul, the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and
costly process that will require us 1o provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our products, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained.

1f we successfully commercialize any of cur product candidates, we may participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program. Participation 15 required for federal funds to be available for
our covered outpatient drugs under Medicaid and, if applicable, Medicare Part D. Under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, we would be required o pav a mandatory rebate 1o each state Medicaid
program for our covered outpatient drugs that are dispensed to Medicaid beneficiaries and paid for by a state Medicaid program as a condition of having federal funds being made available o the
states for our drugs under Medicaid and, if applicable, Part B of the Medicare program.

Federal law requires that any company that participates in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program also participare in the Public Health Service®s 3408 drug pricing program in order for
federal funds wo be available for the manufacturer’s drogs under Medicaid and Medicare Pamt D. The 3408 drug pricing program requires participating manufacturers to agree to charge statutorily-
defined covered entities no more than the 3408 ceiling price for the manufacturer’s covered outpatient drugs, These 3408 covered entities include a variety of community health clinics and other
entities that receive health services grants from the Public Health Service, as well as hospitals that serve a dispropomionate share of low-income patients.

In addition, in order 1o be eligible w have its products paid for with federal funds under the Medicaid and Medicare Pan B programs and purchased by certain federal agencies and
grantees, a manufacturer also must participate in the U.S. Department of Yeterans Affairs ("VA") Federal Supply Schedule ("F55") pricing program. Under this program, the manufacturer is obligated
to make its innovator and single source products available for procurement on an FSS contract and charge a price to four federal agencies, the VA, U.S. Department of Defense {"DoD"), Public Health
Service and U.S. Coast Guard - that is no higher than the statutory Federal Ceiling Price ("FCP"). Manufacturers also are obligated 1o calculate and submit to the VA on a quarterly and annual basis,
their Non-Federal Average Manufacturer Price (“Mon-FAMEP™), which the VA uses to calculate the FCP. Moreover, pursuant to regulations issued by the Dol Defense Health Agency to implement




Section 703 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2008, manufacturers are required to provide rebates on utilization of their innovator and single source products that are
dispensed to TRICARE beneficiaries by TRICARE network retail pharmacies.

The requirements under the Medicaid, 3408, FS5, and TRICARE programs could reduce the revenue we may generate from any products that are commercialized in the future and
could adversely affect our business and operating results. 1f we fall wo comply with any applicable obligations under governmental pricing programs that we participate in, we could be subject 1o
additional reimbursement requirements, significant civil monetary penalties, sanctions and fines, and those could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth
Prospects,

In addition, in most foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drog must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing and
reimbursement vary widely from country to country. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states (o restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national health
insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use, A member state may approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead
adopt a systemn of direct or indirect conirols on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on the market. Pharmaceutical products may face competition from lower-priced
products in foreign countries that have placed price controls on pharmaceutical products and may also compete with imported foreign products. There can be no assurance that any country that has
price controls or reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing,

Healthcare Reform

The U.S. government, state legislatres, and foreign governments have shown significant interest in implementing cost containment programs to limit the growth of government-paid
healthcare costs, including price-controls, restrictions on reimbursement, and requirements for substitution of generic products for branded prescription drugs. For example, in March 2010, the
Affordable Care Act was passed, which substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by bath the government and private insurers, and significantly impacts the U5, pharmaceutical industry.
The Affordable Care Act contains pravisions that may reduce the profitability of drug products through increased rebates for drags reimbursed by Medicaid programs, extension of Medicaid rebates
1o Medicaid managed care plans, mandatory discounts for certain Medicare Part D beneficiaries and annual fees based on pharmaceutical companies” share of sales 1o federal health care programs.
The Affordable Care Act made several changes to the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, including increasing pharmaceutical manufacturers’ rebate liability by raising the minimum basic Medicaid
rebate. The Affordable Care Act also expanded the universe of Medicaid utilization subject 1o drug rebates by requiring pharmaceutical manufacturers to pay rebates on Medicaid managed care
utilization and by enlarging the population potentially eligible for Medicaid drug benefits,

There have been judicial challenges wo certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act, as well as effors by Congress to modify, and by agencies o alter the implementation of, cerain
aspects of the Affordable Care Act. For example, Congress eliminated, starting January 1, 2019, the tax penalty for not complying with the Affordable Care Act's individual mandate w carry health
insurance. Further, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, among other things, amended the Affordable Care Act, effective January 1, 2019, to increase from 50 percent to 70 percent the point-of-sale
discount that is owed by pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in Medicare Part D to close the coverage gap in most Medicare drug plans, commonly referved to as the donut hole.

It is possible that the ACA, as currently enacted or may be amended in the future, as well as other healthcare reform measures including those that may be adopted in the fumre, may
result in more rigorous coverage criteria, and less favorable pavment methodologies, or other downward pressure on coverage and payment and the price that we receive for any approved product.
Any reduction in reimbursement or restriction on coverage under Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction or restriction by private payers.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the U.S. since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. These changes included aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to
providers of 2% per fiscal year, effective April 1, 2013, required by the Budget Control Act of 2021, as amended by the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (“ATRA”). Subsequent legislation
extended the 2% reduction, generally to 2031, Sequestration is currently set at 2% and will increase 1o 2.25% for the first half of fiscal vear 2030, to 3% for the second half of fiscal vear 2030, and 1o
4% for the remainder of the sequestration period that lasts through the first six months of fiscal year 2031, ATRA, among other things, also reduced Medicare payments (o several types of providers,
and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three 1o five years. Other new laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and
other healthcare funding, which could have a material adverse effect on customers for our drugs, if approved, and accordingly, our financial operations.
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Additionally, there has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which drug manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several
Congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing
and manufacturer patient programs, and reform govemment program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. At the state level, legislatures have increasingly passed legislation and
implemented regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and hiological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constrainis, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and
marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed o encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing.

Muoreover, the Medicare Prescription Drug, lmprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or MMA, established the Medicare Part I program to provide a voluntary prescription drug
benefit to Medicare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Medicare beneficiaries may enroll in prescription drug plans offered by private entities that provide coverage of outpatient prescription drugs. Unlike
Medicare Part A and B, Part D coverage is not standardized. While all Medicare drug plans muse give at least a standard level of coverage set by Medicare, Part D prescription drug plan sponsors are
not required to pay for all covered Part D drugs, and each drug plan can develop its own drug formulary that identifies which drugs it will cover and at what tier or level. However, Part D prescription
drug formularies must include drugs within each therapeutic caiegory and class of covered Part D drugs, though not necessarily all the drugs in each category or class. Any formulary used by a Part D
prescripion drug plan must be developed and reviewed by a pharmacy and therapentic committee, Government payvment for some of the costs of prescription drugs may increase demand for products
for which we receive marketing approval. However, any negotiated prices for our products covered by a Part D prescription drug plan likely will be lower than the prices we might otherwise obtain,
Mareover, while the MMA applies only to drug benefies for Medicare beneficiaries, private third-party payers often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own
payment rates and in establishing their formulary placement.

Further, on August 16, 2022, President Biden signed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA, into law.
The IRA introduces several changes to the Medicare Pant D benefit, including a limit on annual out-of-pocket costs and a change in manufacturer liability under the program which could negatively
affect the profitability of our product candidates. The IRA sunsets the current Part D coverage gap discount program starting in 2025 and replaces it with a new manufacturer discount program.
Failure to pay a discount under this new program will be subject to a civil monetary penalty. In addition, the IRA establishes a Medicare Part B inflation rebate scheme effective January 2023 and a
Medicare Part D inflation rebate scheme effective October 2022, under which, generally speaking, manufacturers will owe rebates if the price of a Part B or Part D drug increases faster than the pace
of inflation. Failure to timely pay a Part B or D inflation rebate is subject to a civil monetary penalty. The TRA also creates a drug price negotiation program under which the prices for Medicare units
of certain high Medicare spend drugs and biologicals without generic or biosimilar competition will be capped by reference (o, among other things, a specified non-federal average manufacturer price
starting in 2026. Failure w comply with requirements under the drug price negotiation program is subject 1o an excise tax andfor a civil monetary penalty. Congress continues 1o examine various
policy proposals that may result in pressure on the prices of prescription drugs with respect to the government health benefit programs and otherwise. The TRA or other legislative changes could
impact the market conditions for our product candidates.

Human Capital Resources
Human Capital

As of December 31, 2022, we had 87 employees, all of which were full-time employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or covered under a collective
bargaining agreement,

Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and new employees, advisors and consultants.
The principal purposes of our equity and cash incentive plans are to attract, retain and reward personnel through the granting of stock-based and cash-based compensation awards, in order to increase
stockholder value and the success of our company by mativating such individuals to perform ta the best of their abilities and achieve our ohjectives,

Emplayee Development and Training

Our values-based culture and our employees are a critical component of our success. We strive to create a supportive and professional environment for our employees. We expend
considerable management time and avention, and financial resources, o attracting, retaining, and motivating exceptional individuals at our company.

Diversity, Equity, end Inclusion




We are committed 1o creating and maintaining a workplace free from discrimination or harassment on the basis of race, color, citizenship, religion, creed, national origin, ancestry,
gender, sexual orientation, age, marital status, veteran status, disability, medical condition, or any other staws protected by applicable law. Our employment policies and compliance trainings prohibic
such discrimination and harassment. Our management team and employees are also expected to exhibit and promote honest, ethical, and respectful conduct in the workplace. All of our employees
must adhere to a code of business conduct and ethics that sets standards for appropriate behavior and are required o attend annual training on the code of business conduct and ethics.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in November 2016, Our principal executive offices are located at 15440 Laguna Canyon Road, Suite 160, Irvine,
California 92618, Our telephone number is (9497 409-9820. Our website address is www.tarsusrx.com. Information contained on the website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. We have included our website address in this Annual Repom on Form 10-K solely as an inactive textal reference,

Facilities
We currently lease approximately 27,807 square feet of office and laboratory space in Irvine, California under certain leases that last expire in January 2024, with a renewal option for a

term of three years. We believe that this space will be sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseeable future and that any additional space we may require will be available on commercially reasonable
terms.

Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business.
Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us due to defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and other factors.

Item 1A, Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock is speculative and involves o high degree of risk. Before investing in our common stock, you should consider carefully the risks described below, together
with the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our financial statements end the related notes appearing at the end of this Annual Report on Farm 10-K. If any of
the fallowing risks occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects could be matertally and adversely affected. In these circumstances, the market price of
our commor stock could decline, and vou may lose all or part of your investment. The risks described below are not the only ones we foce. Additional risks that we are unaware of, or that we
currently believe are not material, may alse become important foctors that affect us. This Aanual Report on Form 10-K also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertaingies.
Ouwr aciual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of a number of foctors, including the risks described below. See “Special Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements.

Risks Related to our Business and Operations
We currently generate no revenues from sales of any products and may never generate revenue or be profitable.

‘We have no products approved for commercial sale and do not anticipate generating any product revenue, unless and until either TP-03 or another product candidate receives the
regulatory approvals necessary for commercialization in one ar more jurisdictions. Our ahility to generate revenue and achieve profitability depends significantly on our ahility, or any future
collaborator's ability, to achieve a number of challenging objectives, including:

«  timely receipt of regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities for TP-03 or any other product candidates for which we successfully complete clinical development;

»  successful and timely completion of preclinical and clinical development of our product candidates;

< successfully educating ECPs about Demodex blepharitis and related diagnosis;




successful commercial launch following any regulatary approval, including the development of a commercial infrastructure, whether in-house or with one or more collaborators;
commercial acceptance of TP-03 and any of our other product candidates by patients, the medical community and third-party payers;

establishing and maintaining relationships with contract research organizations ("CROs™) and clinical sites for the clinical development, hoth in the U.S. and internationally, of our
product candidates;

making any required post-marketing approval commitments to applicable regulatory authorities;

establishing and maintaining commercially viable supply and manufacturing relationships with third parties that can provide adequate, in both amount and quality, produces and services
to support clinical development and meet the market demand for product candidates that we develop, if approved;

obtaining an IND prior to commencing clinical trials in the U.5. for a particular indication, such as TP-04 for the potential weatment of rosacea (although for TP-04 we first intend to
conduct a Phase 1/2 trial outside the U5, and thus do not plan o submit an IND prior to this trial} and TP-05 for potential Lyme disease prophylaxis and community malaria reduction;

a continued acceptable safety and etficacy profile both prior to and following any marketing approval of our product candidates;

identifying, assessing and developing new product candidates;

obtaining, maintaining and expanding patent protection, rade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity, both in the U.S. and internationally;
protecting our rights in our intellectual property portfolio;

detending against third-party interference or infringement claims, if any;

obtaining favorable terms in any collaboration, licensing or other amrangements that may be necessary or desirable to develop, manufacture or commercialize our existing or acquired
product candidates;

obtaining coverage and adequate reimbursement for customers and patients from government and third-party payers for product candidates that we develop;
addressing any competing therapies and technological and market developments; and

attracting, hiring and retaining qualified personnel.

We may never be successful in achieving our objectives and, even if we do, may never generate revenue that is significant or large enough o achieve profitability. If we do achieve

profitability, we may nat be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis and we will continue to incur substantial research and development and other expenditures to develop
and market additional product candidates. In addition, as a young, business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and unknown challenges. Our
failure to hecome and remain profitable would decrease the value of our company and could impair our ability to maintain or further our research and development efforts, raise additional necessary
capital, grow our business, retain key employees and continue our operations.

We expect to expand our development, regulatory and operational capabilities and potentially implement sales, marketing and distribution capabilities and, as a result, we may encounter
difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our eperations.

As we advance our research and development programs and commercialization efforts, we expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our

operations, particularly in the areas of clinical development, quality, regulatory affairs, manufacturing and quality control and, it TP-03 or any of our other product candidates receives marketing
approval, sales, marketing and distribution, To manage our anticipated future growth, we must:




*  identify, recruit, integrate, maintain and motivate additional qualified personnel;
+  manage our development effors effectively, including the initiation and execution of clinical trials for our product candidates; and

«  improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

Our future financial performance and our ability to develop, manufacture and commerclalize our product candidates will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future
growth, and our management may also have to divent financial and other resources, and a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activi in order o devote a substantial
amount of time, to managing these growth activities, If we do not effectively manage the expansion of our operations, we could experience weaknesses in our infrastructure, operational mistakes, loss
of business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. The expansion of our operations also could lead to significant costs and may divert our
management and business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our operations.

‘We currently rely, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on cemain third-party contract organizations, advisors and consultants to provide certain services,
including assuming substantial responsibilities for the conduct of our clinical trials and the manufacture of our product candidares. We cannot assure you that the services of such third-party contract
arganizations, advisors and consultants will continue 1o be available to us on a timely basis when needed, or that we can find qualified replacements. In addition, if we are unable o effectively
manage our sutsourced activities or if the quality or accuracy of the services provided by our vendors or consultams is compromised for any reason, our clinical rials may be extended, delayved or
terminated, and we may not be able 1w obtain marketing approval of our product candidates or otherwise advance cur business. We cannot assure you that we will be able tw properly manage our
existing vendors or consultants or find other competent outside vendors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at all.

Many of the biotechnology and pharmaceuntical companies that we compete against for qualified personnel and consultants have greater financial and other resources, different risk
profiles and a longer history in the industry than we do. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality personnel and consultants, the rate and success at which we can discover and
develop product candidates and operate our business will be limited. If we are not able to effectively expand our organization by hiring new employees and expanding our groups of consultams and
contractors, we may not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize our product candidates and, accordingly, may not achieve our research,
development and commercialization goals.

Our future success depends on our ability to retain key emplovees, consultants and advisors and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.

‘Wi are highly dependent on the expertise of our executive officers, as well as the other members of our scientific and clinical wams and cenain advisors w develop and soundly execute
our business strategy. Although we have employment offer letters with each of our executive officers, cach of them may terminate their employment with us at any time. We do not maintain key
person insurance for any of our executives or emplovees.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and clinical personnel and, if we are seccessful in obtaining marketing approval for TP-03 or other product candidates, sales and marketing
personnel, are critical to our success. The [oss of the services of our executive officers or other key employees could impede the achievement of our research, development and commercialization
abjectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully implement our business strategy. Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may take an extended
period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required o successfully develop, gain regulatory approval for and commercialize
our product candidates, Competition to hire qualified personnel in our industry is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these key personnel on accepiable terms given the
competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel.

Furthermore, to the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited or that they have divulged proprietary or other
confidential information, or that their former employers own their research outpat, We also experience competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research
institutions. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and development and commercialization strategy. Our
consultants and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contraces with other entities that may limit their availability to us, If
wie are unable to continue to aitract and retain high quality personnel, our ability o pursue
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our growth strategy will be limited, and our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Many of our employees have become or will become vested in a substantial amount of our common stock or a number of common stock options. Our employees may be maore likely w©
leave us if the shares they own have significantly appreciaved in value relative to the original purchase prices of the shares, or if the exercise prices of the options that they hold are significantly below
the market price of our common stock. Our future success also depends on our ability to continue to attract and retain additional executive officers and other key employees,

Our internal information technology systems, or those of our third-party CROs or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, loss or leakage of data, and other
disruptions, which could result in a material disruption of our product candidates' development prog B np sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing
critical information, potentially exposing us to liability or otherwise adversely affecting our business,

[

We are increasingly dependent upon information technology svstems, infrastructure and data to operate our business, [n the ordinary course of business, we collect, store and transmit
confidential information (including but not limited to intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal information), It s critical that we do so in a secure manner to maintain the
confidentiality and integrity of such confidential information. We also have outsourced elements of our operations to third parties, and as a result we manage a number of third-party contractors who
have access to our confidential information.

Despite the implementation of security measures, given their size and complexity and the increasing amounts of confidential information that they maintain, our internal information
wechnology systems and those of our third-party CROs and other contractors and consultants are potentially vulnerable to breakdown or other damage of interruption from service interruptions,
system malfunction, natural disasters, interruptions or cyber incidents resulting from the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, terrorism, war and telecommunication and elecirical failures, as well as
security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees, contractors, consultants, business partners, and/or other third parties, or from cyber-attacks by malicious third parties
(including the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware, denial-of-service attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of information), which may compromise our system infrastructure or lead to data leakage. Further, due to the political uncertainty involving Russia and Ukraine, there is an increased
likelihood that escalation of tensions could result in cyber attacks that could either directly or indirectly impact our operations. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a
loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur hability and reputational damage and the further development and
commercialization of our drug candidates could be delayed.

‘While we have not experienced any such system failure, accident or security breach w date, we cannot assure vou that our data protection efforts and our investment in information
technology will prevent significant breakdowns, data leakages, breaches in our systems or other cyber incidents that could have a material adverse effect upon our reputation, business, operations or
financial condition, whether due 1o a loss of our trade secrets or other proprietary information or other similar disruptions. For example, if such an event were 1o occur and cause interruptions in our
operations, it could result in a material disruption of our programs and the development of our product candidates could be delayed. In addition, the loss of clinical trial data for our product candidates
could result in delays in our marketing approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data, Furthermore, significant disruptions of our internal information
technology systems or security breaches could result in the loss, misappropriation, andfor unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of, or the prevention of access to, confidential information (including
trade secrets or other intellectual property, proprietary business information, and personal information), which could result in financial, legal, business, and reputational harm to us. For example, any
such event that leads to unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of personal information, including personal information regarding our clinical trial subjects or emplovees, could harm our reputation
directly, compel us o comply with federal and/or state breach notification laws and foreign law equivalents, subject us o mandatory comrective action, and otherwise subject us o liability under laws
and regulations that protect the privacy and security of personal information, including private lawsuits or class actions under the California Consumer Privacy Act, which could result in significant
legal and financial exposure and reputational damages that could potentially have an adverse effect on our business.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial linbilities, could divert our resources and could limit or delay our commerciolization of any product candidates that we
may develop.

‘We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical trials and will face an even greater risk if we commercially sell any
products that we may develop. While we currently have no products that have been approved for commercial sale, the use of product candidates by us in clinical trials, and the sale of any approved
products in the future, may expose us o liability claims, These claims might be made by patients that use the




product, healthcare providers, phammaceutical companies or others selling such products, On occasion, large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsnits based on products that had
unanticipated adverse effects. 1f we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that our product candidates or products caused injuries, we could incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of
merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in;

= delay, variation or termination of clinical trials;

+  decreased demand for any product candidates or products thar we may develop;

»  withdrawal of regulatory approval, recall, restriction on the approval or a black box waming or contraindication for an approved drug;

«  injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

+  withdrawal of clinical trial subjects;

«  initiation of investigations by regulators;

+  significant costs 1w defend the related litigation and diversion of management’s time and our resources;

+  substantial monetary awards to study subjects or patients;

+  product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

«  loss of revenue; and

+  the inability or delay of our efforts t commercialize any products that we may develop.

Although we maintain product liahility insurance coverage, it may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We anticipate that we will need to increase our insurance
coverage as our product candidates advance through clinical wials and if we successfully commercialize any produces. Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive, thus we may not be able o
maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount adequate o satisfy any liability that may arise. If a successiul clinical trial or product liability claim or series of claims is brought
against us for uninsured liabilities or in excess of insured liabilities, our assets may not be sfficient to cover such claims and our business operations could be impaired.

Our employees, independent contractors, including our CROs and CMOs, commercial partners, consultants, suppliers, service providers, and other vendors may engage in misconduct or other

improper activities, including nonc liance with laiory dards and requirements, which could have an adverse effect on our resulis of operations.

‘We are exposed to the risk that our emplayees, independent contractors, including our CROs and CMOs, commercial partners, consultants, suppliers, service praviders, and other vendors
may engage in misconduct or other illegal actvity, Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or other unauthorized activities that violate the laws and
regulations of the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory anthorities, including those laws that requine the reporting of true, complete, and accurate information to such foreign regulatory
authorities; manutacturing standards; U.5. federal and state healthcare frand and abuse, data privacy laws and other similar non-UL5. laws; or laws that require the true, complete, and accurate
reporting of financial information or data. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use or misrepresentation of information ohtained in the course of clinical trials, the creation of
fraudulent data in our nonclinical studies or clinical trials, or illegal misappropriation of product, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation, It is not always
possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third-parties, and the precautions we take to detect and prevem this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or
unmanaged risks or fosses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or ather actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure o be in compliance with such laws or regulations. In addition, we
are subject o the risk that a person or government could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none eccurred. I any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business and financial results, including, without limitation, the imposition of significant civil,
criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgements, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other U.S. healthcare programs, imprisonment, other
sanctions, contractual damages, reputational harm, future eamings and curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability o operate our business and our resules of
operations.

7




The COVID-19 pandemic, which began in late 2019 and has spread worldwide, may continue to affect our abift.ry o mmau nnd complete p.reﬂ.‘mmls.ru:l[es amf d.'nlmf n‘bals. d!.sru,pr regulatory
activities, disrupt our manufacturing and sumliy chain or have other adverse effects on our business and op In this p cau up in the financial
markets and may adversely impact economies worldwide, both of which could result in adverse effects on our business and operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic, which began in December 2019 and has spread worldwide, caused many governments to implement measures to slow the spread of the outbreak through
quaraniines, travel restrictions, heightened border scrutiny and other measures. The outhreak and government measures taken in response have also had a significant impact, both directly and
indirectly, on businesses and commerce, as warker shortages have occurred, supply chains have been disrupted, facilities and production have been suspended, and demand for certain goods and
services, such as medical services and supplies, has spiked, while demand for other goods and services, such as wravel, has fallen. The future progression of the autbreak and its effeces on our business
and aperations are uncertain,

Our business, operations and clinical development timelines and plans have been and could continue to be adversely affected by COVID-19, and could be adversely impacted by other
health epidemics in regions where we have concentrations of clinical rial sites or other business operations, and could canse significant disruption in the operations of CROs upon whom we rely. The
COVID-19 pandemic has affected multiple countries worldwide, including those where we have planned and ongping preclinical studies and clinical trials, In addition, in response o the COVID-19
pandemic, many state, local and foreign governments put in place quarantines, executive orders, shelter-in-place orders and similar government orders and restrictions in order to control the spresd of
the disease. Such orders or restrictions, and the perception that such orders or restrictions could continue or, after being lifted, be reinstated for a period of time, have resulted in business closures,
work stoppages, slowdowns and delays, work-from-home policies, ravel restrictions and cancellation of events, among other effects that could negatively impact productivity and disrupt cur business
and operations. While some of the orders and restrictions have been lifted, we cannot be certain that such orders and restrictions will not be reinstated in the future. We have implemented a
vaccination policy for our employees and have also implemented enhanced wavel-safe policies for our employees® travel o our clinical sites. We may take further actions that alter our operations as
may be required by federal, state or local authorities, or which we determine are in the best interests of our employees,

Maoreover, our clinical development timelines and plans could be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic as we and the third-party manufacturers and clinical research organizations that we
engage may face disruptions. Site initiation and patient enrollment could be delayed or suspended due to prioritization of hospital resources toward the COVID-19 pandemic or patients not having a
desire to enroll in clinical wials due 1o concerns regarding COVID-19. While we have not experienced any material delays in enrollment, we cannot be certain that we will not experience future delays
in enrollment. In addition, some patients may not be able to comply with clinical trial protocols and the ability to conduct follow up visits with treated patients may be limited if patients do not want
to participate in follow up visits due to concerns regarding COVID-19 or if quarantines impede patient movement or interrupt healthcare services, There may be shortages in the raw materials used in
the manufacturing of our product candidates or laboratory supplies for our preclinical studies and clinical trials, in each case, because of ongoing efforts to address the outbreak,

We cannot assure that the inability to collect such clinical data would not have an adverse impact on our clinical trial results, Similarly, our ability to recruit and retain patients and
principal investigators and site staff wha, as healthcare providers, may have heightened exposure to COVID-19 could be adversely impacted.

We may experience disruptions that could severely impact our business, preclinical studies, and clinical trials, including:
= delays in receiving approval from local regulatory authorities to initiate our planned clinical trials, including receiving any required "IND";
+  delays or difficulties in enrolling and retaining patients in our clinical trials;
+  delays or difficulties in clinical site initiation, including difficulties in recruiting clinical site investigators and clinical site staff;
+  manufacturing disruptions;
+ delays in clinical sites receiving the supplies and materials needed to conduct our clinical rials;

+  delays In the mansport of clinical rial materials;




changes in local regulations as part of a response to the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic which may require us to change the ways in which our clinical trials are conducted, which may
result in unexpected costs, or to discontinue the clinical rials aliogether;

diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical trials, including the diversion of hospitals serving as our clinical trial sites and hospital staff supporting the conduct
of our clinical trials;

difficulties recruiting or retaining patients for our planned clinical trials If patients are affected by the virus or are fearful of visiting or traveling to clinical trial sites because of the
outbreak;

interruption of or changes in key clinical trial activities, such as clinical trial site monitoring, implementation of virtual monitoring, use of local testing labs, or home delivery of study
drugs, due 1o limitations on travel imposed or recommended by federal or state governments, employers and others, use of new digital technologies for subject visits or interruption of
clinical rial subject visits and study procedures, the occurrence of which could affect the integrity of clinical wial data;

risk that participants enrolled in our clinical trials will acquire COVID-19 while the clinical trial is ongoing, which could impact the results of the clinical trial, including by increasing
the number of observed adverse events;

delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other impontant agencies and contractors due to limitations in employee resources or forced furlough of
government employees;

limitations in emplovee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our clinical tials, including because of sickness of employees or their families or the desire of
employees to avoid contact with large groups of people;

interruption or delays in the operations of the FDA which may impact review and approval timelines;
delays in regulatory approvals for our product candidates due to the FDA focusing on clinical trials related o therapies and vaccines targeting COVID-19;

refusal of the FDA o accept dara, including from clinical trials in affected geographies or failure to comply with updated FDA guidance and expectations related to the conduct of
clinical trials during the COVID-19 pandemic; and

intermuption or delays to our sourced discovery and clinical activities.

The response to the COVID-19 pandemic may redirect resources with respect to regulatory matters in a way that would adversely impact our ability to pursue marketing approvals, In

addition, we may face impediments to regulatory meetings and potential approvals due to measures intended to limit in-person interactions. Furthermare, third parties, including manufacturers,
medical institutions, clinical investigators, CROs and consultants with whom we conduct business, are similarly adjusting their operations and assessing their capacity in light of the COVID-19
pandemic. If these third parties continue to experience shutdowns or business disruptions, our ability to conduct our business in the manner and on the timelines presently planned could be materially
and negatively impacted.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our business, clinical trials, results of operations and financial condition will depend on future developments, which are highly

uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not limited 1o, the duration of the pandemic, its severity, the actions to contain the vins or address its impact, and how quickly and 1o what extent
government orders and mandates are lifted and normal economic and operating activities can resume. Furthes, while the potential economic impact brought by and the duration of COVID-19 may be
difficult 1o assess or predict, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulied in significam disruptions of global financial markets, which could reduce our ability to access capital, which could in the future
negatively affect our liquidity. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, clinical trials, results of operations and financial condition, it may also have the effect of
heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section. The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain and subject to change.
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We or the third parties upon whom we depend on may be adversely affected by earthquakes, fires or other natural disasters, or geopolitical events and our business continuity and disaster
recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster.

Any unplanned event, such as earthgualkes, fives, flood, explosion, extreme weather, medical epidemic, pandemics, power outages, telecommunication failures, war or other military
conflict, terrorist activities or other natural or manmade accidents or incidents could severely dismupt our operations, and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects. 1f a natural disaster, power outage or ather event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our headquarters, that damaged critical infrastructure,
such as the manufacturing facilities of our third-party contract manufacturers, or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may be difficult or, in cerlain cases, impossible for us to continue our business
for a substantial period of time. The disaster recovery and business continuity plans we have in place currently are limited and are unlikely to prove adeguate in the event of a serious disaster or
similar event. We may incur substantial expenses as a result of the limited nature of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which, particularly when aken together with our lack of
earthguake insurance, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Unfavarable global economic conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our resulis of operations could be adversely affected by general conditions in the global economy and in the global financial markets. The economic downturn resulting from the COVID-
19 pandemic precipitated a global recession, and together with high rates of inflation and energy supply issues experienced in certain regions, have led to regional and/or global macroeconomic
challenges, the effects of which may be of an extended duration. [n particular, acute rising energy costs may further adversely affect productivity and economic conditions in Europe, Additionally,
financial pressures may cause government or ather third-party pavers (o more aggressively seek cost containment measures in healthcare and other settings. As a result of global economic conditions,
same third-party payers may delay or be unable to satisfy their reimbursement ohligations, Job losses or other economic hardships (including inflation) may also affect patients’ ability to afford
healthcare as a result of increased co-pay or deductible obligations, greater cost sensitivity 1o existing co-pay or deductible obligations, lost healthcare insurance coverage or for other reasons. We
believe such conditions have led and could continue to lead to reduced demand for our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our product sales, business and resulis of operations.
The current inflationary environment related to increased aggregate demand, supply chain constraints and the effects from the armed conflict in Ukraine (including the effects of the sanctions that
were implemented in response o the conflict and the resulting impacts on the commodity market and supply chains) have also increased our operating expenses and may continue o affect our
operating expenses. Our operational costs, including the cost of energy, materials, labor, distribution and our other operational and facilities costs are subject to market conditions and are being
adversely affected by inflationary pressures. Economic conditions may also adversely affect the ability of our distributors, customers and suppliers to obtain the liquidity required to buy inventory or
raw materials and to perform their obligations under agreements with us, which could disrupt our operations. Although we monitor our distributors’, customers” and suppliers” financial condition and
their liguidity to mitigate our business risks, some of our distributors, customers and suppliers may become insolvent, which could have a material adverse effect on our product sales, business and
results of operations. A significant worsening of global economic conditions could precipitate or materially amplify the other risks described herein,

We maintain a significant portfolio of investments disclosed as cash equivalents and marketable securities on our accompanying Balance Sheets, The global spread of COVID-19 has alsa led to
disruption and volatility in the global capital markets, The value of our investments may also be adversely affected by interest rate fluctuations, inflation, downgrades in credit ratings, illiquidity in the
capital markets and other factors that may result in other-than-temporary declines in the value of our investments. Any of those events could cause us to record impairment charges with respect 1o our
investment portfolio or to realize losses on sales of invesiments,

Risls Related to our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital

We have incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant expenses and losses for the foreseeable
furture.

‘We do nat have any products approved for sale, we have not generated any revenue from sales of our products and have incurred net losses each year since our company*s formation in
2016, We have funded our operations primarily from the sale and issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock, convertible promissory notes and the sale of our common stock in our initial
public offering ("IPO") and in a subsequent follow-on offering in May 2022 {the “Follow-On Public Offering™), as well as proceeds from our China Out-License and draws on our Credit Facility
(defined below). For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, our net losses were $62.1 million and $13.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had an
accumulated deficit of $108.8 million and $46.7 million, respectively. Additionally, the net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter such that a period-to-period comparison
of our results of operations may not e a good indicator of our future performance. The size of our future net losses will depend, in par, on the




rate of future growth of our expenses and our ability to generate revenue, We expect that it will be over a year or more, if ever, before we have a product candidate ready for commercialization. We
expect to incur increasing levels of operating losses over the next several years and for the foreseeable future as we advance and commercialize, if approved, our product candidates, Our prior losses,
combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our accumulated deficit and working capieal,

‘We expect (o continue incurring significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. We expect that our expenses will increase substantially it and as we:

+  establish a sales, marketing, and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may ohtain marketing approval, including TP-03 for the potential treatment for
Demodex blepharitis;

+  enhance our product development and planned fure commercialization efforts, including through hiring additional clinical, regulatory, quality control and scientific personnel;
»  seek marketing approvals and reimbursement for our product candidates;

«  prepare for and initiate additional preclinical, clinical and other studies for our product candidates;

+  change or add additional manufacturers or suppliers, some of which may require additional permits or other governmental approvals;

+  create additional infrastructure to support our operations as a public company, including adding operational, financial and management information systems and personnel;

+  seek o identifly, assess, acquire or develop additional product candidates;

+  acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;

»  make milestone or other payments in connection with the development or approval of our product candidates;

«  maintain, pretect, enforce and expand our intellectual property portfolio; and

*  experience any delays or encounter issues with any of the above,

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with biopharmaceutical product development, we are unable to accurately predict the timing or amount of increased expenses
or when, or if, we will be able to achieve profitability, Our expenses could increase beyond our expectations if, among ather things:

+  there are any delays in establishing appropriate manufacturing arrangements for or completing the development of any of our product candidates;
+  we are required hy regulatory authorities to perform clinical trials or studies in addition to, or different than, those that we currently expect; ar
= there are any third-party challenges o our intellectual property or we need o defend against any intelleciual property-related claim.
Even if we obtain regulatory approval for and are successful in commercializing one or more of our product candidates, we expect to incur substantial additional research and
development and other expenditures o develop and market additional product candidates or to expand the approved indications of any marketed product. We may encounter unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our business.

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for you to evaluate the success of our business to dote ond to assess our future viability.

‘We commenced activities in 2016, Our limited operating history may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business w date and to assess our future viability. Our operations to
date have been limited to arganizing our company, raising capital, identifying and developing product candidates, establishing licensing arrangements andf/or acquiring necessary
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technology, undertaking research, preclinical studies and clinical tials of our product candidates, establishing arrangements for the manufacture of product candidates and longer-term planning for
potential commercialization of our product candidates, including TP-03 for the potential treatment of Demodex blepharitis. Our prospects must be considered in light of the uncertainties, risks,
expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in their early stages of operations. We have limited experience in and have not yet demonstrated our ability o obtain marketing
approvals, manufacture a commercial scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales, marketing and distribution activities necessary for successful product
commercialization. Consequently, any predictions you make about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history or a history of
successfully developing, obtaining marketing approval for and commercializing products. In addition, as our business grows, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications,
delays and other known and unknown obstacles. We will need to transition at some point from a company with a research and development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial
activities, We may not be successful in such a transition.

We may need to obtain additional funding to complete the develoy it and any commercialization of our product candidates, if approved. If we are unable to raise this necessary capital when
needed, we would be forced io dﬁa}: reduce or eliminate our product development programs, commercialization efforts or other operations.

Since gur inception, we have funded our operations through private placements of preferred stock, convertible promissory notes, the sale of sur commaon stock in our IPO and our Follow-
On Public Offering, as well as proceeds from our China Out-License and draws on our Credit Facility. Over the next few vears, we expect our expenses 10 increase substantially and we will require a
larger amount of capital to fund the development of our product candidates. As our product candidates enter and advance through preclinical siudies and clinical wials, we will need substantial
additional funds to expand our clinical, regulatory, quality and manufacturing capabilities, In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur
significant commercialization expenses related to marketing, sales, manufacturing and distribution, Furthermaore, as a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other costs associated
with operating as a public company,

We believe that our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $217.0 million as of December 31, 2022 is sufficient to fund our current and planned operations for at least the
next twelve months from the date of filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These funds together with the $5.0 millien of expected proceeds from the China Out-License during 2023, and available
funds under our Credit Facility, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements at least into the second half of 2026. Further, we believe our existing cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities will be insufficient for us to concurrently fund the commercialization of TP-03, if approved, for the patential weatment of Demodex blepharitis and continue o
develop our ather product candidates.

We will need to raise substantial additional capital w complete the development and commercialization of our other product candidates through ene or more of; equity offerings, draws
from our Credit Facility, marketing and distribution arrangements and other collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements or other sources.

We may need to raise additional funds earlier than currently anticipated if we choose o pursue additional indications for our product candidates, acquire new product candidates or
atherwise expand our business more rapidly than we presently planned. We have based these estimates on assumptions that may prove to be incormect or require adjustment because of our ongoing
business decisions, and we could utilize our available capital reseurces sooner than we currently expect. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

+  the scope and costs of manufacturing development and commercial manufacturing activities and our ability to scale them up;
+  the scope, rate of progress, costs and results of our drug discovery, preclinical development activities, laboratory testing and clinical trials for our product candidates;
+  the number and scope of clinical programs we decide to pursue;

= the extent to which we acguire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;

+  the cost, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates, including the potential for regulatory authorities to require that we conduct more studies and trials than
those that we currently expect w conduct and the costs of post-marketing studies or risk evaluation and mitigation strategies that could be required by regulatory authorities;




+  potential changes in the regulatory environment and enforcement rules;

*  the cost and timing of establishing sales and marketing capabilities, if any of our product candidates receive marketing approval;

+  the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual property-related claims;

= our ability o establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, i ar all;

+  our ahility to satisfy our outstanding debt obligations;

*  our effors w enhance operational systems and our ability w ateract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including personnel w support the development of our product candidates;
+  potential changes in pharmaceutical pricing and reimbursement infrastructure;

»  the costs assockated with being a public company; and

«  the cost associated with commencializing our product candidates, if they receive marketing approval,

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials is a time consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes yvears to complete, and we
may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve adequate product sales or commercial
success, We expect to commercialize TP-03 for the treatment of Demaodex blepharitis during the second half of 2023, but could experience delays with approval, Accordingly, we will need w
cantinue o sustain our existing capital resources to fund our future eperating expenses and capital expenditure requirements, Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable
terms, or at all, and may be impacted by the economic climate and market conditions. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on attractive terms, we would be forced o delay, limit, reduce or
eliminate our research and development programs or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market
ourselves, In addition, attempting to secure additional financing may divert the time and attention of management from day-to-day activities and distract from our research and development efforts.
Alternatively, we may seek additional capital due w favorable market conditions or sirategic considerations, even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans.

In February 2022 we executed a loan and security agreement (the "Credit Facility), as amended in January 2023 (see Note 10) with Hercules Capital, [nc. (*Hercules™) and Silicon Valley
Bank {“SVB"). Concurrent with the execution of the Credit Facility, the Company made a 520.0 million draw. As of December 31, 2022, the Credit Facility provides for a remaining aggregate
principal amount of up to $135.0 million with ranched availability as follows: $25.0 million related to the NDA submission for TP-03, $35.0 million upon FDA approval of TP-03, 550.0 million
upon achievement of product net revenue thresholds, and $25.0 million upon lender approval. On March 15, 2023 we made a $5.0 million draw (including SVB's commitment of $1.25 million) from
the $25.0 million tranche associated with the NDA submission of TP-03. Each of the tranches may be drawn down in $5.0 million increments at our election. As reporied elsewhere, on March 10,
2023, SWVEB was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or the FDIC, as receiver, and SVB was
subsequently transferred into a new entity, Silicon Valley Bridge Bank, N.A. On March 12, 2023, the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointly released a statement that
depositors at SV B would have access to their funds, even those in excess of the standard FDIC insurance limits, under a systemic risk exception, Such parties also announced, among ather items, that
Silicon Valley Bridge Bank has assumed the obligations and commitments of former SVE, commitments to advance under existing credit agreements will be honored in accordance with and pursuant
to the terms of such credit agreements and any other duties or oles under existing credit agreements will be performed by Silicon Valley Bridge Bank in accordance with and pursuant to the erms of
such credit facilities. However there can be no assurances that the closure of SVB, or any other financial institution, or any related impacts across the financial services industry will not adversely
affect our ability to access the additional the additional availability under the Credit Facility.

Raoising additional capital may couse dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinguish rights to our technologies or product c

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through possible combinations of equity offerings, debt financings,
collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing




arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted and the terms of these securities may
include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common swockholder. For example, in May 2022, we completed the Follow-0On Public Offering, in which received wial
gross proceeds of §79.5 million (before underwriting discounts, commissions and other estimated offering expenses) through the issuance of 5.% million shares of our common stock, Debt financing,
if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions. For example, the Credit Facility restricts our ability to pursue certain transactions
that we may believe 1 be in our best interests without the prior written consent of Hercules and SVB, including but not limited to, incurring additional indebtedness (subject wo certain exceptions with
respect to issuing convertible indebtedness), incurring additional liens (including a negative pledge on intellectsal property), engaging in mergers, acguisitions and consolidations; conducting assed
sales or exclusively licensing our assets in a transaction that constitutes legal transfer to such licensee, making investments and loans, engaging in certain corporate changes, transacting with affiliates,
declaring dividends or making other distributions, and making payments on certain other indebtedness.

If we raise funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinguish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue
streams, research programs or product candidates or gramt licenses on terms that may not be favorable w us. 1f we raise funds through research grants, we may be subject to centain requirements,
which may limit our ability to use the funds or require us 1o share information from our research and development. Raising additional capital through any of these or other means could adversely
affect our business and the holdings or rights of our stockholders, and may cause the market price of our shares 10 decline, If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt lnancings
when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we
wiould otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves,

Adverse developments affecting the financiol services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance by financial institutions or transactional
counterparties, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial instirutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in the
financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumars about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead
market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, SVE was clased by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation, or the FDIC, as receiver, and SVB was subsequently transferred into a new entity, Silicon Valley Bridge Bank, N.A. On March 12, 2023, the Department of the Treasury, the
Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointy released a statement that depositors at SVB would have access to their funds, even those in excess of the standard FDIC insurance limits, under a systemic risk
exception. Such parties also announced, among other items, that Silicon Valley Bridge Bank has assumed the obligations and commitments of former SVB, commitments to advance under existing
credit agreements will be honored in accordance with and pursuant to the terms of such credit agreements and any other duties or roles under existing credit agreements will be performed by Silicon
Valley Bridge Bank in accordance with and pursuant to the terms of such credit facilities. A similar structure was established for Signature Bank.

‘We currently maintain cash held in deposit at third-party financial institutions in the U5, including at SVB. These deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(FDIC) in an amount up to $250,000 for any depositor (and with respect w0 SVEB are fully insured per recent correspondence from the FDIC), and any cash deposits in excess of this insured amount
could be lost. To the extent we hold cash deposits in amounts that exceed the FDIC insurance limitation, in the event of a failure of any of the financial institutions where we maintain deposits, we
may incur a loss to the extent such loss exceeds the FDIC insurance limitation, and such a failure could have a material adverse effect upon our liquidity, operations and our results of operations.

Additionally, we and other parties with whom we conduct business may be unable 1o access funds in such deposit account or other accounts, including money market funds, held with a
financial institetion or lending arrangements with such a financial institution. Our ability and any of our counter-party”s ability o pay their obligations o us or to enter into new commercial
arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected. In this regard, counterparties 1o SVB credit agreements and arrangements, and third parties such as beneficiaries of
letters of credit (among others), may experience direct impacts from financial institutions in the future and uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry,

Inflation and rapid increases in interest rates have led w a decline in the rading value of previously issued government securities with interest rates below current market interest rates.
Although the U.5. Department of Treasury, FDIC and Federal Reserve Board have announced a program to provide up to 25 billion of loans w financial institutions secured by certain of such
government securities held by financial institutions to mitigate the risk of potential losses on the sale of such




instruments, widespread demands for customer withdrawals or other liquidity needs of financial institutions for immediately liquidity may exceed the capacity of such program. There is no guarantee
that the 1.5, Department of Treasury, FDIC and Federal Reserve Board will provide access w uninsured funds in the future in the event of the closure of other banks or financial institutions, or that
they would do so in a timely fashion,

Our existing indebtedness may limit our flexibility in financing and operating our business and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In February 2022 we entered into the Credit Facility with Hercules and SVB, as amended on January 5, 2023, As of December 31, 2022, the Credit Facility provides for a remaining aggregate
principal amount of up to $135.0 million with ranched availability. In addition to these amounts, we may borrow substantial funds in the future o provide a portion of the capital needed in our
business and may secure the repayment of such borrowings by placing additional liens or other encumbrances on our assets. Owr Credit Facility contains cuswomary conditions o borrowing, events of
default and affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness, incur additional liens, conduct asset sales or exclusively license our asseis
in a transaction that constitutes legal ransfer 1o such licensee, make investmenis and loans, engage in certain corporate changes, transact with affiliates, or declare dividends or make other
distributions to holders of our stock, Such restrictions could limit our ability to take certain actions and could reduce our flexibility to run and manage our business which could have an adverse effect
on our results of operations. The obligations under the Credit Facility are secured by a first priority lien on substantially all of our assets, excluding our intellectual property on which there is a
negative pledge, subject to customary exceptions, If we were unable to repay amounis due under the Credit Facility, Hercules and SVB could praceed against such assets. Any declaration by Hercules
or 5VB of an event of default could significantly harm owur business and prospects and could cause the price of our common stock to decline,

We may engage in acquisitions or strategic partnerships that could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders, reduce our financial resources, cause or to incur debt or assume
contingent liabilities, and subject us to other risks.

In the future, we may enter into transactions to acquire other businesses, products or technologies or enter into sirategic partnerships, including licensing. If we do identify suitable
acquisition or partnership candidates, we may not be able to make such acquisitions or parmerships on favorable terms, or at all. Any acquisitions or partnerships we make may not sirengthen our
competitive position, and these transactions may be viewed negatively by customers or investors, We may decide to incur debt in connection with an acquisition or issue our commaon stock or other
equity securities to the stockholders of the acquired company, which would reduce the percentage ownership of cur existing stockholders. For example, our Credit Facility may restrict our ability o
pursue certain mergers, acquisitions or consolidations without obtaining the prior consent of Hercules and SVB or repaving our outstanding loan amounts.

‘We could incur losses resulting from undiscovered liabilides of the acquired business or partnership that are not covered by the indemnification we may obtain from the seller or our
partner. In addition, we may not be able to successfully integrate any acquired personnel, technologies and operations into our existing business in an effective, timely and non-disruptive manner.
Acquisitions or partnerships may also divert management attention from day-to-day responsibilities, lead to a loss of key personnel, increase our expenses and reduce our cash available for operations
and other uses, We cannot predict the number, timing or size of future acquisitions or partnerships or the effect that any such transactions might have on our operating results,

Qur ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

‘We have incurred substantial losses during our history which we expect to continue, do not expect o become profitable in the near future, and we may never achieve profitabilicy. Under
Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point
change (by value) in its equity ownership by certain stockholders over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards (*INOLs"), and other pre-
change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to offset its post-change income or taxes may be limited, We have not yet completed an ownership change analysis. If a requisite ownership change
occurs, the amount of remaining tax attribute carryforwards available to offset taxahle income and reduce income tax expense in future years may be restricted or eliminated, Similar provisions of
state tax law may also apply o limit our use of accumulated state tax aributes, In addition, at the state level, there may be periods during which the use of NOLs is suspended or otherwise limited,
which could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed. As a resull, even i we anain profitability, we may be unable to use a material portion of sur NOLs and other tax attributes, which
could adversely affect our future cash flows.

U.S. federal income tax reform and the implementation of such reforms could adversely affect us.
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On December 22, 2017, the U.S, enacted the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act” (the * TCIA”) that significantly reformed the Code, The TCJA, among other things, includes contained significant
changes to corporate taxation, including a reduction of the corporate tax rate from a wp marginal rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%, the limitation of the tax deduction for net interest expense to 30% of
adjusted earnings (except for certain small businesses), the limitation of the deduction for NOLs arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 to 806 of current year taxable income and
elimination of NOL camrybacks for losses arising in taxable years ending after December 31, 2007 (though any such NOLs may be carried forward indefinitely), the imposition of a one-time taxation
of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless of whether they are repatriated, the elimination of U5, tax on [oreign eamings (subject to certain important exceptions), the allowance of immediate
deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense aver time, and the modification or repeal of many business deductions and credits. The financial statements
contained herein reflect the effects of the TCIA based on current guidance. However, there remain uncertainties and ambiguities in the application of certain provisions of the TCJA, and, as a result,
we made certain judgments and assumptions in the interpretation thereof,

As part of Congress’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (“FFCR Act”) was enacted on March 18, 2020, and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted on March 27, 2020. Both contain numerous tax provisions. In particular, the CARES Act retroactively and temporarily (for taxable years
beginning before January 1, 2021) suspends application of the 80%-of-income limitation on the use of NOLs, which was enacted as part of the TCIA, It also provides that NOLs arising in any taxable
year beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021 are generally eligible to be carried back up to five years, The CARES Act also temporarily (for taxable years beginning in 2019 or
2020) relaxes the limitation of the tax deductibility for net interest expense by increasing the limitation from 30% to 50% of adjusted taxable income.

Regulatory guidance under the TCJA, the FFCR Act and the CARES Act is and continues to be forthcoming, and such guidance could ultimately increase or lessen impact of these laws
on aur business and financial condition. 1t is also likely that Congress will enact additional tax legislation in connection with the COVID-1% pandemic, some of which could have an impact on our
company. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to the TCIA, the FFCR Act or the CARES Act.

Risks Related to Development and C cialization of our Product Candidates

We are heavily dependent on the success of our lead product candidate, TP-03, for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis. If we are unable to successfully ¢ lete the clinical devele
program, obtain regulatory approval for, or commercialize, TP-03, or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

‘We currently have no products that are approved for commercial sale and we have never had any products approved for sale or commercialized. To date, we have invested a substantial
majority of our business effors and financial resources to the preclinical and clinical development of TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis. Our future success is dependent on our ability w
successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval [or, and commercialize TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharits, While the NDA for TP-03 for the potential treatment of Demodex. blepharitis
was accepted by the FDA, with a stated PDUFA decision date of August 25, 2023, we cannot accurately predict when or if TP-03 will be proven w be effective or safe in humans or whether it will
receive regulatory approval. Before we can generate any revenue from sales of TP-03, we will be required to seek and obtain regulatory approval, secure adequate manufacturing supply to suppont
commercial sales and build a commercial organization. Further, the commercial success of TP-03 will also depend on patent protection, successtully educating ECPs about Demodex blepharitis and
related diagnosis, acceptance of TP-03 by patients, the medical community and third-party payers, TP-03"s ability to compete with other therapies, secure adequate healthcare coverage and
reimbursement, and maintenance of an acceptable safety profile following approval, among other factors, If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we could
experience significant delays or an inability 1o successfully commercialize TP-03, which would materially harm our business, If we were required to discontinue development of TP-03, or if TP-03
does not receive regulatory approval, fails to achieve significant market acceptance, or fails to receive adeguate reimbursement, we would be delayed by many years in our ability to achieve
profitability, if ever, and may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to continue our husiness,

Even if TP-03 or any other product candidate that we develop receives marketing approval, we may not be successful in educating ECPs and the market about the need for reatments specifically
for Demodex blepharitis and other diseases or conditions targeted by our product candidates. TP-03 or other product candidates that we may develop may fail to achieve market acceptance by
ECPs, other healthcare providers and patients, or adequate formulary coverage, pricing or reimbursement by third-party payers and others in the medical community, and the market opportunity
for these products may be smaller than we estimate,




If TP-03 or any other product candidate that we are developing or develop receives marketing approval, it may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance by ECPs or other
healthcare providers, patients, third-party payers and others in the medical community. There is no approved prescription therapeutic for Demodex blepharitis and current treatments include over-the-
caunter and off-label remedies such as tea tree oil, lid wipes and artificial tears, as well as off-label prescription products. Efforts to educate the medical community, patients and third-party payers on
the benefits of our product candidates may require significant resources and may not be successful.

The NDA for TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis was accepted by the FDA, with a PDUFA decision date of August 25, 2023, If TP-03 receives FDA or other regulatory
marketing approval, including the treatment of both signs and symptoms of Demaodex blephantis, ECPs and potential patients may not have sufficient information ahout, or recognize the need for a
treatment specifically targeting Demodex blepharitis, it is possible that ECPs may continue to rely on other treatments for treating symptoms consistent with Demodex blepharitis. A key tenet of our
commercialization strategy is to educate ECPs on Demaodex blepharitis and how to diagnose it with a simple slit lamp examination as well as raise patient awareness of Demodex blepharitis.
However, our efforts may prove to be unsuccessful, and we may not be able to develop this new market for which there is no approved treatment. If TP-03 receives FDA or other regulatory marketing
approval, we may siill not achieve success in promational efforts for TP-03, and ECPs may continue to use exisiing reatments rather than TP-03 or any other product candidate and potential patients
may not inguire s wo TP-03, [t s also possible that ECPs and patients may not be willing to adopt TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis because of the possibility that the disease will recur
despite mite eradication and the potential for perindic use of TP-03,

In addition, if generic versions of any products that compete with any of our product candidates are approved for marketing by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, they
would likely be offered at a substantially lower price than we expect to offer for our product candidates, if approved. As a result, ECPs, patients and third-party payers may choose to rely on such
products rather than our product candidates.

It TP-03 or any other product candidate that we develop does not achieve an adeguate level of acceptance, formulary coverage, pricing or reimbursement we may not generate significant
product revenues and we may not become profitable, The degree of market acceptance of TP-03 or any other product candidate that we develop, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a
number of factors, including;

+  the efficacy, safety and potential advantages of our product candidates compared (o alternative treagments, including the existing standard of care, and the perceptions by members of the
healthcare community of the same;

+  our ahility to offer our products for sale at competitive prices, particularly in light of the lower cost of alternative treatments;

= the clinical indications for which the product is approved;

+  the convenience and ease of administration compared o altemnative treatments;

= the willingness of the target patient population to oy new therapies and of ECPs (o prescribe these therapics;

+  the strength and effectiveness of aur marketing and distribution support, which may be adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic;
+  publicity concerning our products of competing products and treatments;

+  the timing of market introduction of competitive products;

= the perception by patients or physicians that the diseases we are targeting, including Demodex blepharitis, are not burdensome;

«  the potential for our competitors to limit our access o the market through anti-competitive contracts or other arrangements;

+  the availability of third-pany formulary coverage and adequate reimbursement;

+  product labeling or product insert requirements of the FDA ar other regulatory authorities;

47




+  the prevalence and severity of any side effects; and

*  any restrictions on the use of our products, if approved, together with other medications.

Ciinical drug develop is a length e and risky process with uncertain timelines and uncertoin outcomes, and results of earlier studies and trials may not be predictive of future
results. If clinical wials of our pmdun mndldurfs do not meet safety or efficacy endpoints or are prolonged or delayed, we may be unable to obtain required regulatory approvals, and therefore
be unable to commercialize our product candidates on a timely basis or at all.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of our product candidates, we must conduct extensive clinical trials 1o demonstrate the safety and efficacy of
the product candidates in humans, The research and development of drugs is an extremely risky industey, Only a small percentage of product candidates that enter the development process ever
receive marketing approval, Failure or delay can occur at any time during the clinical trial process, To date, we have focused substantially all of our efforts and financial resources on identifying,
acquiring, and developing our product candidates, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials. Clinical esting is expensive and can take many years to complete, and we cannot be
certain that any clinical trials will be conducted as planned or completed on schedule, if at all. Furthermore, product candidates are subject to continued preclinical safety studies, which may be
conducted concurrently with our clinical testing. The outcomes of these safety studies may delay the launch of or enrollment in future clinical trials and could impact owr ability 1o continge 1o conduct
our clinical trials. Our inability to successiully complete preclinical and clinical development could result in additional costs o us and negatively impact our ability w generate revenue. Our future
success is dependent on our ability to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for, and then successfully commercialize product candidates. We currently generate no revenues from sales of
any products, and we may never be able to develop or commercialize 3 marketable product.

The resulis of preclinical and early clinical trials of our product candidates and other products with the same mechanism of action may not be predictive of the resulis of later-stage
trials. For example, we may not be able to replicate the safety and efficacy results of our Phase 2b'3 clinical trials for Demodex blepharitis in clinical rials for other indications in the future. CI
trial failure may result from a multitude of factors including flaws in trial design, dose selection, placebo effect, patient enrollment criteria, relativelv smaller sample size in earlier trials, and failure to
demonstrate favorable safety or efficacy traits. As such, failure in clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. A number of companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered setbacks in
the advancement of clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or adverse safety profiles, notwithstanding promising results in earlier wrials, and we cannot be certain that we will not face similar sethacks.
Based upon negative or inconclusive results, we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or preclinical studies. In addition, data obtained from clinical trials are
susceptible to varying interpretations, and regulators may nol interpret our data as favorably as we do, which may further delay, limit or prevent marketing approval. Furthermore, as more product
candidates within a particular class of drugs proceed through clinical development o regulatory review and approval, the amount and type of clinical data that may be required by regulatory
authorities may increase or change. The outcome of preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and preliminary or interim results of a clinical
trial do not necessarily predict final results. For example, our product candidates may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy in clinical development despite positive results in preclinical studies
or having successfully advanced through initial clinical trials. The failure of any of our product candidates to demonstrate safety and efficacy in any clinical trial could negatively impact the
perception of our other product candidates or cause regulatory authorities to require additional testing hefore approving any of our product candidates.

If we are unable to complete preclinical or clinical wials of current or future product candidates, due to safety concerns, or if the results of these trials are not satisfactory to convince
regulatory authorities of their safery or efficacy, we will not be able to obtain marketing approval for commercialization. Even if we are able w obtain marketing approvals for any of our product
candidates, those approvals may be for indications that are not as broad as desired or may contain other limitations that would adversely affect our ability to generate revenue from sales of those
products. Moreaver, if we are not able o differentiate our product against other approved products within the same class of drugs, or if any of the other circumstances described above occur, our
business would be materially harmed and our ability 1o generate revenue from that class of drugs would be severely impaired.

Each of our product candidates will require additional clinical development, management of clinical, preclinical (for some of our product candidates) and/or manufacturing activities,
regulatory approval in multiple jurisdictions, achieving and maintaining commercial-scale supply, building of a commercial organization, substantial investment and significant marketing effors
before we generate any revenues from product sales. We are not permitied to market or promote any of our product candidates before we receive regulatory approval from the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities, and we may never receive such regulatory approval for any of our product candidares. We may experience delays in our ongoing




clinical trials, and we do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin on time, need to be redesigned, enroll patients on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. For example, the FDA had
initially recommended that for TP-03 we conduct carcinogenicity testing and has subsequently agreed in Type C meeting minutes that we can submit a carcinogenicity waiver, and if not granted, the
carcinogenicity testing could be conducted and submitted as a post-marketing requirement. Furthermore, the FDA recommended that we conduct embryofetal development studies in a second species,
which have been completed, Any recommendations by the FDA regarding our applications or clinical trials could cause delay of any regulatory approval by the FDA and cause our expenses to
increase, We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our product
candidates, or any other product candidates that we may develop, including:

we may experience delays in or failure to reach agreement on accepiable terms with prospective CROs, vendors and clinical sites, the terms of which can be subject tv extensive
negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs, vendors and trial sites;

we may fail to obtain sufficient enrollment in our clinical trials, our enrollment needs may grow larger than we anticipate, or participants may fail to complete our clinical trials ata
higher rate than we anticipate;

clinical irials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abanden
product development programs;

we may decide, or regulators or institutional review boards or ethics committees may require us, to suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, including noncompliance
with regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

regulators or institutional review boards or ethics commitiees may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial at a prospective clinical trial site or at all or may
require us o perform additonal or unanticipated clinical trials to obtain approval or we may be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements to maintain regulatory
approval;

regulators may revise the requirements for approving our product candidates, or such requirements may not be as we anticipate;

the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate, and we may need te delay or suspend one or more trials until we complete additional financing
transactions or otherwise receive adeguate funding;

the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical wials of our product candidates may be insufficient or inadequate or may be delayed;

our product candidates may have undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics, causing us or our investigators, regulators or institutional review boards or ethics
commitiees w suspend or terminate trials;

regulatory authorities may determine that the planned design of our clinical trials is flawed or inadequate;

regulatory authorities may suspend or withdraw their approval of & product or impose restrictions on s diseribution;

we may not be able to tmely or at all obtain INDs for a product candidate;

we may modify a preclinical study or clinical wial protocol;

thind-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual ohligations to us in a timely manner, or at all;

we may be unable o establish clinical endpoints that applicable regulatory authorities consider clinically meaningful, or, if we seek accelerated approval, biomarker efficacy endpoints
that applicable regulatory authorities consider likely to predict clinical benefit;
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*  we may experience delays due to the outbreak of health pandemics, including with respect to the conduct of ongoing clinical trials, receipt of product candidates or other materials,
submission of NDAs, filing of INDs, and stanting any clinical trials for other indications or programs; and

+  we may experience manufacwuring delays due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic in our supply chain caused by a shorage of raw materials, a lack of employees on site at our suppliers
due to illness, or a lack of productivity at our suppliers due o local or national government quarantine restrictions on coming, to the workplace.

1f we are required 1o conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently contemplate, if we are unable to successfully complers
clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not positive or are only modestly positive, if there are safety concems or if we determine that the
observed safety or efficacy profile would not be competitive in the marketplace, we may:

«  incur unplanned costs;

«  be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates;

»  not obtain marketing approval at all;

+  obtain marketing approval in some countries and not in others;

*  obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

+  obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety wamnings;
»  be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or

«  have the praduct remaved from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

We cannot be certain whether any of our planned clinical trials will begin on schedule or any preclinical studies we plan to initiate will begin on our intended schedule, or whether any
such studies or clinical trials will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or at all. 1f we experience delays in the completion of, or termination of, any clinical fal of our product
candidates, or are unable to achieve clinical endpoints due to unforeseen events, such as the COYID-19 pandemic, the commercial prospects of our product candidates will be harmed, and our ability
to generate product revenues from any of these product candidates will be delayed. In addition, any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product candidate
development and approval process and jeopardize our ability to commence product sales and generate revenues. Significant clinical trial delays could also allow our competitors to bring products w
market before we do or shorten any periods during which we have the exclusive right to commerclalize our product candidates and impair our ability to commercialize our product candidates and may
harm our business and results of operations.

Our product candidates still require significant testing. We only recently beqan clinical trials to test TP-03 in humaons and, as a company, we have limited experience in this area.

In May 2022, we announced positive topline results from our Satum-2 trial, our second and final TP-03 pivotal trial, which enralled 412 subjects. In addition to the completion of the
Saturn-2 trial, we have completed four Phase 2 wrials and one Phase 2b73 Samrn-1 trial for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis, Most of our operations to date have been limited to preclinical studies
and clinical wrials.

Additionally, we are early in our development efforts for certain of our product candidates and indications, including TP-03 for the treatment of MGD, TP-04 for the teatment of rosacea
and TP-05 for potential Lyme prophylaxis and community malaria reduction. The risk of failure for product candidates in early development is high, Extensive clinical trials are necessary o
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of such product candidates in humans. Clinical trials may fail to demonstrate that such product candidates are safe for humans and effective for indicated uses,
Further, we intend to leverage data from the TP-03 preclinical studies and clinical safety assessments for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis to satisfy the preclinical study requirements for TP-03
for the weatment of MGD, and TP-04 and TP-05 and other indications. For MGD, we recently announced the enrollment of our first patient in the Phase 2 Ersa trial studying TP-03 for the potential
treatment of MGD and we expect 1o report topling results during the second half of 2023, For rosacea, we conducted a Phase 1 clinical study with TP-04 and initiated the Galatea rial, a Phase 2a wial
for the treatment of rosacea in March 2023, With respect (o Lyme disease, in December 2022 we announced positive wpline results from the completed Callisto trial and enrollment of the firse




patient in the Carpo trial. The Carpo trial, evaluating TP-05 for potential Lyme disease prophylaxis in humans, is a randomized, double-blind wrial that will evaluate the efficacy of TP-05 in killing
sterile, non-disease carrying ticks after they have attached to the skin of healthy volunteers, as well as confirm the safety, tolerability, and blood concentration of TP-05. Topline data from the Carpo
trial is expected in the second half of 2023, The FDA may reject our use of data from TP-03 preclinical studies for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis for other indications or require additional
studies to augment the data to advance for clinical development. The FDA may also reject our use of data from preclinical studies conducted by third parties for Lyme disease and require us o
conduct additional preclinical studies before advancing to additional clinical trials. In addition, data from preclinical soudies conducted by third parties may not be as reliable as data from stdies
conducted by us and since we did not conduct the studies, there may be weaknesses in the studies design or results that we may not be aware of,
In part becavuse of our limited infrastructure, experience conducting clinical trials as a company and regulatory interactions, we cannot be certain that our clinical trials will be completed
on time, that our planned clinical trials will be initiated on time, if at all, that our planned development programs would be acceptable to
the FDA or ather comparable foreign regulatory authorities, or that, if approval is obtained, such product candidates can be successfully commercialized.
If we encounter difficulties or delays enrolling patients in our clinical trials, our clinical development activities could be delayed or otherwise adversely affected.
‘We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment in our clinical tials for a variety of reasons, The timely completion of clinical telals in accordance with thelr protocols depends,
among other things, on our ability to enroll a sufficient number of patients who remain in the study until its conclusion. We may experience difficulties in patient enrollment in our clinical wials for a
variety of reasons, The enrollment of patients depends on many factors, including:
+  the patient eligibility criteria defined in the prowocol;
+  szize of the patient population required for analysis of the wial's primary endpoints;
+  the proximity of patients to study sites;
«  the design of the trial;

+  oaur ahility to recruit clinical trial investigators with the appropriate competencies and experience;

+  clinicians’ and patients' perceptions as to the potential advantages of the product candidate being studied in relation w other available therapies, including any new drugs that may be
approved for the indications we are investigating;

*  our ability o obtain and maintain patient consents;

*  costs to, or lack of adequate compensation for, prospective patients;

+  difficulties of enrolling patients or patients continuing to participate in follow-up visits due 1o ongoeing or new health pandemics; and

+  the risk that patients enralled in clinical trials will drop out of the trials before completion.

In addition, our clinical trials may compete with other clinical trials for product candidates that are in the same therapeutic areas as our product candidates, and this competition would

reduce the number and types of
patients available to us, because some patients whao might have opted to enroll in our trials may instead opt to enroll in a trial being conducted by one of our competitors. Since the number of qualified
clinical investigators is limited, we expect to conduct some of our clinical trials at the same clinical trial sites that some of cur competitors use, which will reduce the number of patients who are

available for our clinical trials in such clinical trial site. Moreaver, potential patients and their doctors may be inclined to use existing therapies rather than enroll patients in any future clinical trial.

Delays in patient enrallment may result in increased costs or may affect the timing or outcome of the planned clinical trials, which could prevent completion of these trials and adversely
affect our ability to advance the development af our product candidates.

51




OQur current or future product candidates may cause significant adverse events, toxicities or other undesirable side effects which may delay or prevent marketing approval or cause us to abandon
or limit further clinical development of those product candidates. In addition, if we obtain approval for any of our product candidates, significant adverse events, toxicities or other undesirable
side effects may be identified during posi-marketing surveillance, which could result in latory action or negatively affect our ability to marker the product.

Adverse evenis or other undesirable side effects caused by our product candidates could cause us or regulatory authorities to intermupt, delay or halt clinical wials and could result in a
more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA, the European Commission or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities,

During the conduct of clinical trials, subjects repon changes in their health, Including illnesses, injuries, and discomforts, to their study doctor. Often, it is not possible to determine
whether or not the product candidate being studied caused these conditions. It is possible that as we test our product candidates in larger, longer and more extensive clinical trials, or as use of these
product candidates becomes more widespread if they receive regulatory approval, illnesses, injuries, discomforts and other adverse events that were not observed in earlier trials, as well as conditions
that did not occur or went undetected in previous trials, will be reported by subjects. Many times, side effects are only detectable after investigational products are tested in large-scale, Phase 3 clinical
trials or, in some cases, after they are made available to subjects on a commercial scale after approval.

Our enderstanding of the relationship between our product candidates and these adverse events may change as we gather more information, and additional unexpected adverse events or
an increase in adverse event rates may occur, If additional clinical experience indicates that any of our product candidates have side effects or causes serious or life-threatening side effects, participant

recruitment for trials and the ability of enrolled subjects to complete trials could be negatively impacted, and the development of the product candidate may fail or be delayed, which would severely
harm our business, prospects, operating results and financial condition.

Additionally, if one or more of our product candidates receives marketing approval, and we or others later identify undesirable side effects or adverse events caused by such products, a
number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including, but not limited to:

= regulatory authorities may withdraw approvals of such product or require additional warnings on the label such as a black box warning or a contraindication, or issue satety alerts, Dear
Healthcare Provider letters, press releases or other communications containing warnings or other safety information about the product;

*  the product may be seized by regulatory authorities;
+  there may be a recall of the product;
»  we may be required to change the way the product is administered or conduct additional clinical trials or post-approval studies;

+  we may be required to create and implement a REMS plan, which could include a medication guide cutlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients, a communication
plan for healthcare providers, including ECPs, and/or other elements to assure safe use;

*  the product may become less competitive;
+  we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and
+  our reputation may suffer and there may be resulting harm to physician or patient acceptance of our product.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acoeptance of the panticular product candidate, if approved, and could significantly harm our business, results
of operations, and prospects.

Any termination or suspension of, or delays in the ¢ cement or completion of, our pl d clinical trials could result in increased costs to us, delay or limit our ability to generate revenue
and adversely affect our commerciol prospects.

Before we can initiate clinical trials in the United States for our product candidates, we must submit the results of preclinical testing and any previous clinical studies to the FDA along
with ather information, including information about
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product candidate chemistry, manufacturing and controls (*CMC™) and our proposed clinical wial protocol, as part of an IND. The initiation of clinical trials in the EU Member States will be subject
1o similar requirements concerning approval by competent national authorities and the receipt of a positive opinion from the relevant ethics committees. We do not know whether our planned trials
will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement and completion of clinical trials can be delayed for a number of reasons, including delays related w:

the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities placing the clinical wrial on hold:

subjects failing to enroll or remain in our trial at the rate we expect;

subjects choosing an alternative treatment or other product candidates, or panticipating in competing clinical trials;
lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial;

subjects experiencing severe or unexpected drug-related adverse effects;

failure to demonstrate efficacy of the product;

any interruptions or delays in the supply of our product candidates for our clinical trials;

a facility manufacturing any of our product candidates or any of their componenis being ordered by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to temporarily or permanently
shut down due to violations of cGMP regulations or other applicable requirements, or infections or cross-contaminations of product candidates in the manufacturing process;

any changes to our manufacturing process that may be necessary or desired;
any failure or delay in reaching an agreement with CROs, vendors and clinical trial sites;

third-party clinical investigators losing the licenses or permits necessary o perform our clinical trials, mot performing our clinical rials on our anticipated schedule or consistent with the
clinical trial protocol, good clinical practices (“GCP™) or regulatory requirements or other third parties not performing data collection or analvsis in a timely or accurate manner;

third-party contractors becoming debarred, disqualified or suspended or otherwise penalized by the FDA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities for violations of applicable
regulatory requirements, in which case we may need to find a substitute contractor, and we may not be able to use some or all of the data produced by such contractors in support of our
marketing applications;

ane or more Institutional Review Boards ("IRBs™), other ethics ¢ i refusing o app 3
additional subjects, or withdrawing its approval of the wial; or

g or terminating the wial at an investigational site, precluding enroliment of

changes in regulatory requitements and policies, which may require us to amend clinical trial protocals to comply with these changes and resubmit our clinical trial protocols to 1RBs or
ethics ¢ i for ree ination,

Any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product candidate development and approval process and jeopardize the commercial prospects of our

product candidates and our ability to commence product sales and generate revenue.

In addition, many of the factors that cause, or lead to, termination or suspension of, or a delay in the commencement or completion of, clinical trials may also ultimately lead o the denial

of regulatory approval of a product candidate, For example, if we make manufacturing or formulation changes to our product candidates, we may need to conduct additional studies to bridge our
modified product candidates to earlier versions. Further, if ane or more clinical ials are delaved, our competitors may be able to bring products to market before we do, and the commercial viability
of our product candidates could be significantly reduced. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly. Any termination of any clinical wial of our
product candidates will harm owr commercial prospects and our ability 1o generate revenue.




If we are unable to establish sales and morketing capaobilities or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates on acceptable terms, we may be unable o
successfully commercialize our product candidates that obtain regulatory approval,

‘We currently have a limited marketing and sales team. In order to commercialize any product candidates, if approved, we must continue to build marketing, sales, distribution, managerial
and other non-technical capabilities or make arrangements with third parties to perform these services for each of the territories in which we may have approval w sell and market our product
candidates. We may not be successful in accomplishing these required tasks.

Establishing an internal sales and marketing team with technical expertise and supporting distribution capabilities to commercialize our product candidates will be expensive and time-
consuming, and will require significant atention of our executive officers to manage. Any failure or delay in the development of our internal sales, marketing and distribution capabilities could
adversely impact the commercialization of any of our product candidates that we obtain approval to market, if we do not have arrangements in place with third parties to provide such services on our
behalf. Alternatively, it we choose to collaborate, either globally or on a territory-by-territory basis, with third parties that have direct sales forces and established distribution systems, either to
augment our own sales force and distribution systems or in lieu of our own sales force and distribution systems, we will be required to negotiate and enter into arrangements with such third parties
relating to the proposed collaboration. 1f we are unable to enter into such arrangements when needed, on acceptable terms, or at all, we mav not be able to successfully commercialize any of our
product candidates that receive regulatory approval or any such commercialization may experience delays or limitations, If we are unable to successfully commercialize our approved product
candidates, either on our own or through collaborations with one or more third parties, our future product revenue will suffer and we may incur significant additional losses,

The sizes of the market opportunities for our product candidates, particularly TP-03 for the tr of D dex blepharitis and for the tr of MGD, have not been established with
precision and may be smaller than we estimate, possibly materially. If our estimates of the sizes overestimate these markets, our sales growth may be adversely affected. We may also not be able
to grow the markets for our product candidates as intended or at all.

Our assessment of the potential market opportunity for TP-03 and other product candidates that we develop is based on industry and market data that we obtained from industry
publications and research, surveys and studies conducted by third parties and our own internal epidemiology and market research studies., Industry publications and third-party research, surveys and
studies generally indicate that their information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information, While we
believe these industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies are reliable, we have not independently verified such data. Similarly, although the studies we have conducted are based
on information that we believe to be complete and reliable, we cannot guarantee that such information is accurate or complete. The potential market opporunities for the treaoment of Demodex
blepharitis and for the reatment of MGD is difficult to precisely estimate, because patients often have multiple ocular surface diseases and the symptoms have significant overlap, leading o frequent
misdiagnosis of the various conditions, Therefore, our estimates of the potential market opportunities for our product candidates include several key assumptions based on our industry knowledge,
industry publications, thind-party research and our own epidemiology studies and market research, which may be based on a small sample size and fail to accurately reflect market opportunities,
While we believe that our internal assumptions and the bases of the studies and research we have conducted are reasonable, no independent source has verified such assumptions or bases. If any of
our assumptions or estimates, or these publications, research, surveys or studies prove to be inaccurate, then the actual market for TP-03 or any of our other product candidates may be smaller than we
expect, and as a result our product revenue may be limited and it may be more difficult for us to achieve or maintain profitability.

Due ta the patients presenting at ECP clinics with multiple ocular surface diseases, there is overlap in market size estimates for blepharitis and MGD, Therefore, if TP-03 receives
regulatory approval for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis and MGD, our apportunity could be less than our forecasts because the actual market for TP-02 might be sigmificantly smaller than owr
estimates.

We may not be able to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of TP-03, TP-04 and TP-05 in the indications we are pursuing even though the API underlying such product condidates is safe and

effective in animals.

TP-03, TP-04 and TP-05 are presentations of Iotilaner, the API, formulated into an eye drop, topical gel and oral formulation, respectively, Laotilaner, which is designed o paralyze and
eradicate mites and other parasites through the inhibition of parasite-specific GABA-CI channels, has been found o be safe and effective in animals. However, despite being safe and effective in
animals, we may not be able to demaonstrate that TP-03, TP-04 and TP-05 are safe and effective for human use in the indications we are pursuing for these product candidates. This may be in part
because the requirements and regulations




applicable to approval of a product candidate for human use are significantly more stringent than for animals and that there may be other ocular or other relevant differences between animals and
humans.

We face significant competition, and if our competitors develop amd market technologies or products more rapidly than we do or that are more effective, safer or less expensive than the product
candidates we develop, our commercial opportunities will be negatively impacted. Our product candidates will, if approved, also compete with existing branded, generic and off-label products.

The development and commercialization of new drug products is highly competitive. We face competition with respect to our product candidates that we may seek o develop or
commercialize in the future, from many different sources, including major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies worldwide and existing
treatments. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and
establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing and commercialization.

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commescialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects,
are more convenient or are less expensive than our products. Our competitors also may obtain FDA approval or other regulatory authority approval for their products more rapidly than we may obtain
approval for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before we are able w enter the market.

In addition, our ability to compete may be affected in many cases by insurers or other third-party payers, particularly Medicare and the competent autherities of the individual EU Member
States, seeking to encourage the use of generic products. Generic producis are currently being used for certain of the indications that we are pursuing, and additional products are expected o become
available on a generic basis over the coming years,

Many of the companies against which we are competing or against which we may compete in the future have significantly geeater financial resources and expertise in research and
development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Mergers and acquisitions in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industiries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller and early stage companies may also prove o
be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These thind parties compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific
and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary ta, or necessary for, our programs,

Additionally, while there are no currently available on-label prescription pharmaceutical treatmenis available for the treatment of blepharitis or Demodex blepharitis specifically, a number
of other rreatments are currently available for the reatment of hlepharitis in the U.5. Current treatments for blepharitis in the U5, include over the counter remedies such as tea ree oil, lid wipes and
artificial tears, as well as off-label prescription products. If ECPs were to continue to prescribe these other existing treatments instead of TP-03, our business would be adversely affected.

Even if we obtain FDA approval of any of our product candidates, we may never obtain approval or authorization or commercialize such products outside of the U.S., which would limit our
ability to realize their full market potential.

Imn order w market any products outside of the ULS,, we will need o comply with additional onerous but varying regulstory reguirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy.
Clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries, and regulatory approval in one country does not mean that regulatory approval will be
abtained in any other country. Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional product testing and validation and additional administrative review periods. Seeking foreign
regulatory approvals could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us and may require additional preclinical studies or clinical trials which would be costly and time consuming.
Regulatory requirements can vary widely fram country to country and could delay or prevent the introduction of our products in those countries. Satisfying these and other regulatory requirements is
costly, time consuming, uncentain and subject to unanticipated delays. In addition, our failure to obtain regulatory approval in any country may delay or have negative effects on the process for
regulatory approval in other countries. We do not have any product candidates approved for sale in any jurisdiction, including international markets, and we do not have experience in obtaining
regulatory approval in intermational markets. If we, or our collaboration partners, fail to comply with regulatory requirements in international markets or to obtain and maintain required approvals, our
ability 1o realize the full market potential of our products will be harmed.
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Cur future growth may depend, in part, on our ability to penetrate foreign markets, where we would be subject (o additional regulatory burdens and other risks and uncertainties.

Our future profitability may depend, in part, on our ability 1o commercialize our product candidates in foreign markets for which we may rely on collaboration with third parties, such as
our China Out-License with LianBio. We are evalvating the opportunities for the development and commercialization of our product candidates in other foreign markets. We are not permitted to
market or promate any of our product candidates before we receive regulatory approval from the applicable regulatory anthority in that foreign market, and we may never receive such regulatory
approval for any of our product candidates, To obtain separate regulatory appravals in other countries we may be required to comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements of such
countries regarding the safety and efficacy of our product candidates and govemning, among other things, clinical trials and commercial sales, pricing and distribution of our product candidates, and
we cannot predict suceess in these jurisdictions, IF we obtain approval of our product candidates and ultimately commercialize our product candidates in foreign markets, we would be subject (o
additional risks and uncenainties, including:

« our customers' ability to obtain reimbursement for our product candidates in foreign markets;

*  our inability 1o directly control commercial activities if we are relying on third parties;

«  the burden of complying with complex and changing foreign regulatory, tax, accounting and legal requirements;
+  different medical practices and customs in foreign countries affecting acceptance in the marketplace;

+  import or export licensing requirements;

*  longer accounts receivable collection times;

+  longer lead times for shipping;

»  language bamriers for technical training and the need for language translations;

«  reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some fareign countries;

+  the existence of additional potentially relevant third-party intellectual property rights;

«  foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

+  the interpretation of contractual provisions governed by foreign laws in the event of a contract dispute.

For example, the pharmaceatical industry in the China Territory is subject to comprehensive government regulation and supervision, encompassing the approval, registration,
manufacturing, packaging, licensing and marketing of new drugs. In recent years, the regulatory framework in the China Territory regarding the pharmaceutical industry has undergone significant
changes, and we expect that it will continue to undergo significant changes. Any such changes or amendments may result in increased compliance costs on our business or cause delays in or prevent
the successful development of TP-03 by LianBio under the China Out-License and reduce the current benefits we believe are available to us, The China Territory authorities have become increasingly
vigilant in enforcing laws in the pharmaceutical industry and any failure by LianBio or our other panners to maintain compliance with applicable laws and regulations or obtain and maintain required
licenses and permits may result in the suspension or termination of our partmer’s business activities in the China Territory.

Foreign sales of our product candidates could also be adversely affected by the imposition of governmental controls, political and economic instability, rade restrictions and changes in
tariffs. In some countries, particularly the countries in Europe, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with
governmental avthorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for & drug, To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some couniries, we may be required to conduct
a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to ather available therapies, If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is
set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could he harmed, possibly materially.

We have conducted a number of our completed clinical trials for our product candidates at sites outside the U.5., and the FDA may not accept data from trials conducted in such locations.




‘We have conducted all of our Phase 2 clinical trials outside the U_S., for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis which were conducted in Mexico City, Mexico, at a well-established site for
ocular therapy trials. We may in the future choose 1o conduct other clinical trials outside the ULS. We expect that the FDA will primarily consider the efficacy results of our Saturn-1 and Satum-2
trials in addition to safety data from all human trials, our preclinical studies data as well as preclinical data for lotilaner in reviewing our NDA submission for TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex
blepharitis.

Although the FDA may accept data from clinical trials conducted ouside the ULS., acceptance of this data is subject to conditions imposed by the FDA_ For example, the clinical trial
must be well designed and conducted and be performed by qualified investigators in accordance with ethical principles. The trial population must also adequately represent the ULS. population, and
the data must be applicable to the U.S. population and 1.5, medical practice in ways that the FDA deems clinically meaningful. In addition, while these clinical trials are subject o the applicable local
laws, FDA acceptance of the data will depend on its determination that the trials also complied with all applicable U.S. laws and regulations, There can be no assurance the FDA will accept data from
clinical trials conducted outside of the U.S. There can also be no assurance that the comparable foreign regulatory authority in any jurisdiction in which we seek regulatory approval for our product
candidates will accept data from clinical trials conducted outside such jurisdiction. If the FOYA or any such foreign regulatory authority does not accept the data from any wrial that we have conducted
outside the U.S,, it would likely result in the need for additional trals, which would be costly and time-consuming and could delay or permanently halt our development of the applicable product
candidates,

Im addition, there are risks inherent in conducting clinical trials in multiple jurisdictions, inside and outside of the U.5. and if we conduct trials outside of the U 5., we may face risks, such
as:

+  regulatory and administrative requirements of the jurisdiction where the trial is conducted that could burden or limit our ability to conduct our clinical wials;

+  foreign exchange rate fluctuations;

*  manufacturing, customs, shipment and storage requirements;

+  cultural differences in medical practice and clinical research;

+  diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries;

+  different cultural attitudes w self-reported adverse events (such as burning, stinging, blurry vision) leading to a different safety profile; and

+  the risk that the patient populaticns in such trials are not considered representative as compared to the patient population in the target markets where approval is being sought.

Even if we obtain regulatory approval with respect to TP-03 for Demodex blepharitis, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for additional indications, such as MGD, or we may be
required to conduct additional trials, which would limit our ability to realize the full market potential of TP-03 or increase the costs of developing TP-03 for MGD.

If we obtain regulatory approval with respect w TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis, we intend explore the therapeatic potential for TP-03 in MGD as an additional indication.
I we are successful, the indication for use of TP-03 could potentially be broadened bevond the treatment of Demodex blepharitis w include MGD as an additional indication. However, there can be
no assurance that, even if we obtain approval for Demodex blepharits, we will obtain approval for any other indication, including MGD or for any broadened indication beyond the treatment of
Demadex hlepharitis. 1f we fail to obtain and maintain required approvals for these additional or broadened indications, or if regulatory approvals are delayed, we will not realize the full market
potential of TP-03. Additionally, the FDA or other comparable foreign regulatory authority may require us to conduct additional clinical trials hefore seeking regulatory approval,

Maraging our obligations under our in-license and out-license agreements and otfier strategic agreements may divert g tinte arid ion, causing delays or disruptions to our
business.

‘W have entered into two license agreements with Elanco: (i) Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement and (i) the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement, and have also entered into the China Out-
License as discussed elsewhere herein. We also may in the fure enter into in-license or out-license agreements with multiple licensors and strategic agreements, which, subject us
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to various obligations, including diligence obligations, reporting and notification obligations, payment obligations for achievement of certain milestone as well as other material obligations, We may
need to devote substantial time and attention to ensuring, that we successtully integrate these transactions into our existing operations and are compliant with our obligations under these agreements,
which may divert management’s time and attention away from our research and development programs or other day-to-day activities.

Our in-license, out-license, and strategic agreements are also complex and cemain provisions in those agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. In the event of any
disagreement about the interpretation of these provisions, our management may need to devote a disproportionate amount of its attention to resolving these disagreements. Such disruptions may cause
delays in our research and development programs and other business objectives.

Our operating activities may be resiricted by certain covenantis in our license and other sirategic agreements, which could limit our development and commercial opportunities.

In connection with our in-license, out-license, or other collaborations or strategic alliances, we may agree (o and be bound by negative covenants which may limit our development and
commercial opportunities, For example, pursuant to the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement and the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement, we made certain covenants to only engage with third pany
suppliers previously approved by Elanco, and only under certain circumstances, These provisions may inhibit our development efforts, prevent us from forming strategic collaborations to develop and
potentially commercialize any other product candidates and may materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications that may be more profitable or for
which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we must prioritize our research programs and will need 1o focus our product candidates on the potential treatment of certain
indications. We are currently focused on the development and commercialization, if approved, of TP-03 for the weatment of Demodex blepharitis. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of
opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us o fail 1o capitalize on the
most viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. Cur spending on current and future research and development programs for TP-03 for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis may
not yield any commercially viable products. If we do not accurately evaluate the commercial potential or target market for TP-03, we may also relinguish valuable rights to that product candidate
through collaboration, licensing or other royalty armangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and commercialization rights to such product
candidate.

Even if we obtain regulatory approvals for any product candidates we develop, the terms of approvals and engoing regulation of our products could require substantial expenditure of resources
and may limit how we manufacture and market our products, which could materiolly impair our ability to generate revenue.

Any product candidate for which we obtain regulatory approval, along with the manufacturing processes, post-approval clinical dara, labeling, advertising, and promotional activities for
such product, will he subject to continual requirements of and review by the FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities, These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-
marketing information and reports, registration and listing reguirements, cGMP requirements relating to quality control, quality assurance and coresponding maintenance of records and documents,
and requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping. Even if regulatory approval of a product candidate is granted, the approval may be subject to limitations on
the indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or 1o the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for costly post-marketing testing and surveillance 1o monitor the safety or eificacy
of the product.

Accordingly, assuming we receive regulatory approval for one or more product candidates we develop, we and our contract manufacturers will continue to expend time, money, and effort
in all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production, product surveillance, and quality contral. If we are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory requirements, we
could have the regulatory approvals for our products withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our ability o market any future products could be limited, which could adversely affect our ability to
achieve or sustain profitability, Further, the cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have a negative effect on cur business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects,




Interim top-line and preliminary results from our clinical trials that we announce or publish from time to time may change as more participant data become available and are subject to audit
and verification procedures, which could result in material changes in the final dato.

From time to time, we may publish interim top-line or preliminary vesults from our clinical tials. Interim results from clinical wrials that we may complete are subject to the risk that one
or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as participant enrollment continues and more participant data become available. We also make assumptions, estimations, calculations, and
conclusions as part of our analyses of data, and we may not have received or had the opportunity to fully evaluate all data. Preliminary or top-line resulis also remain subject to audit and verification
procedures that may resuli in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published, As a result, interim and preliminary data should be viewed with caution until
the final data are available, Adverse differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could be material and could significantly harm our reputation and business prospects and may cause
the trading price of our commaon stock (o fluctuate significantly.

Risks Related to Reliance on Third Parties

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical rials and perform some of our research and preclinical studies. If these third parties do not satisfactorily carry out their contractual duties or fail
to meet expected deadlines, our development programs may be delayed or subject to increased costs, each of which may have an adverse effect on our business and prospects.

‘We do not have the ability to independently conduct our clinical wials. We currently rely on third parties, such as CROs, clinical data management organizations, medical institutions and
clinical investigatars, to conduct our current and planned clinical trials of TP-03, TP-04 and TP-05 and other product candidates, and we expect to continue to rely upon third parties o conduct
additional clinical trials of potential fumre product candidates. Third parties have a significant role in the conduct of our clinical tials and the subsequent collection and analysis of data. These third
parties are nat our emplovees, and except for remedies available to us under our agreements with such third party, we have limited ability to control the amount or timing of resources that any such
third party will devote to our clinical trials. Some of these third parties may terminate their engagements with us at any time. If we need to enter into alternative arrangements with a third party, it
would delay our development activities.

Our reliance on these third parties for such development activities will reduce our control over these activities but will not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. For example, we
will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general investigational plan and protocels for the tnal. Moreover, the FDA nequires us to
comply with GCP standards, regulations for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical mials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights,
integrity and confidentiality of trial panticipants are protected. The EC also requires us to comply with similar standards. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCP reguirements through periodic
inspections of wrial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we or any of our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCP requirements, the clinical data generated in our clinical wials may be
deemed unreliable and the FDA, EC or comparable foreign regulatory avthorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure
you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical tials comply with GCP ar other applicable regulations. In addition, our
clinical trials must he conducted with product produced under current applicable cGMP regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would
delay the marketing approval process. We also are required o register certain ongoing clinical trials and post the results of certain completed clinical trials on a povernment-sponsored database,
Clinical Trials.gov, within certain dmeframes. Failure (o do so can result in fines, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions.

The third parties we rely on for these services may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors, [n addition, the operations of our CROs and other
third-party service providers may be constrained or disrupted by health pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet
expected deadlines or conduct our clinical wials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, we will not be able 1o obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals
fior owr product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts o, successfully commercialize our product candidates.

If any of our relationships with these third parties terminate, we may not be able 1o enter into arrangements with altemative third parties or do so on commercially reasonable terms.
Switching or adding additional CROs, investigators and other third parties involves additional cost and requires management time and focus. In addition, there is a natural wansition period when a
new CRO commences work. As a result, delays can occur, which could materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines, The COWVID-19 pandemic and government
measures taken in response have also had a significant impact on many CROs. Although we plan to carefully manage our relationships with our CROs, investigators and




ather third parties, we may nonetheless encounter challenges or delays in the tuture, which could have a material and adverse impact on our business, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants 1w us from time (o time and receive compensation in connection with such services.
Under certain circumstances, we may be required to report some of these relationships to the FDAL The FDA may conclude that a financial relationship between us and a principal investigator has
created a conflict of interest or otherwise affected interpretation of the wial. The FDA may therefore question the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical wial site and the utility of the
clinical trial itself may be jeopardized, This could result in a delay in approval, or rejection, of our marketing applications by the FDA and may ultimately lead to the denial of marketing approval of
any product candidates,

We contract with third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical studies, clinical trials and for eventual commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases the
risk that we will not have sufficient guantities of our product candidates or compounds or that such supply will not be available to us at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair
our develop or zation efforts,

‘We do not have any, and have no plans to acquire any, manufacturing facilities. We produce in our laboratory relatively small quantities of compounds for evalvation in our research
programs. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical and clinical testing, as well as for commercial manufacture if any of our
product candidates are approved, We currently have limited manufzcturing arrangements and expect that each of our product candidates will only be covered by single source suppliers for the
foreseeable future, For example, we purchase our API for TP-03, lotilaner, from Elanco, who sources through a single source supplier. This reliance increases the risk that we will not have sufficient
quantities of our product candidates or products, if approved, or such quantities at an acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.

Furthermore, all entities involved in the preparation of therapeutics for clinical trials or commercial sale, including our existing contract manufacturers for our product candidates, are
subject to extensive regulation. Components of a finished therapeutic product approved for commercial sale or used in clinical rials must be manufactured in accordance with cGMP requirements.
These regulations govern manufacturing processes and procedures, including record keeping, and the implementation and operation of quality systems to control and assure the quality of
investigational products and products approved for sale. Poor control of production processes can lead to the introduction of contaminants, or to inadvertent changes in the properties or stahility of our
product candidates that may not be detectable in final product testing, We or our contract manufacturers must supply all necessary documentation in suppart of an NDA on a timely basis and must
adhere to the FDA's Good Laboratory Practice regulations and cGMP regulations enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program. Foreign regulatory authorities, including the European
Commission and the competent authorities of the EU Member States, may require compliance with similar requirements. The facilities and quality systems of our third-party contractor manufacturers
must pass a pre-approval inspection for compliance with the applicable regulations as a condition of marketing approval of our product candidates. We do not control the manufacturing process of,
and are completely dependent on, our contract manufacturing parers for compliance with cGMP regulations. We have little or no control over the production processes of third-party manufacturers,
CMOs or other suppliers. The third-party manufacturing facilities used in the production of APT and our drug products are located outside of the U.S_ and require FDA approval, which our third-party
manufacturers may have limited experience with obtaining. Our CMOs and other suppliers are subject to inspection by the FDA and may receive observations that they may not be able to resolve in a
timely or effective manner, which could impact whether our products can be approved on a timely basis, if at all.

In the event that any of our manufacturers fails w comply with such requirements or to perform its obligations to us in relation to quality, tming or otherwise, or if our supply of
components or other materials becomes limited or interrupted for other reasons, we may be forced to manufacture the materials ourselves, for which we currently do not have the capabilities or
TESOUrCes, oF enter into an agreement with another third party, which we may not be able to do on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. In particular, any replacement of our manufacturers could
require significant effort and expertise because there may be a limited number of qualified replacements. In some cases, the technical skills or technology required to manufacture our product
candidates may be unique or proprietary to the original manufacturer and we may have difficulty tansferring such skills or technology to another third party and a feasible alternative may not exist.
These factors would increase owr reliance on such manufacturer or reguire us to obtain a license from such manufacturer in order o have anather third party manufacture our product candidates. 1F we
elect o or are required to change manufacturers for any reason, we will be required w verify thar the new manufacturer maintains facilities and procedures that comply with quality standards and with
all applicable regulations and guidelines. If any of our current contract manufacturers cannot perform as agreed, we may be required to replace such manufacturers. Although we believe that there are
several potential alternative manufacturers who could manufacture our product candidates, we may incur added costs and delays in identifying and qualifying any such replacement or be unable w0
reach agreement with an alternative manufacturer.




Our or a third party’s failure to execute on our manufacturing requirements, to do so on commercially reasonable terms and comply with cGMP could adversely affect our business in a
number of ways, including:

+  an inability w initiate or continue clinical wials of our product candidates under development;

+  delay in submitting regulatory applications, or receiving marketing approvals, for our product candidates;

*  loss of the cooperation of an existing or future collaborator, including by Elanco under the license agreements with Elanco;

+  subjecting third-party manufacturing facilities or our manufacooring facilities to additional inspections by regulatory authorities;

+  requirements to cease development or o recall batches of our product candidates; and

+  in the event of approval to market and commercialize our product candidates, an inability to meet commercial demands for our product or any other future product candidates.

Our product candidates and any products that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and products for access to manufacturing facilities. As a result, we may not
abtain access to these facilities on a priority basis or at all. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under oGMP regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us. Any
performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers could delay clinical development or marketing approval,

We or our third-party manufaciurers may encounter shorages in the raw materials or active pharmaceutical ingredients necessary o produce our product candidates in the quantities
needed for our clinical trials or, it our product candidates are approved, in sufficient quantities for commercialization or o meet an increase in demand, as a result of capacity constrainis or delays or
disruptions in the market for the raw materials or active pharmaceutical ingredients, including shortages caused by the punchase of such raw materials or active pharmaceutical ingredients by our

competitors or others, The failure of us or our third-party manufacturers to obiain the raw materials or active pharmacewtical ingredients necessary to manufacture sufficient quantities of our product
candidates, may have a material adverse effect on our business,

We, or our third-party manufacturers, may be unable to successfully scale-up manufacturing of our product candidaies in sufficient quality and quantity, which would delay or prevent us from
conducting clinical trials and developing our product candidates,

In order to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates, we will need to manofacure them in large quantities. We, or our manufacturing partners, may be unable to successfully
increase the manufacturing capacity for any of our product candidates in a timely or cost-effective manner, or at all. In addition, quality issues may arise during scale-up activities. If we, or our
manufacturing partners, are unable to successfully scale up the manufacture of our product candidates in sufficient quality and guantity, the development, testing and clinical trials of that product
candidate may be delayed or become infeasible, and marketing approval or commercial launch of any resulting prodiuct may he delayed or not obtained, which could significantly harm our business,

Changes in methods of product candid tfacturing or formulation may result in additional costs or delay.

As product candidates progress through preclinical to late stage clinical trials to marketing approval and commercialization, It is common that various aspects of the development
program, such as manufacturing methods and formulation, are altered along the way in an effort wo optimize vield, manufacouring batch size, minimize costs and achieve consistent quality and results,
Such changes carry the risk that they will not achieve these intended objectives. Any of these changes could cause our product candidates to perform differently and affect the results of planned
clinical trials or other future clinical trials conducted with the altered materials. This could delay completion of clinical trials, require the conduct of bridging clinical trials or the repetition of one or
maore clinical trials, increase clinical trial costs, delay approval of our product candidates and jeopardize our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenue,

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

The development and commercialization of our products, including our lead product candidate, TP-03 for the potential treatment of Demodex blepharitis and MGD, TP-04 for the potentiol
treatrent of rosacea and TP-05 for potential Lyme
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prophylaxis and community malaria reduction, is dependent on intellectual property we license from Elanco. If we breach our agreements with Elanco or the agreements are terminated, we
could lose license rights that are important to our business.

Pursuant to the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement and the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement {each an "Elanco Agreement” and together the "Elanco Agreements”) we acquired
exclusive, worldwide, sublicensable licenses to certain intellectual property of Elanco for the development, marketing and commercialization of lotilaner for (i) the reatment, prevention, palliation or
cure of any eve or skin disease or condition in humans and (b} all other applications in humans, respectively. The Elanco Agreements impose various development, regulatory, commercial diligence,
financial and ather ohligations on us, 1f we fail to comply with our ebligations under the Elanco Agreements, or otherwise materially breach either Elanco Agreement, and fail to remedy such failure
or cure such breach within 60 days, Elanco will have the right to terminate the applicable Elanco Agreement. If we fail to meet any milestones by the achievement deadlines set forth in either Elanco
Agreement for any reason ather than those outside of our reasonable control, and such milestones remain unmet for 120 days after Elanco notifies us thereof, Elanco may terminate the applicable
Elanco Agreement.

If we fail to meet certain dermatological milestones by the achievement deadlines set forth in the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement for any reasons other than those outside of our
reasonable control, and such milestones remain unmet for 120 days after Elanco notifies us thereol, Elance may limit our field of use under the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement to the treatment,
palliation, prevention or cure of eve diseases or conditions in humans only. If either Elanco Agreement is terminated or if our field of use in the Eve and Derm Elanco Agreement is reduced to eve and
skin conditions only by Elanco, we would lose our applicable license in the country where such license was terminated and all rights therein to the licensed intellectual propenty would revert w
Elanco. The loss of the license from Elanco would prevent us from developing and commercializing TP-03, TP-04 and TP-05 in any country where the license is terminated and could subject us to
claims of breach of contract and patent infringement by Elanco if any continued research, development, manufacture or commercialization of TP-03, TP-04 or TP-05 is covered by the affected
patents, If Elanco terminates the Eye and Derm Elance Agreement for our failure to achieve a development milestone by the specified achievement deadline, then we must grant Elance a non-
exclusive, sublicensable, royalty-free license w our patents and know-how relating to lotilaner to develop, manufacture and commercialize lotilaner and any licensed products for the treatment,
palliation, prevention or cure of any eye or skin disease or condition in humans. If Elanco terminates the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement for our failure wo achieve a development milestone by the
specified achievement deadline, then we must grant Elanco a non-exclusive, sublicensable, rovalty-free license o our patents and know-how relating to lotilaner o develop, manufacture and
commercialize lotilaner and anv licensed products for all applications in humans other than the eatment, palliation, prevention or cure of any eve or skin disease or condition. Accordingly, the loss of
our license or the termination of our license for skin diseases and conditions or of our license for other use in humans with Elance would materially harm our business,

If we are unable to obtain and maintain sufficient intellectual property protection for our product candidates, or if the scope of the intellectual property protection is not sufficiently broad, our
competitors could develop and commercialize products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our products may be adversely affected.

‘W rely upon a combination of patents, trademarks, trade secret protection, and confidentiality agreements to protect the intellectual property related 1o our development programs and
product candidates. Cur success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the U.5. and other countries with respect to our product candidates and research
programs, We seek to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications in the 1.S. and abroad related to our novel discoveries and technologies that are impartant to our business, Our
pending and future patent applications may not resuli in patents being issued that protect our product candidates or their intended uses or that effectively prevent others from commercializing
competitive technologies, products or product candidates,

Obtaining and enforcing patents is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications, or maintain andior enforce
patents that may issue based on our patent applications, at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner, Moreover, in some circumstances, we do not have the right to control the preparation, filing and
prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain, enforce and defend the patents, covering technology that we license from third parties. It is also possible that we will fail o identify patentable
aspects of our research and development results before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Althaugh we enter into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who have access to
patentable aspects of our research and development output, such as our employees, corporate collaborators, cutside scientific collaborators, contract research organizations, contract manufacturers,
consultants, advisors and other third parties, any of these parties may breach these agreements and disclose such results before a patent application is filed, thereby jeopardizing our ability (o seek
patent protection,

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and has in recent years been the subject of
much litigation, resulting in court decisions,




including Supreme Court decisions, which have increased uncemainties as to the ability to enforce patent rights in the future. In addition, the scope of patent protection outside of the U5, is uncertain
and laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S., or vice versa. For example, European patent law restricts the patentability of methods of wreatment
af the human body more than U5, law does. With respect to both owned and in-licensed patent rights, we cannot predict whether the patent applications we and our licensors are currently pursuing or
will pursue will issue as patents in any particular jurisdiction or whether the claims of any issued patents will provide sufficient protection from competitors.

Further, we may not he aware of all third-party intellectual property rights potentially relating to our product candidates or their intended uses, and as a result the impact of such third-
party intellectual property rights upon the patentability of our own patents and patent applications, as well as the impact of such third-party intellectual property upon aur ahility to commercialize our
prodlucts, is highly uncertain, Because we have not yet conducted a formal patent landscape analysis related to our product candidates, we may not be aware of issued patents that a third party might
assert are infringed by one of our current or future product candidates, which could materially impair our ability to commercialize our product candidates. Even if we diligently search third-party
patents for potential infringement by our products or product candidates, including TP-03, TP-04 or TP-05, we may not successfully find patents that our products or product candidates, including TP-
03, TP-04 or TP-05, may infringe. If we are unable to confirm that our products do not infringe third-party patents, others could preclude us from commercializing our product candidates, In addition,
publications of discoveries in the scientific literawre often lag behind the acal discoveries and patent applications in the U.S. and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after
filing or, in some cases, not published at all. Therefore, we cannot know with certainty whether we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our patents or pending patent applications, or that
we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our patents or
pending patent applications may be challenged in the courts ar patent offices in the ULS. and abroad. For example, we may be subject to a third party pre-issuance submission of prior art to the 1S,
Patent and Trademark Office, or become involved in post-grant review or interference procedures, oppositions, derivations, revocations, reexaminations, ot inter partes review proceedings, in the U.S.
or elsewhere, challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent
rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or product candidates and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to manufacture or commercialize drugs
without infringing third-party patent rights. If the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents and patent applications is threatened, regardless of the outcome, it could dissuade
companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates.

Our owned and licensed patent estate includes patent applications, many of which are at an early stage of prosecution. The coverage claimed in a patent application can be significantly
reduced before the patent is issued, and its scope can be reinterpreted after issuance. Even if our owned and in-licensed patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will
provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its
inventership, scope, validity or enforceability, and our owned and in-licensed patents may be challenged in the courts or patent affices in the U.S. and abroad, Such challenges may result in loss of
exclusivity or ability to sell our products without infringing third-party patents or patent claims being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability o
stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent pratection of our technology and products. In addition, given the amount of
time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are
commercialized. Furthermore, our competitors may be able w circumvent our patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. As a result, our owned
and in-licensed patent portfolio may not provide s with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing technology and products similar or identical o any of our technology and product
candidates.

Furthermore, while we seek to protect the trademarks we use in the LS. and in other countries, we may be unsuccessful in obtaining registrations and‘or otherwise protecting these
wrademarks. If that were to happen, we may be prevented from using our names, brands and trademarks unless we enter into appropriate royalty, license or coexistence agreements, which may not be
available or may not be available on commercially reasonable terms. Over the long term, if we are unable o establish name recognition based on our rademarks, trade names, service marks and
domain names, then we may not be able to compete effectively, resulting in a material adverse etfect on our business. Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged,
infringed, diluted or declared generic, or determined to be infringing on other marks. We rely on both registration and commen law protection for our rrademarks. We may not be able to protect cur
rights to these trademarks and trade names or may be forced to stop using these names, which we need to huild name recognition amang potential partners or customers in our markets of interest. At
times, competitors may adopt trademarks and trade names similar to ours, thereby impeding our ability to build brand identity and possibly leading to market confusion. During trademark registration
proceedings, we may receive rejections. Although we would be given an opportunity o respond wo those rejections, we may be unable w overcome such rejections. In addition, in the USPTO and in
comparable agencies in many foreign jurisdictions, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark applications and to seek to cancel registered




rrademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our trademarks, and our rademarks may not survive such proceedings, Effective trademark protection may not be available or
may not be sought in every country in which our products are made available. Any name we propose (o use for our products in the U.S. must be approved by the FDA, regardless of whether we have
registered it, or applied to register it, as a rademark. The FDA typically conducts a review of propased produce names, including an evaluation of potential for confusion with other product names. I
the FDA objects to any of our proposed product names, we may be required o expend significant additional resources in an effort to identify & usable substitute name that would qualify under
applicable rademark laws, that does not infringe the existing rights of third parties and that is acceptable o the FDAL If we are unable 1o establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade
names, we may not be able to compete effectively and our business may be adversely affected.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document g imposed by gover | patent

agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or elimis I for non-c liance with these requirements.

fee and other

Perindic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuities fees and various other governmental fees on patents andfor patent applications are due to be paid to the USPFTO and foreign patent
agencies in several stages over the lifetime of the patent and/or patent application. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies also require compliance with a number of
procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process, In cerlain circumstances, we rely on our licensing partners Lo pay these fees o, or comply
with the procedural and documentary rules of, the relevant patent agency While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by paviment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the
applicable rules, there are sitwations in which noncompliance can vesult in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant
jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited 1o, failure to respond to official actions within prescribed
time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. In such an event, potential competitors might be able to enter the market with similar or identical
proclucts or technology. If we or our licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications relating to our product candidates, our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects would be adversely affected.

We may not identify relevant third-party patents or may incorrectly interpret the relevance, scope or expiration of a third-party patent which might adversely affect our ability to develop and
market our products.

We cannot guarantee that any of our patent searches or analyses, including the identification of relevant patents, the scope of patent claims or the expiration of relevant patents, are
complete or thoreugh, nor can we be certain that we have identified each and every third party patent and pending application in the 1.5, and abroad that is relevant to or necessary for the
commercialization of our product candidates in any jurisdiction. Because we have not yet conducted a formal patent landscape analysis related o our product candidates, we may not be aware of
issued patents that a third party might assert are infringed by one of our cumrent or future product candidates, which could materially impair our ability to commercialize our product candidates, Even
if we diligently search third-party patents for potential infringement by our products or product candidates, we may not successfully find patents that our products or product candidates may infringe.
1f we are unable to confirm that our products do not infringe third-party patents, others could preclude us from commercializing our product candidates,

The scope of a patent claim is determined by an interpretation of the law, the written disclosure in a patent and the patent’s prosecution history, Our interpretation of the relevance or the
scope of a patent or a pending application may be incomect, which may negatively impact our ability to market our products, We may incomectly determine that cur products are not covered by a
third-party patent or may incorrectly predict whether a thicd party's pending application will issue with claims of relevant scope. Our determination of the expiration date of any patent in the U.5. or
abroad that we consider relevant may be incorrect, which may negatively impact our ability o develop and market our product candidates. Our failure to identify and corvectly interpret relevant
patents may negatively impact our ability to develop and market our products.

to form collaborations in the future with respect to our product candidates, but may not be able to do so, which

We may wish to acquire righis to future assets through in-licensing or may
may catse us to alter or delay our develog aitd ¢ lization plaris.

The development and potential commercialization of our product candidates will require substantial additional capital to fund expenses. In 2019 and 2020, we entered into the Eye and
Derm Elanco Agreement and the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement, respectively. We plan to utilize these license rights in developing and marketing our TP-03, TP-04 and TP-05 product candidates.
We may, in the future, decide 1o collaborate with other biopharmaceutical companies for the development and potential commercialization of those product candidates. We will face significant
competition in secking appropriate collaborators. We may not be successful in our efforts o establish a strategic parmership or other altemative




arrangements for our product candidates because they may be deemed to be at too early of a stage of development for collaborative effort and third parties may not view our product candidates as
having the requisite potential to demonstrate safety and efficacy. If and when we collaborate with a third party for development and commercialization of a product candidate, we can expect 1o
relinguish some or all of the control over the future success of that product candidate to the thind party. Our ability to reach a definitive agreement for a collahoration will depend, among other things,
upon our assessment of the collaborator*s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors, Those
factors may include the following:

+  the design or results of clinical rials;

+  the likelihood of appraval by the FDDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities;

«  the potential market for the product candidate;

+  the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering such product candidate w patients;
+  the potential of competing products;

+  the existence of uncertainty with respect w our ownership of technology or other rights, which can exist if there is a challenge to such ownership without regard to the merits of the
challenge; and

«  indusiry and markei conditions generally.

The collaborator mav also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may be available to collaborate on and whether such a collaboration could be
maore attractive than the one with us for our product candidare, We may also be restricted under any license agreements from entering into agreements an certain terms or at all with potential
collaborators. Collahorations are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large
pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of patential future collaborators and changes to the strategies of the combined company. As a result, we may not be able to negotiate
callaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to do so, we may have to cunail the development of such product candidate, reduce or delay one or more of our ather
development programs, delay the potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any planned sales or marketing activities for such product candidate, or increase our expenditures and undertake
development, manufacturing or commercialization activities at our own expense, 1f we elect to increase our expenditures o fund development, manufacturing or commercialization activities on our
own, we may need 1o obiain additional capital, which may not be available 1 us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop our product
candidates or bring them to market and generate product revenue.

Collaborations that we have entered into and may enter in the future may not be successful, and any success will depend heavily on the efforts and activities of such collaborators.
Collaborations pose a number of risks, including the following:

»  collaborators have significant discretion in determining the amount and timing of efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations;
«  collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;

+  collaborators may not pursue development of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or renew development programs based on results of clinical wrials or other studies,
changes in the collaborators’ sirategic focus or available funding, or external factors, such as an acquisition or business combination, that divert resources or create competing priorities;

«  collaborators may not pursue commercialization of any product candidates that achieve marketing approval or may elect not to continue or renew commercialization programs based on
results of clinical trials or other studies, changes in the collaborators’ strategic focus or available funding, or external factors, such as an acquisition or business combination, that may
diven respurces or create competing priorities;

+  collaborators may delay clinical tials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or
require @ new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;
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*  we may not have access to, or may be restricted from disclosing, certain information regarding product candidates being developed or commercialized under a collaboration and,
consequently, may have limited ability to inform our stockholders about the status of such product candidates on a discretionary basis;

+  collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our product candidates and products if the collaborators
believe that the competitive products are more likely w be successfully developed or can be commercialized under terms that are more economically attractive than ours;

+  product candidates discovered in collaboration with us may be viewed by our collaborators as competitive with their own product candidates or produces, which may cause collaborators
to cease to devote resources to the commercialization of our product candidates;

+  acollaborator may fail w comply with applicable regulatory requirements regarding the development, manufacture, distribution or marketing of 2 product candidate or product;

+  acollsborator may seek to renegotiate or terminate their relationship with us due o unsatisfactory clinical results, manufacturing issues, a change in business strategy, a change of
control or other reasons;

»  acollaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve marketing approval may not commit sufficient resources to the marketing and
distribution of such product or products;

+  disagreements with collaborators, including disagreements over intellectual property or proprietary nights, contract interpretation or the preferved course of development, might cause
delays or erminations of the research, development or commercialization of product candidates, might lead o additienal responsibilities for us with respect t product candidates, or
might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would be time-consuming and expensive;

»  collaborators may not properly obtain, maintain, enforce, defend or protect our intellectual property or proprietary rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as ©
potentially lead w disputes or legal proceedings that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;

+  disputes may arise with respect to the ownership of intellectual property developed pursuant to our collaborations;

+  collaborators may infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate the intellectual property or proprietary rights of third parties, which may expose us o litigation and potential liability;
and

»  collaborations may be terminated for the convenience of the collaborator, and, if terminated, we could be required o raise additional capital w pursue further development or
commercialization of the applicable product candidates.

Collaboration agreements may not lead to development or ¢ sialization of product candid in the mast efficient manner, or at all. If any collaborations that we enter into do not
result in the successful development and commercialization of products or if one of our collaborators enminates its agreement with us, we may not receive any fulure research funding or milesione or
rovalty payments under the collaboration. If we do not receive the funding we expect under these agreements, our development of our product candidates could be delayed and we may need
additional resources to develop our product candidates. All of the risks relating to product development, regulatory approval and commercialization described in this report also apply to the activities
of our collaborators,

In the future, we may need to obtain additional licenses of third-party technology that may not be available to us or are anly on commercially unreasonable terms or we may fail to
comply with our oblig under such ag ws and our business could be harmed.

In addition to the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement and the All Human Uses Elance Agreement, from time to time we may be required to license technology from additional third parties
to further develop or commercialize our product candidates. Should we be required to obtain licenses w any third-party technology, including any such patents reguired 1o




manufacture, use or sell our product candidates, such licenses may not be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

I we are unable o license such technology, or if we are forced w license such technology on unfavorable terms, our business could be materially harmed. [T we are unable w obtain a
necessary license, we may be unable to develop or commercialize the affected product candidates, which could materially harm our business and the third parties owning such intellectual property
rights could seek either an injunction prohibiting our sales or an obligation on our part 1o pay royalties andsor other forms of compensation. Even if we are able 1o obeain a license, it may be non-
exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed ta us.

It we are unable to obtain rights to required third-party intellectual property rights or maintain the existing intellectual property rights we have, we may be required to expend significant
time and resources to redesign our technology, product candidates, or the methods for manufacturing them or to develop or license replacement technology, all of which may not be feasible on a
technical or commercial basis, If we are unable to do so, we may be unable to develop or commercialize the affected technology and product candidates, which could harm our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects significantly.

Additionally, if we fail to comply with our obligations under any license agreements, our counterparties may have the right o terminate these agreements, in which event we might not be
able to develop, manufacture or market, or may be forced to cease developing, manufacturing or marketing, any product that is covered by these agreements or may face other penalties under such
agreements, Such an oocurrence could materially adversely affect the value of the product candidate being developed under any such agreement, Termination of these agreements or reduction or
elimination of our rights under these agreements, or restrictions on our ability to freely assign or sublicense our rights under such agreements when it is in the interest of our business to do so, may
result in our having to negotiate new or reinstated agreements with less favorable werms, cause us o lose our rights under these agreements, including our rights to important intellectual property or
technology or impede, or delay or prohibit the further development or commercialization of one or more product candidates that vely on such agreements.

If we enter into in-hound intellectual property license agreements, we may not be able to fully protect the licensed intellectual property rights or maintain those licenses_ In each of the Eye
and Derm Elanco Agreement and the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement, Elanco retains, and future licensors could retain, the right o prosecute and defend the imellectual property righes licensed to
us, in which case we would depend on the ability of cur licensors to obtain, maintain and enforce such licensed intellectual property. These licensors may determine not to pursue litigation against
other companies or may pursue such [itigation less aggressively than we would, If our licensors do not adequately protect such licensed intellectual property, competitors may be able to use such
ineellecoual property and erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have, which could materially harm our business, negatively affect our position in the marketplace, limit our ability 1o
commercialize our products and product candidates and delay or render impossible our achievement of profitability. Further, entering into such license agreements could impaose various diligence,
commercialization, rovalty or other obligations on us. Future licensors may allege that we have breached our license agreement with them, and accordingly seek to terminate our license, which could
adversely affect vur competitive business position and harm our business prospects.

In addition to the above risks, intellecinal property rights that we license in the future may include sublicenses under intellectual property owned by third parties, in some cases through
multiple tiers. The actions of our licensors may therefore affect our rights to use our sublicensed intellectual property, even if we are in compliance with all of the obligations under our license
agreements. Should our licensors or any of the upstream licensors fail t comply with their obligations under the agreements pursuant to which they obtain the rights that are sublicensed (o us, or
should such agreements be terminated or amended, our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates may be matesially harmed.

Disputes may arise regarding intellectual property subject o a licensing agreement, including:

+  the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other inerpretation related issues;
+  the extent to which our technology and processes infringe intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement;

= the sublicensing of patent and other rights;

« our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;
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+  the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us and our partners; and
*  the priority of Invention of patented technology.

I addition, the agreements under which we currently license intellectual property or technology from third parties are complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be
susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narmow what we believe w be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual
property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Moreaver, if disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain our cumvent licensing
arrangements on commercially acceptable terms, we may be unable o successtully develop and commercialize the affected technology and produce candidates, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial conditions, results of operations and prospects.

We cannot ensure that patent rights relating to inventions described and claimed in our pending patent applications will issue or that our patents or patents based on our patent applications will
not be challenged and rendered invalid andior unenforceable.

Although we have pending U.5. and foreign patent applications in our portfolio, we cannot predict:
+  if and when patents may issue based on our patent applications;
*  the scope of protection of any patent issuing based on our patent applications;
+  whether the claims of any patent issuing based on our patent applications will provide protection against competitors;
»  whether or not third parties will find ways to invalidate or circumvent our patent rights;
+  whether or not others will obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those claimed in our patents and patent applications;
*  whether we will need o initiate litigation or administrative proceedings w enforce and/or defend our patent rights which will be costly whether we win or lose; and/or

«  whether the patent applications that we own or in-license will result in issued patents with claims that cover our product candidates or uses thereof in the U.S. or in other foreign
countries,

W cannot be certain that the claims in our pending patent applications directed to our product candidates andfor technologies will be considered patentable by the USPTO or by patent
offices in foreign countries. One aspect of the determination of patentability of our inventions depends on the scope and content of the “prior art,” information that was or is deemed available to a
persan of skill in the relevant ant prior to the priority date of the claimed invention. There may be prior ant of which we are not aware that may affect the patentability of our patent claims or, if issued,
affect the validity or enforceability of a patent claim. Even if the patents do issue based on our patent applications, third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope thereof, which may
result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, Furthermore, even if they are unchallenged, patents in our portfolio may not adeguately exclude third parties from practicing
relevant technology or prevent others from designing around our claims. If the breadth or strength of owr intellectual property position with respect to our product candidates is threatened, it could
dissuade companies from collaborating with us to develop and threaten our ability to commercialize our product candidates. In the event of litigation or administrative proceedings, we cannot be
certain that the claims in any of our issued patents will be considered valid by courts in the U.5. or foreign countries.

If we are sued for infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating intelleciual properiy righis of third parties, such litigation could be costly and time consuming and could prevent or delay
us from developing or commercializing our product candidates.

Our commercial success depends, in part, on our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the
intellecmal property and other proprietary rights of third parties. Third parties may allege that we have infringed or misappropriated their intellectual property. Litigation or other




legal proceedings relating to intellectsal property claims, with or without merit, are unpredictable and generally expensive and time consuming and, even if resolved in our favor, are likely to divert
significant resources from our core business, including distracting our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the
results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the
market price of our common stock.

Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing or distribution
activities, We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings, Seme of cur competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or
proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and
continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete in the marketplace.

There is a substantial amount of intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries, and we may become party to, or threatened with, litigation or ather
adversarial proceedings regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our product candidates, Third parties may assert infringement claims against us based on existing or future intellectual
property rights, regardless of merit, The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have produced a significant number of patents, and it may not always be clear to industry participants, including
us, which patents are directed w various types of products or methods of use. As the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that our
technologies or product candidates that we may identify may be subject to claims of infringement of the patent rights of third parties. The scope of patents is subject w interpretation by the courts, and
the interpretation is not always uniform. The legal threshold for initiating litigation or contested proceedings is low, so even lawsuits or proceedings with a low probability of success might be
initiated and require significant resources to defend, If we were sued for patent infringement, we would need to demonstrate that our product candidates, products or methods either do not infringe the
patent claims of the relevant patent or that the patent claims are invalid or unenforceable, and we may not be able to do this, Proving invalidity may be difficult. For example, in the LS., proving
invalidity in court requires a showing of clear and convincing evidence to overcome the presumption of validity enjoved by issued patents. Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may
incur substantial costs and the time and awention of our management and scientific personnel could be diverted in pursuing these proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business and operations. In addition, we may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.

If we are found to infringe a third party®s intellectual property rights, we could be forced, including by court order, 1o cease developing, manufacturing or commercializing the infringing
product candidate or product. Alternatively, we may be required to obtain a license from such third party in order to use the infringing technology and continue developing, manufacturing or
marketing the infringing product candidate. However, we may not be able to obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all, Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could
be non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed o us and could require us o make substantial licensing and royalty paymenis. We could be forced,
including, by court order, to cease developing, manufacturing and commercializing the infringing rechnology or product, In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including reble
damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found o have willfully infringed a patent. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our product candidates or force us to cease some of
our business operations, which could materially harm our business, Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative
impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If we do not obtain patent term extension for any product candidates we may develop, our business may be materially harmed.

In the U.5., the term of a patent that covers an FDA-approved drug may be eligible for limited patent term extension, which permits patent term restoration as compensation for the patent
term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch-Waxman Act, permits a patent term extension of
up to five years beyond the expiration of the patent. The length of the patent term extension is related o the length of time the drug is under regulatory review, Patent extension cannot extend the
remaiming term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, and only one patent applicable to an approved drug may be extended and only those claims covering the
approved drug, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. Similar provisions are available in Europe and certain other non-U.5. jurisdictions wo extend the werm of a
patent that covers an approved drug. While, in the future, if and when our product candidates receive FDA approval, we expect to apply for patent term extensions on patents covering those product
candidates, there is no guarantee that the applicable authorities will agree with our assessment of whether such extensions should be granted, and even if granted, the length of such extensions. We
may not be granted patent term extension either in the U.S. or in any foreign country because of, for example, failing to exercise due




diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy
applicable requirements. Moreover, the term of extension, as well as the scope of patent protection during any such extension, afforded by the governmental authority could be less than we request. 1f
we are unable to obtain any patent term extension or the term of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following the expiration of eur
patent rights, and our business, financial condition, resulis of operations and prospects could be materially harmed.

We may become invelved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patenis and other intellectual property rights, which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate our patents, rademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property. It may be difficult to detect infringers who do not
advertise the components that are used in their products. Moreover, it may be difficult or impossible to obtain evidence of infringement in a competitor’s or patential competitor’s product. To counter
infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement or ather intellectual property-related claims, which can be expensive and time consuming and divert the time and atention
of our management and scientific personnel. There can be no assurance that we will have sufficient financial or other resources to file and pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for
years before they are concluded. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents, in addition 1o
counterclaims asserting that our patents are invalid or unenforceable, or both. In any patent infringement proceeding, there is a risk that a court will decide that a patent of ours is invalid or
unenforceable, in whole or in part, and that we do not have the right to stop the other panty from making, using, or selling the invention at issue. In patent litigation in the U.S., defendant
counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of
novelty, obviousness, or non-enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld material information from
the USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties may institute such claims before administrative bodies in the LS. or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such
mechanisms include re-examination, posi-grant review, inter parfes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition
proceedings). The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. There is also a risk that, even if the validity of such patents is upheld, the court will construe
the patent's claims narcowly or decide that we do not have the right to stop the other party from making, using or selling the invention at issue on the grounds that our patent claims do not cover the
invention. An adverse outcome in a litigation or proceeding involving our patents could limit our ability (0 assert our patents against those parties or other competitors, and may curtail or preclude our
ability to exclude third parties from making, using and selling similar or competitive produces. Any of these occurrences could adversely affect our competitive business position, business prospects
and financial condition. Similarly, if we assen rademark infringement claims, a court may determine that the marks we have assented are invalid or unenforceable, or that the party against whom we
have asserted trademark infringement has superior rights to the marks in question. In this case, we could ultimately be forced to cease use of such trademarks, which could materially harm our
business and negatively affect our position in the marketplace.

Even if we establish infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and instead award only monetary damages, which may or may not be
an adequate remedy. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information
could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. There also could be public announcements of the results of hearings, mations or other interim proceedings or developments., If securities
analysts or investors perceive these results 1o be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of shares of our commaon stock. Moreover, we cannol assure you that we will have
sufficient financial or other resources to file and pursue such infringement claims, which typically last for years before they are concluded. Even if we ultimately prevail in such claims, the monetary
cost of such litigation and the diversion of the attention of our management and scientific personnel could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings.

Because of the expense and uncertainty of litigation, we may not be in a position to enforce our intellectual property rights againsi third parties.
Because of the expense and uncentainty of litigation, we may conclude that even if a third panty is infringing our issued patent, any patents that may be issued as a result of our pending or

future patent applications or other intellectual property rights, the nisk-adjusted cost of bringing and enforcing such a claim or action may be too high or not in the best interest of our company ar our
stockhaolders. In such cases, we may decide that the more prudent course of action ks 1o simply monitor the sitwation or inktiate or seek some other non-litigious action or solution.
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Changes in patent law in the U.S. and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates,

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intelleciual property, particulardy patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the
biopharmaceutical industry involves both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, dme-consuming and inherently uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of
the patent laws in the U.5. could increase the uncertainties and costs. Recent patent reform legislation in the U.S. and other countries, including the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (“Leahy-Smith
Act”) signed into law on September 16, 2001, could increase those uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents,
The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S, patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more
efficient and cost-effective avenues for competitors to challenge the validity of patents, These include allowing third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent prosecution and
additional procedures to atack the validity of a patent by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings. After March 2013,
under the Leahy-Smith Act, the U.S. wransitioned to a first inventor o file system in which, assuming that the ather statutory requirements are met, the first inventor to file a patent application will be
entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects,

The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of
patent owners in certain situations. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U5, courts, the USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations
governing patents could change in unpredictable wavs that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.

The U.S. federal government retains certain rights in inventions produced with its financial assistance under the Bavh-Dole Act. The federal government retains a nonexclusive,
nontransferable, imevocable, paid-up license for its own benafit. The Bavh-Dole Act also provides federal agencies with “march-in rights”, March-in rights allow the government, in specified
circumstances, to require the contractor or successors in title w the patent to grant a nonexclusive, partially exclusive, or exclusive license to a responsible applicant or applicants, If the patent owner
refuses to do so, the government may grant the license itself, If, in the future, we co-own or license in technology that is critical to our business that is developed in whale or in part with federal funds
subject to the Bayh-Dale Act, our ability 0 enforce or otherwise exploit patents covering such technology may be adversely affected.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

Patents are of national or regional effect, and filing, prosecuting and defending patents on all of our product candidates throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and the
laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. As such, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries
outside the LS., or from selling or importing products made using our inventions in and into the U.S, or ather jurisdictions, Further, the legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain
developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to pharmaceuticals or hiologics, which could make it
difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. In addition, cenain jurisdictions do not protect w the same
extent or at all inventions that constitute new methods of teatment. As such, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the U5, or from selling
or importing products made using our inventions in and into the U.S. or other jurisdictions, Furthermore, certain foreign and developing countries, including China and India, have compulsory
licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In those countries, we and our licensors may have limited remedies if patents are infringed or if we or
our licensors are compelled to grant a license ta a third party, which could materially diminish the value of those patents. This could limit our patential revenue opportunities. Accordingly, our efforts
1o enforce our intellectual propernty rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellecwal property that we develop or license,

We may rely on trade secret and proprietary know how which can be difficult to trace and enforce, and if we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and
competitive position would be harmed.

In addition to seeking patents tor some of our technology and product candidates, we may also rely on wade secrets, including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary
information, to maintain sur competitive position. Elements
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of our product candidate, including processes for their preparation and manufacture, may involve proprietary know-how, information, or technology that is not covered by patents, and thus tor these
aspects we may consider trade secrets and know-how to be our primary intellectal property. Any disclosure, either intentional or unintentional, by our employees, the emplovees of third parties with
whom we share our facilities or third party consultants and vendors that we engage to perform research, clinical trials or manufacturing activities, or misappropriation by third parties (such as through
a cybersecurity breach) of our trade secrets or proprietary information could enable competitors to duplicate or surpass our technological achievements, thus eroding our competitive position in our
market.

Trade secrets and know-how can be difficult to protect, We require our employees to enter into written employment agreements containing provisions of confidentiality and obligations to
assign to us any inventions generated in the course of their employment. We further seek to protect our potential trade secrets, proprietary know-how, and information in part, by entering into non-
disclosure and confidentiality agreements with parties who are given access to them, such as our corporate collaborators, outside scientific collaborators, contract research ornganizations, contract
manufacturers, consultants, advisors and ather third parties. With our consultants, contractors, and outside scientific collaborators, these agreements typically include invention assignment obligations.
While it is our policy to require our employees and contraciors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property o execute agreemenis assigning such intelleciual
property [o us, we may be unsuccessful in executing an enforceable agreement with each party who in fact conceives or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. Despite these efforts,
Our assignment agreements may not be self-executing and any of these parties may breach the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able
to ohtain adequate remedies for such breaches, Enforcing a claim thae a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable, [F we fail in bringing or defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. Such an outcome could matenally, and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and
distraction to management and other employees. The assignment risks of this paragraph could also pertain to any intellectual property licensed-in to us. In addition, some courts inside and outside the
U.5. are less willing or unwilling to protect rade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, we would have no
right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently developed by a competitor or other third party,
our competitive position would be harmed,

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed confidential information of third parties.

‘We employ individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or biopharmaceutical companies, or at research instivutions. Although we seek o protect our ownership of
intellectual property rights by ensuring that our agreements with our employees, collaborators, and other third parties with whom we do business include provisions requiring such parties to assign
rights in inventions to us, we may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants or independent contractors have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed confidential information of
our employees” former emplovers or other thind parties, We or our licensors may also be subject w claims that former employers or other third parties have an ownership interest in our patents.
Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. There is no guarantee of success in defending these claims, and if we or our licensors fail in defending any such claims, in addition 1o
paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Even if we are successful, litigation could
result in substantial cost and be a distraction (o our management and other employees.

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats to our competitive advantage.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellecrual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations, and may not adequately protect our business
or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example:

+  others may be able to make product candidates that are similar to ours but that are not covered by the claims of the patents that we own or have exclusively licensed;

«  weor our licensors or future collaborators might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we own or have
exclusively licensed;

»  weorour licensors or future collaboratars might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our inventions;
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others may independently develop similar or alternative technolegies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual propeny rights;
it is possible that our pending patent applications will not lead w issued patents;
issued patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may be held invalid or unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors;

our competitors might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the information learned from such activities to develop
competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets;

we cannot ensure that any of our patents, or any of our pending patent applications, if issued, or those of our licensors, will include claims having a scope sufficient 1o protect our
product candidates;

we cannot ensure that any patents issued to us or our licensors will provide a basis for an exclusive market for our commercially viable product candidates or will provide us with any
competitive advantages;

the Supreme Court of the U.S., other U.S. federal courts, Congress, the USPTO or similar foreign authorities may change the standards of patentability and any such changes could
narrow or invalidate, or change the scope of, our or our licensors™ patents;

patent terms may be inadequate o protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adequate amount of tme;

we cannot ensure that cur commercial activities or product candidates will not infringe upon the patents of others;

we cannot ensure that we will be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates on a substantial scale, if approved, before the relevant patents that we own or license expine;
we may choose not to file a patent in order to maintain certain trade secrets or know=-how, and a third party may subsequently file a patent covering such intellectual property;

we may not develop additional proprietary wechinologies that are patentable; and

the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business,

Should any of these evens occur, they could significanty harm our business, resulis of operations and prospects.

Patent terms may be inadeguate to protect our competitive position on our product condidates ond preclinical programs for an adeguate amount of time,

Patent rights are of limited duration. In the U.S., if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the nawral expiration of a patent is generally 20 yvears from its earliest U.5. non-provisional filing

date. Various extensions may be available, but the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. A patent term extension based on regulatory delay may be available in the U5, However,
only a single patent can be extended for each marketing approval, and any patent can be extended only once, for a single product. Moreover, the scope of protection during the period of the patent
term extension does not extend 1o the full scope of the claim, but instead only to the scope of the product as approved. Laws governing analogous patent term extensions in foreign jurisdictions vary
widely, as do laws goveming the ability to obtain multiple patents from a single patent family, Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product
candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such product candidates are commercialized. Even if patents covering our product candidates are obtained, once the
patent life has expired for a product, we may be open o competition from biosimilar or generic products. Additionally, we may not receive an extension if we fail to apply within applicable deadlines,
fail to apply prior to expiration of relevant patents or otherwise fail w satisfy applicable requirements. If we are unable to ohtain patent term extension or restoration, or the term of any such extension
is less than we request, the period during which we will have the right to exclusively market our product will be shortened and our competitors may obtain approval of competing products following
our patent expiration, and our revenue could be reduced, possibly materially.

Risks Related to Government Regulation
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Cur industry is highly regulated by the FDA and parable foreign latory agencies. We must comply with extensive, sirictly enforced regulatory requirements to develop, obtain, and
maintain marketing approval for any of our product candidates.

Any product candidates we develop and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy,
recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, adventising, promotion, sale, and diseribution are very heavily regulated. We have not received approval to market any product candidates from regulatory
authorities in any jurisdiction. We have only limited experience in filing and supporting the applications necessary o gain marketing approvals and expect to rely on third-pany contract research
arganizations to assist us in this process, Securing FDA or comparable foreign regulatory approval such as a marketing authorization from the European Commission or the competent authorities of
the individual EU Member States, requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s
safety and efficacy for its inended use, Securing regulatory approval alse requires the submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing
facilities by, the relevant regulatary authority. It takes years 1o complete the testing of a new drug and development delays and/or failure can occur at any stage of testing. Any of our present and
future clinical trals may be delayed, halted, not authorized, or approval of any of our products may be delayed or may not be obrained due to any of the following:

+ any preclinical study or clinical trial may fail to produce safety and efficacy results satisfactory to the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities;
+  preclinical and clinical data can be interpreted in different ways, which could delay, limit or prevent marketing appraval;

+  negative or inconclusive results from a preclinical study or clinical wrial or adverse evenis during a clinical wial could cause a preclinical study or clinical trial wo be repeated or a
development program to be terminated, even if other studies or trials relating to the development program are ongoing or have been completed and were successful;

+  the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities can place a clinical hold on a trial if, among other reasons, it finds that subjects enrolled in the trial are or would be exposed 1o an
unreasonable and significant risk of illness or injury;

+  the facilities that we utilize, or the processes or facilities of third-party vendors, including without limitation the contract manufacturers who will be manufacturing drug substance and
drug product for us or any potential collaborators, may not satisfactorily complete inspections by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities; and

+  we may encounter delays or rejections based on changes in FDA regulations, standards or policies or the regulations, standards or policies of comparable foreign regulatory avthorities
during the period in which we develop a product candidate or the period required for review of any final marketing approval before we are able to market any product candidaze,

In addition, information generated during the clinical wrial process is susceptible o varying interpretations that could delay, limit, or prevent marketing approval at any stage of the
approval process.

Moreover, early positive preclinical or clinical trial vesults may not be replicated in later clinical wials. As more product candidates within a particular class of drugs proceed through
clinical development to regulatory review and approval, the amount and type of clinical data that may be required by regulatory authorities may increase or change. Failure to demonsirate adequately
the quality, safety and efficacy of any of our product candidates would delay or prevent marketing approval of the applicable praduct candidate, We cannot assure you thae if clinical trials are
completed, either we or our potential collaborators will submit applications for required authorizations to manufacture or market potential products or that any such application will be reviewed and
approved by appropriate regulatory authorities in a timely manner, if at all. Changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes
or regulations, or changes in regulatory review for each submitied product application, may cause delavs in the approval or rejection of an application.
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Changes in healthcare law and implementing requlations, as well as changes in healthcare policy, may impact our business in ways that we cannot currently predict, and may have a significant
adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

In the U.S. and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and continue to be, several legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding the healthcare system that could
prevent or delay marketing approval of product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities, impact pricing and reimbursement and affect our ability to profitably sell any product
candidates for which we obtain marketing approval, Among palicy makers and payers both federally and on the state level in the U.5. and elsewhere, including in the European Union, there is
significant interest in promoting changes in healthcare systems with the stated goals of containing healthcare costs, improving quality and/or expanding access, In the U5, the pharmaceutical
industry has been a particular focus of these efforts and has been significamtly affected by major legislative initiatives,

The Affordable Care Act substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by bath the government and private insurers, and significantly impacts the U.S, pharmaceutical industry.
The Affordable Care Act, among other things: (i) introduced a new average manufacturer price definition for drugs and biologics that are inhaled, infused, instilled, implanted or injected and not
generally dispensed through retail community pharmacies; (i) increased the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and expanded rebate
liability from fee-for-service Medicaid utilization o include the utilization of Medicaid managed care organizations as well; (i) established a branded prescription drug fee that pharmaceutical
manufacturers of branded prescription drugs must pay to the federal government; (iv) expanded the list of covered entities eligible o participate in the 3408 drug pricing program; (v) established a
new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 70% (increased from 50% in 2019) point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand
drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D (which, under the TRA, will be replaced by
a new manufacturer discount program starting in 2025); (vi) expanded eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs by, among other things, allowing states to offer Medicaid coverage to additional
individuals and by adding new mandatory eligibility cavegories for individuals with income at or below 133% of the federal poverty level, thereby potentially increasing manufacturers” Medicaid
rebate liability; (vii) created a licensure framewaork for follow on bislogic products; and (viii) established a Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation, CMMI, at the CMS 1o test innovative
payment and service delivery models 1o lower Medicare and Medicaid spending, potentially including prescription drug spending.

Since its enactment, there have been judicial challenges to certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act, as well as efforts by Congress to modify, and agencies to alter the implementation
of, certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act. For example, Congress eliminated, starting January 1, 2019, the tax penalty for not complying with the Affordable Care Act's individual mandate to
carry health insurance Congress eliminated, starting January 1, 2019, the tax penalty for not complying with the Affordable Care Act’s individual mandate to carry health insurance. Further. the
Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, among other things, amended the Affordable Care Act, effective January 1, 2019, o increase from 50 percent to 70 percent the point-of-sale discount that is owed by
pharmaceutical manufacturers who participate in Medicare Part D to close the coverage gap in most Medicare drug plans, commonly referred o as the “donut hole.” In the future, Congress may
consider other legislation 1o modify elements of the Affordable Care Act or other health care reform measures, agencies may further alter their implementation of elements of the Affordable Care Act
or other such measures, and other judicial challenges to elements of the Affordable Care Act or other such measures may be brought. The extent to which any such changes may impact our business
or financial condition is uncertain.

It is possible that the ACA, as currently enacted or may be amended in the future, as well as other healthcare reform measures including those that may be adopted in the future, may result
in more rigorous coverage criteria, and less favorable payment methodologies, or ather downward pressure on coverage and payment and the price that we receive for any approved product, Any
reduction in reimbursement or restriction on coverage under Medicare or ather government programs may result in a similar reduction or restriction by private payers.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. These changes include aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of
up to 2% per fiscal year pursuant to the Budget Control Act of 2001 and subsequent laws, which went into effect on April 1, 2013, Subsequent legislation extended the 2% reduction, generally to
2031, Sequestration is currently set at 2% and will increase to 2.25% for the first hall of fiscal year 2030, w 3% for the second half of liscal yvear 2030, and w0 4% for the remainder of the
sequestration period that lasts through the first six months of fiscal year 2031, ATRA among other things, also reduced Medicare payments o several types of providers, including hospitals, imaging
centers and cancer treatment centers, and increased the state of limitations period for the government (o recover overpayments o providers from three wo five years. New laws may result in
additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding, which may materially adversely atfect customer demand and affordability for our products and related services and, accordingly, the
results of our financial operations. Additional changes that may affect our
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business include the expansion of new programs such as Medicare payment for performance initiatives for physicians under the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (*MACRA")
which first affected physician payment in 2019, It is unclear how the introduction of the Medicare quality payment program will impact our business.

The TRA introduces several changes to the Medicare Part D benefit, including a limit on annual out-of-pocket costs and a change in manufactrer lability under the program which could
negatively affect the profitability of our product candidates. The IRA sunsets the current Part [¥ coverage gap discount program starting in 2025 and replaces it with a new manufactuver discount
program. Failure o pay a discount under this new program will be subject tw a civil monetary penalty. In addition, the IRA establishes a Medicare Part B inflation rebate scheme effective January
2023 and a Medicare Part D inflation rebate scheme effective Ociober 2022, under which, generally speaking, manufacturers will owe rebates if the price of & Part B or Part D drug increases faster
than the pace of inflation. Failure o timely pay a Part B or D inflation rebate is subject to a civil monetary penalty. The IRA also creates a drug price negotiation program under which the prices for
Medicare units of certain high Medicare spend drugs and biologicals without generic or biosimilar competition will be capped by reference to, among other things, a specified non-federal average
manufacturer price starting in 2026, Failure o comply with requirements under the drug price negotiation program is subject w an excise tax and/or a civil monetary penalty. This or any other
legislative change could impact the market canditions for our producis,

There has been heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which drug manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which have resulted in several Congressional
inquiries and proposed bills and initiatives, as well as state efforts, designed to, among other things, bring more ransparency to product pricing, review the relationship between pricing and
turer patient programs, and reform government program reimbursement methodologies for drug products. Individual states in the U5, have become increasingly active in passing legislation
and implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical and bilogical product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access
and marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures.

‘We expect that these and other healthcare reform measures in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and lower reimbursement, and in additional downwand pressure on
the price that we receive for any approved product. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government-funded programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private
payers. The implementation of cost containment measures or other healthcare reforms may hinder us in generating revenue, attaining profitability or commercializing our drogs, once marketing
approval is obtained.

Im the European Union, coverage and reimbursement status of any product candidates for which we obtain regulatory approval are provided for by the national laws of EU Member States,
The requirements may differ across the EU Member States. In markets outside of the U5, and the European Union, reimbursement and healthcare payment systems vary significantly by country, and
many countries have instituted price ceilings on specific products and therapies. Also, at national level, actions have been taken to enact transparency laws regarding payments berween
pharmaceutical companies and health care professionals,

‘We cannit predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action in the U.5., the European Union or any other
Jjurisdiction. If we or any third parties we may engage are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements of the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we or such third parties are
not able to maintain regulatory compliance, our product candidates may lose any regulatory approval that may have been obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Our employees, independent contractors, clinical wriol investi CROs, ¢ I vendors and any potentiol commercial partners may engage in misconduct or other improper activities,
including non-compliance with regulatory dards and requil tts and insider trading.

‘We are exposed to the risk of fraud or other misconduct by our employees, clinical trial investigators, CROs, consultants, vendors and any potential commercial partners. Misconduct by
these parties could include intentional, reckless andfor negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities wo us that violates: (i) FDA laws and regulations or those of comparable foreign
regulatory authorities, including those laws that require the reporting of true, complete and accurate information, (i) manufaciuring standards, (iii) federal and state health and data privacy, security,
fraud and abuse, government price reporting, transparency reporting requirements, and other healthcare laws and regulations in the U.S, and abroad or (iv) laws that require the troe, complete and
accurate reporting of financial information or data. Specifically, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent
fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promation, sales
commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Activities subject to these laws could also invalve the improper use or misrepresentation of information obtained in the
course of clinical trials, creation of fraudulent data in preclinical sudies or clinical trials or illegal misappropriation of
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drug product, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and
the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other
actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with such laws or regulations, We adopted a code of conduct applicable to all of our employees immediately following the completion of our
PO, as well as a disclosure program and other applicable policies and procedures, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and
prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged rsks or losses or in protecting us from govemmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemiming from a
failure 1o comply with these laws or regulations, Additionally, we are subject tw the risk that a person or government could allege such fraud or other misconduct, even if none occurred. 1f any such
actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of
significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, disgorgements, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid, other U.5. federal healthcare programs
or healthcare programs in other jurisdictions, integrity oversight and reporting obligations to resolve allegations of non-compliance, individual imprisonment, other sanctions, contractual damages,
reputational harm, diminished profits and future eamings, and curtailment of our operations,

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and requlations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could have a material adverse effect on the
success of our business,

‘W, and the third parties with whom we share our facilities, are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those goveming laboratory
procedures and the handling, use, storage, weatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes, Each of our operations involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials, including
chemicals and biological and radioactive materials. Each of our operations also produce hazardous waste products, We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and
wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials. We could be held liable for any resulting damages in the event of contamination or injury resulting from the use
of hazardous materials by us or the third parties with whom we share our facilities, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal
fines and penalties.

Although we maintain general liability insurance as well as workers” compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting
from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for enviconmental liability or woxic tort claims that
may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological, hazardous or radioactive materials.

In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These current or future laws and regulations
may impair our research and development, Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Further, with respect to the operations of our current and any future third-party contract manufacturers, it is possible that if they fail to operate in compliance with applicable
environmental, health and safety laws and regulations or properly dispose of wastes associated with our products, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, suffer reputational harm or
experience a disruption in the manufacture and supply of our product candidates or products. In addition, our supply chain may be adversely impacted if any of our third-party contract manufacturers
become subject to injunctions or other sanctions as a result of their non-compliance with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. For example, we source our AP for TP-03, lotilaner,
from Elanco, who sources through a single source supplier. If such manufacturers become subject to such injunctions or sanctions due to non-compliance, it could delay, prevent or impair our
development or commercializarion efforts, which could have an adverse effect on our business,

We will be subject to federal, state and foreign healthcare and abuse laws and false claims laws, as well as information privacy and security laws and regulations. If we are unable to comply, or
have not fully complied, with such lows, we could face sub: tial penalties, criminal sanctions, contractual domages, reputational harm, and diminished profits and future earnings.

ECPs and third-party payers will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any future product candidates we may develop and any product candidates for which we
obtain marketing approval. Our arrangements with ECPs, patients, third-party payers and customers may expose us 1o broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations
that may affect our business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we would market, sell and distribute our products. As a biopharmaceutical company, federal and stae
healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to frawd and abuse are applicable o our business and may affect our ability w operate. These laws are further described in the section ttled “Business -
Government Regulation - Other Reguolatory Matters.”
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Wi have entered into consulting and scientific advisory board arrangements with physicians and other ECPs, including some who could influence the use of our product candidates, if
approved. Because of the complex and far-reaching nature of these laws, regulatory agencies may view these transactions as prohibited arrangements that must be restructured, or discontinued, or for
which we could be subject to other significant penalties. We could be adversely affected if regulatory agencies interpret our financial relationships with providers who may influence the ordering of
and use our product candidates, if approved, to be in violation of applicable laws.

The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform. Various state and federal regulatory and
enforcement agencies continue actively to investigate violations of health care laws and regulations, and the U.S. Congress continues to strengthen the arsenal of enforcement tools. Responding to
investigations can he fime-and resource-consuming and can divert management’s attention from the business. Any such investigation or settlement could increase our costs or otherwise have an
adverse effect on our business.

Effons to ensure that owr collaborations or business arrangements with third parties, and our business gencrally, comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will likely be
costly. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse
or other healthcare laws and regulations. 1f our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other current or future governmental laws and regulations that may apply o us, we
may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, individual imprisonment, exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such as
Medlicare and Medicaid, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future eamings, additional reporting obligations and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity
agreement or other agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could substantially disrupt our operations.

Inademm:z funding for the FDA and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being
1 or commercialized in a timely or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could
negnrme]y impact our business,

‘The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, ability to hire and retain key
personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a result, In addition, government
funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activities, is subject wo the political process, which is
inherently fluid and unpredictable.

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new products to be reviewed andfor approved by necessary government agencies, which would adversely
affect our business. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process our regulatory submissions, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Further, in our operations as a public company, future government shutdowns could impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary
capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.

We are subject w certain U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti ey I
violations.

ing, export control, senctions, and other trade laws and regulations, We can foce serious consequences for

1.5, and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, expon control, sanctions, and other trade laws and regulations, which we collectively refer wo as Trade Laws, prohibit, among
other things, companies and their employees, agents, clinical research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors, and other partners from authorizing, promising, offering,
providing, soliciting, or receiving directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from recipients in the public or private sector. Yiolations of Trade Laws can result
in substantial criminal fines and civil penalties, imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and ather
consequences, We have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities, and other organizations. We also expect our
non-L1.5, activities to increase over time, We expect to rely on third parties for research, preclinical studies, and clinical trials andior to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations, and
other marketing approvals, We can be held liable for the comupt or other illegal activities of our personnel, agents, or partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such
activities,
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Even if we receive marketing approval for a product candidate, we will be subject to ongoing requlatory obligations and continued requlatory review, which may result in significant additional
expense and subject us to resirictions, withdrawal from the market, or penalties if we fail to comply with applicable requlotory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with our
product candidates, when and if approved.

Obraining coverage and reimbursement approval for a product from a government or other third-party payer is a time-consuming and costly process that could require us to provide
supporting scientific, clinical and cost effectiveness data for the use of our products to the payer. There may be significant delays in obiaining such coverage and reimbursement for newly approved
prodlucts, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for which the product is approved by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory autharities. Moreaver, eligibility for coverage and
reimbursement does not imply that a praduct will be paid for in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, intellectual property, manufacture, sale and distribution
expenses, Interim reimbursement levels for new products, if applicable, may also not be sufficient w cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement rates may vary according to the
use of the product and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost products and may be incorporated into existing pavments for other
services. Net prices for products may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payers, by any future laws limiting drug prices and by any
future relaxation of laws that presently restrict impents of product from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the U5,

There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. Third-party payers often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and
payment limitations in setting reimbursement policies, but also have their own methods and approval process apart from Medicare coverage and reimbursement determinations.

Coverage and reimbursement by a third-party payer may depend upon a number of factors, including the thind-pany payer’s determination that use of a product is:
+  acovered benefit under its health plan;
+  safe, effective and medically necessary;
*  appropriate for the specific patient;
»  cost-effective; and
«  neither experimental nor investigational,

Wi cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for any product that we commercialize and, if coverage and reimbursement are available, what the level of reimbursement will be.
Ohbtaining reimbursement for our products may be particularly difficult because of the higher prices often assoclated with branded therapeutics and therapeutics administered under the supervision of
a physician. Our inability to prompily obtain coverage and adeguate reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payers for any approved products that we develop could have a
material adverse effect on our operating resules, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and our overall financial condition,

Reimbursement may impact the demand for, and the price of, any product for which we obtain marketing approval. Assuming we obtain coverage for a given product by a third-party
payer, the resulting reimbursement payment rates may not be adequate or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Patients who are prescribed medications for the reatment of
their conditions, and their prescribing physicians, generally rely on third-party payers to reimburse all or pan of the costs associated with those medications. Patients are unlikely to use our products
unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to cover all or a significant portion of the cost of our products, Therefore, coverage and adequate reimbursement is critical to new product
acceptance. Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and economic standards that disfavor new products when more established or lower cost therapeutic alternatives are already available or
subsequently become available.

W expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our product candidates due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health
maintenance organizations, and additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particulary prescription medicines, medical devices and surgical procedures and
ather treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the successful commercialization of new products. Further, the adoption and implementation of
any future governmental cost containment or other health reform initiative may result in additional downwarnd pressure on the price that we may receive for any approved product.




Outside of the U.S., many countries require approval of the sale price of a product before it can be marketed and the pricing review period only begins after marketing or product licensing
approval is granted. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some of these countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical rial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product
candidate to other available therapies. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a
result, we might obtain marketing approval for a product candidate in a panicular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy
time periods, and negatively impact the revenue, if any, we are able to generate from the sale of the product in that country, Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ahility to recoup our investment
in one or more product candidates, even if such product candidates obtain marketing approval.

Failure to comply with health and data protection laws and regulations could lead o govmmemenfommemacﬂons {which could include civil or criminal penalties), significant fines, private
litigation, and/or ady publicity and could negatively affect our financial condi results and b
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We and any potential collaborators may be subject to federal, state, and foreign data protection laws and regulations (i.e., laws and regulations that address privacy and data security). In
the U.5., numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including federal health information privacy laws, state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws, and tederal and
state consumer protection laws (e.g., Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”™), that govern the collection, use, disclosure, and protection of health-related and other personal
information could apply to our operations or the operations of our collaborators, In addition, we may obtain health information from third parties (including research institutions from which we obtain
clinical trial data) that are subject 1 privacy and security requirements under HIPAA. Though we are not directly subject to HIPAA information privacy and security provisions — ather than with
respect to providing certain employee benefits, depending on the facts and circumstances, we could be subject o criminal penalties if we knowingly receive individually identifisble health
information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA.

Furthermore, states are constantly adopting new laws or amending existing laws, requiring attention to frequently changing regulatory requirements. For example, California has enacted
the CCPA, which created new transparency requirements, granted to California consumers (as that term is broadly defined) several new rights with regard their persomal information, and placed
increased privacy and security obligations on entities handling personal data of consumers or households. The CCPA requires covered companies to provide new disclosures w California consumers,
and provides such consumers new ways o opt-out of certain sales of personal information, and allows for a new cause of action for certain data breaches. In addition, in November 2020, California
voters approved the CPRA which introduced significant amendments to the CCPA and established and funded the CPPA. The amendments introduced by the CPRA went into effect on Janoary 1,
2023, and new implementing regulations are expected to be introduced by the CPPA. Failure to comply with the CCPA may result in, among other things, significant civil penalties and injunctive
relief, or potential statutory or actual damages. In addition, California residents have the right to bring a private right of action in connection with certain types of incidents, These claims may result in
significant liability and potential damages. The CCPA could impact our business activities depending on how it is interpreted and exemplifies the vulnerability of our business to not only cyber threats
but also the evolving regulatory environment related to personal data and protected health information. The CCPA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability, and similar laws have
been proposed at the federal level and have been propoesed and enacted in other states,

The Federal Trade Commission (“FTC") also sets expectations for failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal information secure, or failing to provide a level of security
commensurate o promises made to individual about the security of their personal information (such as in a privacy ntice) may constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section
S(a) of the FTC Act. The FTC expects a company’s data security measures (o be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of consumer information it holds, the size and
complexity of its business, and the cost of available tools to improve security and reduce vulnerabilities. Individually identifiable health information is considered sensitive data that merits stronger
safeguards. With respect to privacy, the FTC also sets expectations that companies honor the privacy promises made to individuals about how the company handles consumers” personal information;
any failure to honar promises, such as the statements made in a privacy policy or on a wehsite, may also constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the FTC Act. While we do not
intend to engage in unfair or deceptive acts or practices, the FTC has the power to enforce promises as it interprets them, and events that we cannoet fully control, such as data breaches, may be result
in FTC enforcement. Enforcement by the FTC under the FTC Act can result in civil penalties or enforcement actions.

Activities outside of the U.S. implicate local and national data protection standards, impose additional compliance requirements and generate additional risks of enforcement for non-
compliance. EU Member States and the United Kingdom (*UK"), as well as other jurisdictions where we may in the future operate, have adopted data protection laws and regulations, which impose
significant compliance obligations. For example, the EU General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR") imposes




certain obligations and restrictions on the ability to collect, analyze and transter personal data, including to health-related information from clinical trials. In particular, these obligations and
restrictions concern the consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, the processing details disclosed to the individuals, the sharing of personal data with third parties, the wanster of
personal data out of the EU, contracting requirements (such as with clinical trial sites and vendors), and security breach/incident notifications, Failure to comply with the GDPR may result in
substantial fines (for the most serious breaches of up to EUR 20 million or 4% of the annual global revenue of a noncompliant company, whichever is greater) and other administrative penalties, The
GDPR may increase our responsibility and liability in relation to personal data that we process and we may e required to expend significant capital and other resources to ensure ongoing compliance
with applicable privacy and data security laws, to protect against security breaches and hackers, or w alleviate problems caused by such breaches, This may be onerous and if our efforts to comply
with the GDPR or other applicable EU laws and regulations are not successful, it could adversely affect our business. Recent scrutiny and reevaluation of legal mechanisms to allaw for the transfer of
persanal data from the EEA, Switzerland, or UK ta the U.S. may impact our ahility to transfer personal data or otherwise may cause us to incur significant costs o do so legally. Although there are
legal mechanisms o allow for the wansfer of personal data from the EEA, Switzerland, and the UK to the U.S., uncenainty about compliance with EU data protection laws remains and data protection
authorities from the different EU Member States may interpret the GDPR differently, and guidance on implementation and compliance practices are often updated or otherwise revised, which adds 1o
the complexity of processing personal data in the European Union. Enforcement by EU and UK regulators is generally active, and failure to comply with the GDPR or applicable Member State/UK
local law may result in substantial fines, amongst other things (such as notices requiring compliance within a cerain tmeframe). Further, the UK Government may amend/update UK data protection
law, which may result in changes to our business operations and potentially incur commercial cost.

Additionally, European/UK data protection laws, including the GDPR, generally restrict the wansfer of personal data from the EEA, including the EU, United Kingdom and Switzerland,
1o the U.S. and most other countries (except those deemed to be adequate by the European Commission/UE Secretary of State as applicable) unless the parties o the transfer have implemented
specific safeguards to protect the rransterred personal data. While previously U.5. companies could rely on self-certification to the EU-U.S. and Swiss-1_S. Privacy Shield frameworks administered
by the 1.5, Department of Commerce as one of these safeguards io legitimize transfers from the EU and Switzerland to the US, this has been invalidated by the Court of Justice of the European
Union (“CIEU™), The CJEU found that the Standard Contractual Clauses (“SCCs"), one of the primary safeguards for legitimizing data transtfers, were valid in principle, but placed obligations on the
parties entering into them including to verify whether an adequate level of protection is provided in the recipient jurisdiction, and whether additional measures are required to bring the level of
protection in line with EU standards. Following this decision, the European Data Protection Board issued guidance on how organizations should approach intemational data transfers of GDPR-
covered personal data, including the supplemental measures companies can adopt to help protect against overarching surveillance outside of the EU. In June 2021, the European Commission adopted
a new set of SCCs aimed at enabling lawful transfers of personal data to non-adequate countries outside the EEA, the deadline for the adoption of which was the 27 December 2022, There are also
recent developments regarding data transfers in the UK, which formally approved two mechanisms for transferring UK data overseas and that came into force on 21 March 2022: the International
Data Transfer Agreement or the International Data Transfer Addendum to the SCCs, The UK Information Commissioner s Office also issued guidance on how 1o approach undenaking risk
assessments for wansfers of UK data o non-adequate countries outside the UK.

A lack of valid transfer mechanisms for GDPR-covered data could increase exposure to enforcement actions as described above, and may affect our business operations and require
commercial cost (including potentially limiting our ability to collaborate/work with certain third parties and/or requiring an increase in our data processing capabilities in the EUSUR). Further, the
Ewropean/UK data protection laws (including laws on data transfers as set out above) may also be updated'revised, accompanied by new guidance andior judicialiregulatory interpretations, which
could entail further impacts on our compliance efforts and increased cost.

Failure to comply with ULS, and international data protection laws and regulations could result in government enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penalties),
significant fines, private litigation, and'or adverse publicity and could negatively affect our financial condition, operating results and business. Moreover, clinical trial subjects about whom we or our
potential callaborators obiain information, as well as the providers who share this information with us, may contractually limit our ability w use and disclose the information. Claims that we have
violated individuals' privacy rights, failed w comply with data protection laws, or breached our contractual obligations, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming w
defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business. We cannot assure you that our third-panty service providers with access to our or our customers®, suppliers’, trial patients’
and employees® personally identifiable and ather sensitive or confidential information in relation to which we are responsible will not breach contractual obligations imposed by us, or that they will
not experience data security breaches or attempts thereof, which could have a corresponding effect on our business, including putting us in breach of our obligations under privacy laws and
regulations and/or which could in wm adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. We cannot assure you that our contractual measures and our own privacy and
security- related safeguards will protect us from the risks associated with the third-pany processing, storage and transmission of such information. Furthermore, the laws are not consistent, and
compliance in the event of a widespread data hreach is costly.
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If we are able to successfully commercialize any of our products and if we participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program or other governmental pricing programs, failure to comply with
obligations under these programs could result in additional reimbursement requirements, penaliies, sanctions and fines which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

If we successfully commercialize any of our product candidates, we may participate in the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, the 340B Program, and the VA/FSS program. More details
about these programs are included in the section titled “Business - Government Regulatory - Coverage and Reimbursement™,

1F we fail to comply with any applicable obligations under governmental pricing programs that we participate in, we could be subject 1o significant civil monetary penalties, or other
adverse consequences and those could negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.

Risks Related to Ownership of sur Common Stock
The stock price of our common steck may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:
«  our failure 1o achieve product development or commercialization goals or regulatory approval milestones in the timeframe we announce;
= averall performance of the equity markets;
«  our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;
+  results from owr ongping clinical wials and furare clinical wials with our current and future product candidates or of our competitors;
+  delays in the commencement, enrollment and the ultimate completion of clinical rials;

+  changes in our projected operating results that we provide to the public, our failure 1o meet these projections or changes in recommendations by securities analysts that elect 1o follow
our common stack;

+  regulatory actions with respect to our product candidates;

«  regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. and other countries;

+  the level of expenses related tw future product candidates or clinical development programs;

+  changes in hospital or ECP practices;

+  announcements af acquisitions, strategic alliances or significant agreements by us or by our competitors;

+  developments or disputes concemning patent applications, 1ssued patents or other intellectual property or proprietary rights;
*  recruitment or departure of key personnel;

»  the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry, including conditions resulting from COVID-1%9;

*  vanations in our financial results or the financial results of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

+  financing or other corporate transactions, or inability to obtain additional funding;

+  trading activity by a limited number of stockholders who wogether beneficially own a majority of our outstanding common stock;

’2




*  the expiration of market standoff or contractual lock-up agreements;
+  the size of our market float; and
+  any other factors discussed in this repont,

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue 1o affect the market prices of equity securities of many
biopharmaceutical companies. Stock prices of many hiopharmaceutical companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. In the
past, stockhalders have filed securities class action litigation following periods of market volatility, If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert
respurces and the attention of management from our business and adversely affect our business.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading velume could decline,

The wading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reponts that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business, If securities or industry
analysts cease coverage of us, the rading price for our common stock would be negatively affected. If one or more of the analvsis who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research about our business, our common stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our
common stock could decrease, which might canse our comman stock price and trading volume o decline.

We are an "emerging growth company” and "smaller reporting company "™ and we cannot be ceriain if the reduced reporting reguirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make
our common stock less attractive to investors,

‘We are an emerging growth company as defined in the Jumpstart our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended (the “JOBS Act”) and we intend to take advantage of some of the
exemptions from reporting requirements that are applicable to ather public companies that are not emerging growth companies, including:

+  the option to present only two years of audited financial statements, in addition to any required unandited interim financial statements, with correspondingly reduced “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations” disclosure;

+  not being required ro comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the "Sarbanes Oxley Act");

*  not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement o
the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audic and the financial statements;

«  not being required to disclose certain executive compensation-related items such as the correlation between executive compensation and performance and comparisons of the chief
executive officer’s compensation 1o median employee compensation; and

+  not being required to submit cemain executive compensation matters o stockholder advisory votes, such as "say-on-pay,” "say-on-frequency,” and "say-on-golden parachutes."

The JOBS Act permits an emerging growth company such as us, o take advantage of an extended ransition period 1o comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to
public companies, We have irrevocably elected o opt out of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards as required when they are adopted.

We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. 1f some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result,
there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions uniil we are no longer an emerging
growth company. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) December 31, 2025, the last day of the fiscal vear following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial
public offering, (b) the last day of the fiscal year (a) in which we have wotal annual gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion or (b} in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means
the market value of our commaon stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of




the prior June 30th and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-vear period. 'We are also a smaller reporting company as defined in
the Exchange Act. We may continue to be a smaller reporting company even after we are no longer an emerging growth company. We may take advantage of certain of the scaled disclosures available
o smaller reporting companies and will be able to take advantage of these scaled disclosures for so long as our voting and non-vating common stock held by non-affiliates is less than $250.0 million
measured on the last business day of our second fiscal guarter, or our annual revenue is less than $100.0 million during the most recently completed fiscal vear and our voting and non-vating commaon
stock held by non-affiliates is less than $700.0 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal guarter.

Investors may find our common stock less attractive to the extent we rely on the exemptions and relief granted by the JOBS Act. If some investors find our commaon stock less attractive
as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our commoen stock and our stock price may decline or become more valatile,

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause the price of our common stock to fall.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of cur common stock in the public market could cause our stock price o decline. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in
the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend 1o sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common
stock. As of March 9, 2023, we had 26,731,663 shares of comman stock outstanding. Shares held by directors, executive officers and other affiliates will be subject to volume limitations under Rule
144 under the Securities Act and various vesting agreements,

‘W have registered and intend 1o continue (o register all shares of common stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plans. Once we register these shares, they can be freely
sald in the public market upon issuance, subject 1o volume limitations applicable 1w affiliates. We cannot predict what effect, if any, sales of our shares in the public market or the availability of shares
for sale will have on the market price of our common stock. However, future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including shares issued upon exercise of our
outstanding warrant or options, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. We also expect that significant additional capital may be
needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To raise capital, we may sell common stock, including pursuant to our ATM program, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or
maore transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time to time. For example, in May 2022 we sold 5.9 million shares of our common stock for gross proceeds of approximately $79.5
million (before underwriting discounts, commissions and other estimated offering expenses). To the extent that additional capital is raised through the sale and issuance of shares or other securities
convertible into shares, our stockholders will be diluted. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of
our commen stock,

The concentration of our stock ownership will likely limit your ability to influence corporate matters, including the ability to influence the outcome of director elections and other matters
requiring stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2022, our officers, directors and the holders of more than 5% of our outstanding stock collectively beneficially own approximately 53% of our common stock. As a
result, these stockholders, acting together, will have significant influence owver all matters that require approval by our stockholders, including the election of directors and approval of significant
corporate transactions. Corporate actions might be taken even if other stockhaolders oppose them, This concentration of ownership might also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of
control of our company that other stockholders may view as beneficial,

Requirements associated with being a public company will increase our costs significantdy, as well as divert significant company and g attention.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, or the other rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), or any
securities exchange relating to public companies, Compliance with the various reporting and other requirements applicable to public companies requires considerable time and attention of
management and we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. We cannot assure you that we will satisfy our obligations as a public company on a timely basis.

In addition, as a public company, it may be maore difficult or more costly for us te obtain certain types of insurance, including directors” and officers” ability insurance, and we may be
forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. The impact of these events could also make it more




difficult for us to atract and retain qualified personnel to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers,

If we fail to maintein proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired, which could result in sanctions or other penalties
that would harm our business.

‘Wi are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of the Nasdag Stock Market (“Nasdag”). The Sarbanes-Oxley Act
requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and intermal controls over financial reporting. We must perform system and process design evaluation and
testing of the effectiveness of our internal controls aver financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, as required by Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Therefore, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, including through hiring additional financial and accounting personnel, potentially engaging outside
consultants, continue (o assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls
are functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for intemal control over financial reporting, This requires us to incur substantial professional fees and
internal costs to maintain compliance.

We may discover weaknesses in our system of internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that could result in a material misstatement of our financial statements. Cur
intemnal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due w
error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of frasd will be detected.

If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper and effective internal controls over
financial reporting, we may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. 1f that were to happen, our investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information, the
market price of our steck could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities including equivalent foreign authorities.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

‘We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We cumrently intend to retain any future eamings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do
not expect 1o declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future, Our Credit Facility also contains a negative covenant that prohibits us from paying dividends subject to limited exceptions.
Consequently, stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment,

We could be subject to securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities, This risk is especially relevant for us
because biopharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such litdgation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s
attention and resources, which could harm our business.

Our operating results may fluctuate significanty, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and could cause our operating results to fall below expectations or our guidance.

Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future, which makes it difficuli for us to predict our future operating results. Our operating resulis may
fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are cutside of our control and may be difficult to predict, including the following:

+  the dming and success or failure of clinical wrials for our product candidates or competing product candidates, or any other change in the competitive landscape of our industry, including
consolidation among our competitors or partners;

= our ahility to successfully recruit patients for preclinical studies and clinical trials, and any delays caused by difficulties in such recruitment efforts;
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*  our ability to obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, and the timing and scope of any such approvals we may receive;

*  the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development activities relating o our product candidates, which may change from time to time;

+  the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, which may vary depending on the quantity of production and the terms of our agreements with manufacturers;
«  our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel;

+  expenditures that we will or may incur to develop additional product candidates;

*  the level of demand for our product candidates should they recelve approval, which may vary significantly;

+  the risk/benefit profile, cost and reimbursement policies with respect to our product candidates, if approved, and existing and potential future drugs that compete with our product
candidates;

«  the changing and volatile U.5., European and global economic environments, including the impact of current or future health pandemics; and

+  future accounting proncuncements or changes in our accounting palicies.

The cumulative effects of these factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating results. As a result, comparing our operating resulis on
a periotd-to-pericd basis may not be meaningful. This varishility and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or investors for any
period. If vur revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may provide o the markey, or if the forecasts we provide (o the market are
below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly
stated guidance we may provide.

Del law and provisions in our ded and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby
depressing the trading price of our common stock.

Cur status as a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in contral by prohibiting us
from engaging in a busi combination with an | d stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested siockholder, even if a change of contral would be beneficial
1o our existing stockholders. In addition, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company
more difficult, including the following:

+  aclassified hoard of directors with three-vear staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

*  the ability of our board of directors o issue shares of preferred stock and o determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, withour
stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquiror;

+  the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which
prevents stockholders from being able o fill vacancies on our board of directors;

+  aprohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our stockholders;

*  the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by a majority vote of our entire board of directors, the chairman of our board of directors or our chief
executive officer, which could delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or o take action, including the removal of directors;




*  the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class, o
amend the provisions of our amended and restated centificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquiror o effect such
amendments to facilitate an unsolicited wkeover atempt; and

+  advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply 1o nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting,
which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquiror's own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particolar those
awning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of time, A Delaware corporation may opt out of this provision by express provision in its
original certificate of incorporation or by amendment o its certificate of incorporation or bylaws approved by 15 stockholders, However, we have not opted out of this provision.

These and other provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for stockholders or
potential acquirors to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed by our then-current board of directors, including delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy
contest involving our company. The exisience of these provisions could negatively affect the price of sur common stock and limit opportunities for you to realize value in a corporate transaction.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the U.S. federal district courts are the exclusive forums for substantially
all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders' ability to obtain o faverable judicial forum for disputes with us or our di officers or

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive foram for any derivative action or proceeding brought
on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation or our
bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

This provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for
federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal couns have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple
jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our certificate of incorporation will further provide that the U.S. federal district courts
will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions
are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seck 1o bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert
the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our cenificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other
jurisdictions and there can be no assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability o bring a claim in a judicial forum tha it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees
and may discourage these types of lawsuits. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs asseciated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments,

Mane,

Item 2. Properties.

We currently lease approximately 27 807 square feet of office and laboratory space in Irvine, California under certain leases that expire in Tanuary 2024, with a renewal option for a term
of three years. We believe thar this space will be
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sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseeable future and that any additional space we may require will be available on commercially reasonable terms,
Ttem 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Regardless
of putcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us due to defense and senlement costs, diversion of management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and ather factors.

Ttem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures,

Maone.




PART 11
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock has been publicly maded on the Nasdaq under the symbol “TARS” since our IPO on October 15, 2020. Prior to this date, there was no public market for our common
stock,

Holders of Common Stock

As of March 9, 2023, the closing price of our common stock on the Nasdag was $14.91 per share, and there were approximately 30 holders of record of our common stock. The actual
number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees,
This number of holders of record also does not include steckholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common steck and do not anticipate paving cash dividends in the foreseeable future,

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information requived by this item will be comtained in our definitive proxy statement o be filed with the SEC in connection with our Annual Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days
after December 31, 2022 and is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
MNone,

Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering

On October 16, 2020, our Registration Statement on Form 5-1 (File No. 333-249076) (the "Registration Statement™) relating to the initial public offering of our common stock was
declared effective by the SEC. Pursuant to such Registration Statement, we sold an aggregate of 6,325,000 shares of our common stock, which included 825,000 shares sold pursuant to the
underwriters” full exercise of their option to purchase additional shares, at a price of $16.00 per share. The aggregate offering price for shares sold in the offering was $101,2 millien. On October 20,
2020, we closed the sale of such shares, resulting in aggregate cash proceeds to us of $91.7 million, net of underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses paid or payable by us. No
offering expenses were paid or are payable, directly or indirectly, to our directors or officers, w persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or o any of our affiliates. BofA
Securities, Inc., Jefferies LLC and Raymond James & Associates, Inc., LifeSci Capital LLC and Ledenburg Thalman & Ca. Inc., acted as the joint book-running managers of the offering.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our initial public offering as described in the final prospectus, dated October 15, 2020, filed with the SEC on
October 16, 2020, pursuant to Rule 424(h) of the Securities Act,

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchases
None.

Item 6. Reserved




Ttem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financiol condition and results of operations showld be read in conjunction with our “Selected Financial Data ™ and our financial statements
and the related notes to those statements included eisewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains
forward-leoking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from these anticipared in these forword-locking
staternents as a result of many factars, including, but not limited 1o, those discussed under the section titled “Risk Factors™ and elsewhere in this Annual Report on 10-K. See the section titled
“Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements™ elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Our Business

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of therapeutics, starting with eye care. Our lead product candidate, TP-03 (latilaner ophthalmic
solution, 0.25%), is a novel investigational eye drop to treat blepharitis caused by the infestation of Demodex mites, which is referred to as Demodex blepharitis. Blepharitis (“Blephar” is a reference
to evelid and “itis" is a reference to infl ion) is an ophthalmic lid margin disease characterized by inflammation of the evelid margin, redness and ocular iritation, including a specific type of
eyelash dandruff called collarettes, which are pathognomonic for Demodex blepharitis. Poorly controlled and progressive blepharitis can lead wo comeal damage over time and, in exireme cases,
blindness. There may be as high as approximately 25 million people in the U.5. who suffer from Demodex blepharitis.

We designed TP-03 to target and eradicate the root cause of Demodex blepharitis — Demaodex mite infestation. The APT of TP-03, lotilaner, paralyzes and eradicates mites and ather
parasites through the inhibition of parasite-specific GABA-C channels,

We intend to further advance our pipeline with lotilaner AP 1o address several diseases across therapewtic categories in human medicine, including eve care, dermatology, and other
diseases, We are developing product candidates o address targeted diseases with high unmet medical needs, which currently include TP-03 for the potential treatment of MGD, TP-04 for the potential
treatment of rosacea, and TP-05 for potential Lyme disease prophylaxis and community malaria reduction.

Recent Business Highlights
TP-03 D tex Blepharitis:

To date, we have completed seven clinical trials that include a Phase 1 trial, four Phase 2 wials, a Phase 2b/3 Saturn-1 wrial, and a Phase 3 Sawm-2 trial for TP-03 in Demodex blepharitis,
all of which met their primary, secondary and/or certain exploratory endpaints, with the drug well tolerated. In November 2022, we announced that the NDA submission package for TP-03 for the
weatment of Demodex blepharitis was accepted by the FDA, with a PDUFA decision date of August 25, 2023, We helieve TP-03 has the potential to be the first therapeutic approved by the FDA and

become the definitive standard of care for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis.

During 2022, we began the expansion of our commercial organization o support our business growth and the commercial leadership needed for TP-03 commercial launch readiness in the
second half of 2023, We expect this commercial expansion to continue with a meaningful ramp during 2023 as pant of our TP-02 commercial launch-readiness activities,

In March 2021, we executed the China Out-License with LianBio, granting exclusive commercial rights to TP-03 for the weatment of Demodex blepharitis and MGD within the China
Territory. In November 2022, LianBio announced the dosing of their first patient in the TP-03 Phase 3 LIBRA pivotal wial in Chinese patients for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis to support
regulatory approval in China.
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To date, we received contractual cash proceeds from LianBio totaling 80,0 million, representing initial consideration of $15.0 million and $65.0 million for the achievement of specified
milestone events. We also received equity in LianBio as part of our China Out-License, a portion of which remains subject 1 a China-based regulatory vesting provision.

Wi are further eligible to receive:

*  China-based development milestones totaling $25.0 million (includes $2.5 million for a milesione triggered in February 2023);
+  Sales threshold milestones in the China Territory toaling $100.0 million; and
+  Tiered low-to-high teen royalties on the net sales of TP-03 within the China Territory.

TP-04 Rosacea, Galatea Trial:

In March 2023, we initiated the Galatea trial, a Phase 2a trial evaluating TP-04, a novel gel formulation of Iotilaner, for the treatment of rosacea.
TP-05 Lyme Disease. Callisto and Carpo Trials:

In December 2022, we announced positive topline results from the completed Phase 1 Callisto trial and enrollment of the first patient in the Phase Za Carpo wial. The Callisto and Carpo trials
are designed to evaluate TP-03, a novel investipative oral, non-vaccine pharmacological prophylactic for the potential prevention of Lyme disease, The Callisto Phase | trial was & randomized,
double-blind, single and multiple-ascending dose trial that evaluated the safery, tolerability, and PK of TP-05 in healthy subjects. Results from the trial showed that TP-05 was well tolerated with no
dose-related or drug-related serious adverse events. Pharmacokinetic data from the trial demonstrated rapid absorption and an extended half-life of TP-05 that potentially supports a convenient oral
therapy regimen, supporting its potential as a rapid onset, prophylactic therapy for Lyme disease. Additionally, exploratory ex-vivo tick kill modeling uiilizing a serum from TP-05 treated subjects
demonstrated potent, rapid killing of adult and nymph ticks. The Carpo trial, evaluating TP-05 for the potential prevention of Lyme disease in humans, is a randomized, double-blind trial that will
evaluate the efficacy of TP-05 in killing lab grown, non-disease carrying ticks after they have attached to the skin of healthy volunteers, as well as confirm the safety, tolerability, and blood
concentration of TP-05, We expect to report topline data from the Phase Za Carpo trial during the second half of 2023,

We believe TP-05 is currently the only non-vaccine, drug-based, prophylaxis in development that targets the ticks, and potentially prevents Lyme disease transmission, It is designed w
rapidly and durably provide systemic blood levels of lotilaner potentially sufficient w kill infected ticks attached to the human body before they can transmit the Borrelia bacteria that causes Lyme
disease.

Jit Facility. sith I stal and Sili i K

On February 2, 2022 we executed the Credit Facility Hercules Capital and SVB. On January 5, 2023, the Company entered into an amendment to the loan and security agreement, which set a
maximum interest rate, and updated the terms of prepayment under the Credit Facility and other cemain specific conditions (see Note 107).

As of December 31, 2022, the Credit Facility provides for a remaining aggregate principal amount of up to $135.0 million, with tranched availability as follows: $25.0 million upon NDA
submission of TP-03 , $35.0 million upon FDA approval of TP-03, and 575.0 million upon achievement of certain revenue thresholds and other conditions. On March 15, 2023, we made a $5.0
million draw (including SVEB's commitment of $1.25 million) from the $25,0 million tranche that became available upon submission of the NDA.

Capital draws, at our election, are in $5.0 million increments, This credit facility includes a four-year interest only period and is extendable to five vears upon meeting certaln conditions.
There is no warrant coverage to the lenders. .

Follow-On Public Offering:
In May 2022, we completed a follow-on public offering under our effective Form 5-3 shelf registration statement through an initial underwritten sale of 5,600,000 shares of common stock at

a price of $13,50 per share (the “Follow-On Public Offering™). We also granted the underwriters a 3i-day option to purchase up to 840,000 additional shares of common stock at the public offering
price, less discounts and commissions, In June 2022, the underwriters partially exercised this option by purchasing an additional 289,832 shares of common stock at $13,50 per share,
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After giving effect to the exercise of the underwriters’ option, the total number of shares of our common stock sold in the Follow-On Public Offering was 5,889,832 shares which resulted
in total gross proceeds of $79.5 million before underwriting discounts, commissions and other estimated offering expenses for total net proceeds of §74.3 million.

Impact of the COVID-18 Pandemic on our Operations

Efforts to contain the spread of COVID-1% in the U.S. (including in California where our corporate headquarers and laboratory facility are located) and other countries have included
quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and various other government restrictions in order to control the spread of this virus.

We have been carefully monitoring the COVID-19 pandemic as it continues o progress and its potential impact on our business. We have taken imporiant steps to ensure the workplace

safety of our employees when working within our laboratory and administrative offices, or when traveling to our clinical trial sites. We have also implemented a vaccination policy and we may take
further actions as may be required by federal, state or local authorities.

To date, we have been able to continue our key business activities and advance our clinical programs. However, in the future, it is possible that our clinical development timelines and
business plans could be adversely affected. We maintain regular communication with our vendors and clinical sites to appropriately plan for, and mitigate, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on
our operations. Specifically, for our Phase 3 Satumn-2 trial, we have instituted varions protocols for our sites, including increasing health screening of individuals and providing enhanced
comimunication and training to staff regarding COVID-19. However, the ultimate effect from this pandemic on our development timelines for TP-03 and our other product candidates is inherently
uncertain.

See the section titled Risk Facrors in this report for a further discussion of the potential adverse impact of COVID-19 on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Corporate and Financial Overview

We were incorporated as @ Delaware corporation in November 2016, and our headquarters is located in Irvine, California. Since our inception, we have devoted substantially all of our
resources to organizing and staffing our company, acquiring intellectual property, clinical development of our product candidates, building our research and development capabilities, raising capital,
and enhancing our corporate infrastructure,

To date we have financed our operations through private placements of preferred stock, convertible promissory notes, the net proceeds from issuance of common stock in our IPO and
Follow-0n Public Offering, cash proceeds from our China Out-License, and draw-downs from our Credit Facility.

‘We have incurred significant net operating losses in every vear since our inception and expect to continue to incur significant operating expenses and, other than the effect of license fee
revenue and collaboration revenue from the China Out-License, increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future, Our net loss was $62, 1 million and $13.8 million for the vears ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and vear to year and could be substantial, We anticipate that our operating expenses will
increase significantly as we:

+  seek regulatory approvals for TP-03 and other product candidates that successfully complete clinical development, if any;

+  advance the clinical development of TP-03 for the weatment of MGD, TP-04 for the potential treatment of rosacea and TP-05 for potential Lyme prophylaxis;

«  establish our own sales force in the U.5. to commercialize TP-03 upon regulatory approval and our other products for which we obtain such approvals;

»  engage with contract manufacturers to ensure a sufficient supply chiin capacity to provide commercial quantities of any products for which we may obtain marketing approval;

+  maintain, expand and protect our intellectual propemy portfolio;

»  hire additional staff, including clinical, scientific, technical, regulatory, marketing, operations, financial, and other support personnel, to execute our business plan; and
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+  add information systems and personnel to support our product development and potential future commercialization efforts, and to enable us to operate as a public company.

We do not yet have revenue from product sales. Our reported revenue within license fees and collaboration revenue is from our China Out-License; we expect (o report additional revenue
under these captions in future periods.

We do not expect to generate revenues from product sales unless and until we successfully complete clinical development and obtain regulatory approval for a product candidate and
commercially launch such product. Uniil such time as we can generate significant revenue from product sales and achieve profitability, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through private or
public equity or debt financings, or collaborations, strategic alliances, or licensing arrangements with third parties. Adequate funding may not be available to us when needed on acceptable terms, or
at all, If we raise additional funds through collabarations, strategic alliances, or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our intellectual property, fumre
revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. 1F we are unable o raise additional capital or enter into such agreements as and
when needed, we could be forced 1o significanily delay, scale back, or discontinue our product development and/or commercialization plans, which would negatively and adversely affect our financial
condition.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with drog product development, we are unable o accurately predict the timing or amount of increased expenses or when or if
wie will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate revenue from product sales, we may not become profitable. If we fail to become profitable or are unable to sustain
profitability on a continuing basis, then we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels.

As of December 31, 2022, our aggregate cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities was $217.0 million — see "Liguidity and Capital Resources."

Components of our Results of Operations
License Fees and Collaboration Revenue

We recognize license fees and collaboration revenue as identified performance obligations are satisfied or other events occur, specifically related to (i) TP-03 pivotal trial completion and the
delivery of associated clinical data and reports to our licensee, (ii) achievement of certain clinical and regulatory events in the China Territory, (iii) milestone achievement of a drug supply agreement
execution, and (iv) rovalties and milestones from our licensee's product sales of TP-03 in the China Territory.

Cost of License Fees and Collaboration Revenue

Cost of license fees and collaboration revenue includes (i) the proportion of expense recognized under the terms of the China Out-License pavable under the terms of our in-license
agreement for lotilaner, and (ii) valuation adjustments to the equity warrants and LianBio commeon stock for the portion contractually due under our January 2019 in-license agreement.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist of expenses incurred in connection with the development of our product candidates, including:
+  fees paid to third parties to conduct certain research and development activities on our behalf, including under agreements with CROs;
«  payments under licensing agreements, such as our upfront in-license fee for lotilaner;

+  consulting costs and certain allocated payroll and employvee-related expenses (including stock-based compensation and salaries) for personnel engaged in research and development
funcrions;

+  costs related w compliance with clinical regulatory requirements;

*  costs of procuring drug products for use in our preclinical siudies and clinical wials; and




+ facilities expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent of our laboratary.

We expense both internal and external research and development expenses as incurred or as certain upfront or milestone payments become contractually due to licensors upon
achievement of clinical or regulatory events, We recognize external research and development costs based on an evaluation of the progress-to-completion of (i) specific tasks performed or
deliverables provided by CR(s and CMOs and (ii) patient visits for dosing or other follow-up. To estimate period expense for recognition, we use information provided to us by our service providers
and we then apply the comresponding fee schedule.

We track our external research and development expenses on a program-by-program basis, such as fees paid to CROs, CMOs, and research laboratories in connection with our pre-clinical
development, process development, manufacturing and clinical development activities. However, we do not currently track employee time on a program-by-program basis. For the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the vast majority of our external and internal research and development expenses are attributable w our TP-03 program for Demodex blepharitis.

We expect our research and development expenses to increase substantially in the future, as we seek w initiate and progress additional clinical wrials for our product candidates, including
TP-03 for the potential treatment of MGD, TP-04 for the potential treatment of rosacea, and TP-05 for potential Lyme prophylaxis. We expect to complete our clinical programs for these product
candidates, and as appropriate, pursue regulatory approval and prepare for the possible commercialization for each.

General and Adminisirative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related costs including payroll, benefits, and stock-based compensation for our executive, finance, sales and marketing, and
other administrative functions, Other general and administrative expenses include sales and marketing costs o suppon owr anticipated commercial launch, consulting fees, legal services, rent and
other facilities costs, and other general operating expenses not otherwise classified as research and development expenses,

We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase substantially in the future as a result of expanding our operations, including hiring personnel, preparing for potential
commercialization of our product candidates, and additional facklity occupancy costs, as well various incremental costs assoclated with being a public company (including increased legal and
accounting fees, regulatory costs associated with maintaining compliance with the rules of the Nasdag Stock Market and SEC regulations, investor relations activities, directors and officers liability
insurance premiums, and other accompanying compliance and governance costs).,

Other Income (Expenise), Net

Other income (expense], net primarily consists of (1) interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable secunties, (i) interest expense on the Credit Facility executed
in February 2022, and (iii) the change in estimated fair value of the LianBio equity warrants and LianBio common stock we received as part of our China Out-License in March 2021,

Income Tax Benefit (Provision)

Since our inception, we have not recorded any U5, federal or state income tax benefits for the net operating losses we have incurred in each year, or for our earned research and
development tax credits, due to our uncernainty of realizing a benefit from either. As a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, net operating, losses (for U.S. income tax purposes) generated prior
0 Decernber 31, 2007 can be carried forward for up to 20 vears, while net operating losses generated after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely, but are limited o 80% wilization
against taxable income. Clur California net operating losses will begin to expire in 2037. The federal research and development tax credits begin o expire in 2040 unless previously utilized, and the
California credit carryforwards are available indeFinitely.




Results of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 31,
022 021 Change
{in thowisards)
Revenues:
License foes 5 23603 % 53,067 % (29,174)
Collaboration revenue 1,923 3,960 (2.037)
Total revenues 25,816 57,027 {31,211}
Operating expenses:
Cost of license fees and collaboration revenue 955 2,075 (1,120)
Research and development 42,624 41,712 912
General and administrative 44,548 25,397 18,552
Total operating expenses 06,528 69,154 19,344
Lass from operations before other income (expense) and income taxes (62,712) (12,157) (50,555)
Otther income (expense):
Interest income 3,499 A6 3,463
Inderest expense (2,199 — {2,199)
Chher income (expense), net BG [KE]] 158
Unrealized loss on equity investments {268) (591) 323
Change in fair value of equity warrans issued by licensee {501) (QBT) 486
Teutal other income (expense), net 617 {1615) 2,232
Lass from operations before income taxes (G2,095) {13,772) (48,223)
Benefit { provision) for income taxes. 4 (55) 59
Net loss 3 (62,001) % (13,827) § (48,264)

License Fees and Collaboration Revenue

License fees and collaboration revenue was $25.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, This amount represents the contractual milestones achieved or allocated under the China
Cut-License that have been fully or pantially completed by December 31, 2022, These allocated amounts represented the satisfaction of the wransfer of license rights 1o LianBio and the completion of
clinical-related performance obligations.

Wie will recognize additional license fees and collaboration revenue o the extent other events occur, specifically related (o (i) milestone achievement of a drug supply agreement
execution, {ii) milestone achievernent of regulatory events in the China Territory, and (iii) royalties and milestones from our licensee's product sales of TP-03 in the China Territory.

Cost of License Fees and Collaboration Revenue

Cost of license fees and collaboration revenue was $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, This amount relates to our contractual payment abligations to Elanco, in proportion
o our recognized license fee and collaboration revenue in the same period.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased by $0.9 million for the vear ended December 31, 2022 compared to the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due io
(1) $7.3 million of increased payroll and personnel-related costs (including stock-based compensation), for 22 employee additions year-over-year to drive our product development initiatives, (i) $1.0
million of increased regulatory and consulting costs related to our NDA filing for TP-03, (iii) $0.5 million of licensing milestone expense upon enrollment of the fivst patient in the first Phase 2a
Carpo trial for the treatment of Lyme disease in December 2022, and (iv) $0.3 million of increased product manufacturing and formulation costs, These increases were partially offset by $0.8 million
of decreased clinical expenses primarily related to the completion of our Samn-2 wial during the first half of 2022, and other non-recurring contractual costs in the prior year period including (i) a
payment in March
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2021 through the issuance of 187,500 shares of our common stock (then valued at 5.5 million to extend the period of our All Human Uses Elanco Agreement), and (ii) a payment of $2.0 million
under the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement for the commencement of our Saturn-2 trial.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses increased by 519.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared  the year ended December 31, 2021, The increase was primarily due o
(1) $10.4 million of increased payrall and personnel-related costs (including stock-based compensation) for 19 employee additions year-over-year to support our business growth and
commercialization efforts, (i) $9.7 million of increased commercial and market research costs as we continue our commercial expansion and prepare for the potential launch of TP-03 in the second
half of 2023, and (iii) $0.4 million of increased IT application expenses to support the continued growth and expansion of our corporate infrastructure. These increases were partially offset by $1.0
million of decreased professional and legal fees, We expect sales and marketing headcount and associated vendor spend o meaningfully increase during 2023 as part of our TP-03 commercial launch-
related activities.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense], net increased $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, The increase primarily consists of (i) $3.5 million of increased interest income earned on our
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, (i) $0.5 million change in estimated fair value of the LianBio equity warrants we received as part of our China Cut-License in March 2021, and (iii)
$0.3 million change in fair value of the LianBio common stock (after our exercise of the first and second warrant tranches). These increases were partially offset by $2.2 million of interest expense on
the Credit Facility executed in February 2022,

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity
Overview

As of December 31, 2022, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $217.0 million. Since our inception, our operations have been substantially financed by cash
proceeds of private placements of preferred stock, 1PO proceeds from the issuance of commaon stock, China Out-License consideration, Credit Facility draw, and the Follow-On Public Offering of
common stock.

I1P0 and Follow-0On Public Offering

In connection with our October 2020 [PO, we sold 6,325,000 shares of our common stock (inclusive of the full exercise of the underwriters' option o purchase 825,000 shares of common
stock). After deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other related expenses, our IPO proceeds were $31.7 million. In May 2022, we completed the Follow-On Public Offering. We also
granted the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to 840,000 additional shares of commaon stock at the public offering price, less underwriting discounts and commissions. In lune 2022, the
underwriters partially exercised their option to purchase an additional 289,832 shares of common stock at the offering price of §13.50 per share, before underwriting discounts and commissions. After
glving effect to the exercise of the underwriters” option, we sold 5,889,832 shares for total gross proceeds of $79.5 million, before underwriting discounts, commissions and other estimated offering
expenses for total net proceeds received of $74.3 million.

China Oui-License

As of December 31, 2022, we have received $80.0 million of total proceeds in connection with our China Out-License, inclusive of 2022 milestone receipts of $25.0 million for the
achievement of two development milestones. We expect 1o receive an additional $5.0 million during 2023 for the achievement of a development milestone, for cumulative milestone receipts of $85.0
million through December 2023, The remaining $120.0 million of available mileswones under this arrangement will potentially be received upon future regulatory and sales achievements all within the
China Territory.

Credit Facility

In February 2022, we drew $20.0 million from our Credit Facility with Hercules and SVB. Capital draws, at our election, are in $5.0 million increments. This Credit Facility was amended
in January 2023, The Credit Facility, as amended,
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includes an extended period to draw down the ranche associated with the NDA submission, from March 15, 2023 1o March 15, 2024 provided at least 55 million is drawn on or before March 15,
2023 and at least an additional $5 million is drawn on or before Seprember 15, 2023, On March 15, 2023 we made a $5.0 million draw (including SWVB's commimment of $1.25 million) from the $25.0
million tranche associated with the NDA submission of TP-03. This Credit Facility includes a four-vear period of interest-only payments and is extendable for a fifth vear to February 2027 maturity,
upon our expected achievement of required conditions, We currently have no ather financing commitments, such as lines of credit or guarantees,

As of the date of this filing, we have $130.0 million of remaining tranched availability as follows:

*520.0 million wpon the NDA submission of TP-03 in September 2023;
+535.0 million upon FDA approval of TP-03;

+550.0 million upon achievement of certain quarterly revenue thresholds; and
*525.0 million available with lender approval.

Funding Requirements

Cash Runmway

Our operating expenditures carrently consist of research and development costs (including activities within our preclinical, clinical, regulatory, and drug manufacturing initiatives) and
general and administrative costs, Our use of cash is impacted by the timing and extent of payments for each of these activities and other business requirements.

We believe that our cash and investments of §217.0 million as of December 31, 2022 is sufficient to fund our current and planned operations for at least the next twelve manths from the
date of filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These funds, in combination with our expected milestone proceeds through 2025 from ouwr China Out-License of $20.0 million ($5 million of which is
expectad 1o be received during 2023), and total draws from our Credit Facility of $60.0 million or less, are anticipated to fully fund our planned requirements for commercial launch, pipeline
development, operating expenses, and capital expenditures at least into the second half of 2026, We anticipate having at least $60.0 million of availability for new draws under our Credit Facility by
December 2023 and $75.0 million of additional tranched availability through December 2024, The Credit Facility requires interest-only debt service payments that are expected to remain through is
maturity in February 2027 and its remaining tranches are subject to undrawn expiry in either March 2024 or December 2024 (see Note 10).

Our cash runway estimate is predicated on current assumptions for future revenue, operating expenses, and debt availability and may require future adjustments. Accordingly, we may be
required to raise additional capital earlier than we cumently expect based on our cash requirements and market dynamics.

Shelf Registration Statement

On November 1, 2021, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form 5-3 that was declared effective by the SEC on November 5, 2021 (the “Shelf Registration Statement”), which
permitted us o offer up to $300.0 million of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities and warrants in one or more offerings and in any combination, including in units from time to time, We
have approximately $220 million remaining under our Shelf Registration Statement, after giving effect o the Follow-On Public Offering (but inclusive of the sales agreement prospectus described
below). Our Shelf Registration Statement is intended to provide us with additional flexibility to access capital markets for general corporate expenses and acquisitions of complementary products,
technologies, or businesses, We completed the Follow-On Public Offering under this Shelf Registration Statement.

Also, as part of this Shelf Registration Statement, we concurrently filed a sales agreement prospectus covering the sale of up to $100.0 million of our comman stock pursuant to an Open
Market Sale Agreement™ (the “ATM Agreement™) with Jefferies LLC. Through the date of this filing. we have not sold any shares of our common stock under the ATM Agreement.

Other Liquidity Risks

To date, we have not generated revenue from any product sales, though we have recognized revenoe and cash receipis from our China Out-License. We do not expect (o report any
product revenue unless and until we (L) complete development of any of our product candidates; (2) obtain applicable regulatory approvals; and then (3) successfully commercialize our product
candidates or enter into other collaborative agreements for our product candidates with third parties. We do not know with certainty when, or if, any of these items will ultimately occur.
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We expect to incur significant operating losses for the foreseeable future, and for these losses to further increase, as we expand our clinical development programs and as we prepare for
the potential commercial launch of TP-03, We may also encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other currently unknown factors that could adversely affect our
business.

We may require additional capital to fully develop our produce candidates and 1o execute our business strategy. Our requirements of a future capital raise will depend on many factors,
including;

«  the scope, timing, rate of progress and costs of our drug discovery efforts, preclinical development activities, laboratory testing and clinical trials for our product candidates;
+  the number and scope of clinical programs we decide to pursse;

+  the cost, timing and outcome of preparing for and undergoing regulatory review of our product candidates;

+  the scope and costs of development and commercial manufacturing activities;

«  the cost and fiming associated with commercializing our product candidates, if they receive marketing approval;

»  the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates receive marketing approval;

+  the achievement of milestones or occurrence of ather developments that wrigger payments under any collaboration agreements we might have at such time and availability of our Credit
Facility;

= the extent to which we acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies;
+  the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual property-related claims;
+  our ability o establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

+  our efforts to enhance operational systems and our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including personnel w support the development of our product candidates and,
ultimately, the sale of our products, following FDA approval;

*  our implementation of various computerized information systems;
»  impact of health epidemics, including COVID-13, on our clinical development or operations; and
«  the costs associated with being a public company.

A change in the outcome of any of these or ather variables with respect 1o the development of any of our product candidates could significantly change the costs and timing associated
with the development of that product candidate. Furthermore, our operating plans may change in the future, and we will continue w require additional capital to meet operational needs and capital
requirements associated with such operating plans. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Any future debe financing into which we enter
may impose upon us additional covenants that restrict our operations, including limitations on our ability to incur liens or additional debt, pay dividends, repurchase our common stock, make certain
investments or engage in certain merger, consolidation or asset sale transactions. Any debt financing or additional equity that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable o us or our
stockholders.

Adequate funding may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. Our potential inability to raise capital when needed could have a negative impact on our financial condition and
our ability to pursue gur business strategies. If we are unable to raise additional funds as required, we may need to delay, reduce, or terminate some or all development programs and clinical trials, We
may also be required o sell or license our rights o product candidates in cerain werritories or indications that we would otherwise prefer to develop and commercialize owselves, If we are required o
enter into collaborations and other arrangements to address our liguidity needs, we may have to give up certain rights that limir our ability to develop and commercialize cur product candidates or
may have ather terms that are not favorable 1o us or our stockholders, which could




materially and adversely affect our business and financial prospects. See the section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K titled “Risk Factors™ for additional risks associated with our substantial
capital requirements,

Contractual Obligations and Commitmments

We have entered into arrangements that contractually obligate us to make payments that will affect our liguidity and cash flows in future periods. Such arrangements include those related
to the contractual obligations described below:

Lease Commitments

Our operating lease commitments reflect payments due for our active lease agreements in Irvine, California, for adjacent office and laboratory suites which expire on January 31, 2024,
with a renewal option for a term of three vears. As of December 31, 2022, our contractual commitments for our leases were $0.9 million, which will be paid over the lease term.

Purchase Obligations

We enter contracts in the normal course of business with CROs for our clinical trials and CMOs for contract manufacturing activities. As of December 31, 2022, our contraciual
commitments for such obligations were $10.8 million, We also enter contracts with contract manufacturers for pre-clinical and clinical drug supply, regulatory consultants and various other vendors in
operating our business, These contracts generally provide for termination provisions with notice.
Milestone Obligations

Milestone obligations are contingent upon our achievernent of specified development, regulatory and sales milestones. Given the unpredictability of the drug development process, and the
infeasibility of predicting the success of current and future clinical wials and the timing of achievement (if at all) of sales milestones, these values assume that all development, regulatory, and sales
milestones under our Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement and All Human Uses Elanco Agreement are successfully met, Assuming the milestones are met, the total future expected payment value
aggregates $158.0 million,

Summary Statement of Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash and cash equivalents for each of the periods presented below:

Year Ended
December 31,
mz2 2021
{inn thousands)
Net cash (used in) provided by:
Oiperating activities E (49,0300 % 3,748
Investing activities (144,620) (5BE)
Financing activities 93,987 21
Net [decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 3 (99,672} § 3,183

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $49.0 million for the vear ended December 31, 2022, which primarily consisted of our net loss of $62.1 million parially offset by stock-based
compensation of $13.5 million. In the current year, our cash payments to vendors for our operating activities totaled $53.4 million and payroll-related cash payments (inclusive of 2021 bonus payouts)
totaled £19.1 million. In addition, we made payments to Elanco of $1.5 million for future TP-04 and TP-05 licensing milestones (see Note 8(h)). These cash payments were partially offset by $25.0
million of cash received (of the $25.8 million recognized in revenue during 2022) in connection with the China Out-License ansaction.

Net cash provided by operating activities was 53.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was primarily astributable v $55.0 million of cash (of the $57.0 million
recognized in revenue during 2021) in connection with the China Out-License transaction. This cash provided by operating activities was partially offset by cash payments to vendors totaling $42.5
million for our operating activities and payroll-related cash payments (inclusive of 2020 bonus payours) totaling $9.4 million. In addition, we made contractual payments of $4.5 million to Elanca
(see Note B(b)).




Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Met cash used in investing activities was $144.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, and primarily relates o $149.4 million of purchased marketable securities and $0.5 million
of purchased office equipment and leasehold improvements for our laboratory and administrative offices. This cash used in investing activities was partially offset by $5.3 million of procesds
received from sales of our marketable securities,

Net cash used in investing activities was $0.6 million for the vear ended December 31, 2021, which consisted of leasehold improvements for our laboratory and administrative offices and
various purchases of computer hardware/software and office equipment.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $94.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 which consisted primarily of (i) $74.4 million of net proceeds from the issuance of
common stock in our Follow-0n Public Offering, (ii) $20.0 million of proceeds from our Credit Facility, partially offset by $0.9 million of issuance costs, (i) $0.5 million of proceeds from our
emplovee stock purchase plan, and (iv) $0.1 million of proceeds from the exercise of vested emplovee stock options,

Met cash provided by financing activities was 821 thousand for the vear ended December 31, 2021 which consisted of (i) $0.2 million of proceeds from our emplovee stock purchase plan,
and (ii) $0.1 million of proceeds from the exercise of vested employee stock options. These increases in cash were partially offset by payments of 203 million related 1o the deferred offering costs
associated with our Shelf Registration Statement filed on November 1, 2021,

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgments and Use of Estimates

Cur management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and resulis of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with LS.
generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liahilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the repomed expenses incurred during the reporting perinds, Our estimates are based on
our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are ble under the cire es, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of
assets and liabilities that ave not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our financial statements also included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe these critical accounting
policies are the most important to understanding and evaluating our reported financial results.

Revenue Recognition for Out-License Arrangements
Overview

We currently only have the China Out-License arrangement that allows a licensee to market our TP-03 product (representing functional intellectual property) in certain territories for a
certain field of use and for a stated term, The accounting and reporting, of revenue for out-license arrangements requires significant judgment for; (a) identification of performance obligations within
the contract, (h) the contract’s transaction price for allocation to the identified performance obligations (including variable consideration) (<) the stand-alone selling price for each identified
performance obligation, and (d) the timing and amount of revenue recognition in each period.

The China Out-License armangement was analyzed under GAAP to determine whether the promised gonds or services are distinct or must be accounted for as part of a combined
performance obligation. In making these assessments, we consider factors such as the stage of development of the underlying mtellectual property and the capabilities of the customer to develop the
intellecrual propesty on their own, and/or whether the requived expertise is readily available, If the license is not distinct, the license is combined with other promised goods or services as a combined
performance obligation for revenue recognition,

The China Out-License arrangement included the following forms of consideration: (i) non-refundable upfront cash pavment, (i) equity-based consideration, (iii) sales-based rovalties,

(iv) sales-based threshold milestones, (v) drug supply agreement milestone, (vi) development milestone payments, and (vii) regulatory milestone payments. Revenue is recognized in proportion to the
allocated transaction price when (or as) the respective performance obligation is satisfied. We evaluate the
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progress related (o each milestone at each repoming period and, if necessary, adjusts the probability of achievement and related revenue recognition. The measure of progress, and thereby periods over
which revenue is recognized, is subject to estimation by management and may change over the course of the agreement,

Contractual Terms for Receipt of Payments

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service and is the unit of accounting. A contract’s ransaction price is allocated among each distinct
performance obligation based on relative standalone selling price and recognized when, or as, the applicable performance obligation is satisfied.

The contractual terms that establish our right to collect specitied amounts from our customers and that require contemporaneous evaluation and documentation under GAAP for the
corresponding timing and amount of revenue recognition, are as follows:

(1) Upfromt License Fees: We determine whether non-refundable license fee consideration is recognized at the time of contract execution (Le., when the license is transferred to the
customer and customer is able to use and benefit from the license) or over the actual (or implied) contractual period of the out-license. We also evaluate whether it has any other requirements o
provide substantive services that are inseparable from the performance obligation of the license transfer w determine whether any combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point
in time. Upfront payments may require deferral of revenue recognition o a future period until we perform obligations under these arrangements.

(2) Development Milestones: We utilize the most likely amount method to estimate the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled for achievement of development milestones as
these represent variable consideration. For those payments based on development milestones (e.g., patient dosing in a clinical study or the achievement of statistically significant clinical resulis), we
assess the probability that the milestone will be achieved, including its ability to control the timing or likelihood of achievement, and any associated revenue constraint. Given the high degree of
uncertainty around the occurrence of these events, we determined the milestone and other contingent amounts to be constrained until the uncertainty assoclated with these payments is resolved. At
each reporting period, we re-evaluate this associated revenue recognition constraint. Any resulting adjustments are recorded to revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis and reflected in the financial
statements in the period of adjustment.

(3) Regulatory Milestones: We utilize the most likely amount method o estimate the consideration to which it will be entitled and recognizes revenoe in the period regulatory approval
accurs (the performance obligation Is satisfied) as these represent variable consideration. Amounts constrained as variable consideration are included in the transaction price w the extent that it is
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncenainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved, We
evaluate whether the milestones are considered probable of being reached and not otherwise constrained. Accordingly, due to the inherent uncenainty of achieving regulatory approval, associated
milestones are constrained for revenue recognition until achievement.

(4) Royalties: Under the sales-or-usage-based royalty exception we recognize revenue based on the contracteal percentage of the licensee’s sales of products to its customers at the later of
(i) the occurence of the related product sales or (i) the date upon which the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied or partially satisfied. To
date, we have not recognized any royalty revenue from our out-licensing amangements.

(5) Sales Threshold Milestones: Similar to royalties, applying the sales-or-usape-based royalty exception, we recognize revenue from sales threshold milestones at the laer of (i) the
period the licensee achieves the one-time annual product sales levels in their territories for which we are contractually entitled to a specified lump-sum receipe, or (i) the date spon which the
performance obligation to which some or all of the milesione has been allocated has been satisfied or partially satisfied. To date, we have not recognized any sales threshold milestone revenue from
out-licensing arrangements,

We will re-evaluate an out-license transaction price as determined by us in each reporting period as uncertain evenis are resolved and other changes in clrcumstances occur.

R h and Develop Exp

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred or as certain upfront or milestone payments become contractually due to licensors upon the achievement of clinical or regulatory
events. Research and development expenses include internal costs directly atributable to in-development programs, including costs of certain salaries and other employee-related costs (including
stock-based compensation), and costs to conduct nonclinical studies, clinical trials and contract manufacturing activities. We accrue for these costs based on factors such as estimates of the work
completed and in accordance with agreements estahlished with third-party service providers under the service agreements. As it relates to clinical trials, the
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financial terms of these contracts are subject to negotiations which vary from contract to contract and may vesult in payvment flows that do not match the periods over which materials or services are
provided under such contracts. Payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in research and development are capitalized until the goods or services are received. Such payments
are evaluated for current or long-term classification based on when they will be realized. Cur ohjective is to reflect the appropriate expense in our financial statements by matching those expenses
with the period in which the services and effons are expended, We account for these expenses according to the progress of the trial as measured by patient progression and the timing of various
aspects of the trial taking into consideration discussions with applicable personnel and outside service providers. In this manner, our clinical iral accrual is dependent in part upon the timely and
accurate reporting of progress and efforts incurred from CROs, contract manufacturers and other third-party vendors. Although we expect our estimates to be materially consistent with actual amounts
incurred, our understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services performed can vary and may result in our reporting changes in estimates
in any particular period. We make significant judgments and estimates in determining the accrued liabilities balance at each reponting period. As actual costs become known, we adjust our accrued
liahilities. To date, there have been no material differences between ouwr estimates of such expenses and the amounts actually incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

W recognize stock-based compensation expense for equity awards granted to employees, consultants, and members of our Board of Directors. The Black-Scholes pricing model is used
1o estimate the fair value of stock option awards as of the date of grant. The fair value of restricted stock units is representative of the closing share price preceding the date of grant.

For stock-based awards that vest subject to the satisfaction of a service requirement, the related expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over each award’s actual or implied vesting
period. For stock-based awards that vest subject to a performance condition, we recognize related expense on an accelerated atribution method, if and when it concludes that it is highly probable that
the performance condition will be achieved. At each reporting period. we reassess the probability of the achievement of the performance vesting conditions. As applicable, we reverse previously
recognized expense in the same period of the forfeiture of unvested awards.

The measurement of the fair value of stock-based awards and recognition of stock-based compensation expense requires assumptions to be estimated by management that involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of management's judgment, including (a) the fair value of our common stock on the date of option grant for all awards granted prior (o the PO (b) the expected term
of the stock option until its exercise by the recipient, (c) our assumed stock price volatility through a designated peer group of publicly-traded companies for a period equal to the expected option
term, (d) the prevailing risk-free interest rate over the expected term, and (d) any expected dividend payments over the expected term. If any of these assumptions change, our stock-hased
compensation expense for future grants could materially differ.

Expected Term — The expected term is calculated using the simplified method which is used when there is insufficient historical data about exercise patterns. and post-vesting employment
termination behavior. The simplified method is based on the vesting period and the contractual term for each grant, or for each vesting-tranche for awands with graded vesting. The mid-point
between the vesting date and the maximum contractual expiration date is used as the expected term under this method. For awards with multiple vesting-tranches, the times from grant until
the mid-points for each of the ranches may be averaged to provide an overall expected term.

Expecred Volarility ~ We estimate the volatility of our common stock on the date of grant based on our designated peer group of publicly-traded companies for a look-back period, as of the
date of grant, that corresponds with the expected term of the awarded stock option.

Expected Dividend Rate ~ We have an expected dividend yield of zero because we have never paid cash dividends and do not expect to for the foreseeable future.

Risk-Free Interest Rote — We estimate the risk-free interest rate based upon the U.S. Department of the Treasury yields in effect at award gram for a period equaling the expected term of the
stock option.

Common Stock Valuations

Prior to the 1RO, given the absence of a public trading market, our Board of Directors, with input from management, considered numerous objective and subjective factors o determine the
fair value of its commaon stack. The factors
included: (i) third-party valuations of our common stock: (i) our stage of development; (iii) the status of research and development efforts; (iv) the rights, preferences and privileges of our preferred
stock relative to common stock; (v} our
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operating results and financial condition, including our levels of available capital resources; (vi) equity market conditions affecting comparable public companies; (vii) general U.S. market conditions;
and (viii) the lack of current marketability of our common stock, The assumptions underlving these valuations represented management’s best estimate, which involved inherent uncertainties and the
application of management's judgment. As a result, if we had used different assumptions or estimates, the fair value of our common stock and our stock-based compensation expense could have been
materially different.

Subsequent ta the IPO, the fair value of our common stock is based on the closing quoted market price of our common stock as reported by the Nasdag Global Select Market on the date of
grant.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A description of recent accounting pronouncements that may potentially impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows is disclosed in the notes to which they relate
within our financial statements,

Indemnification Agreements

As permitted under Delaware law and in accordance with oor bylaws, we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is or was
serving in such capacity. We are also party to indemnification agreements with our officers and directors. We believe the fair value of the indemnification rights and agreements is minimal.
Accordingly, we have not recorded any liabilities for these indemnification rights and agreements as of December 31, 2022,

JOBS Act Accounting Election

The JOBS Act permits an emerging growth company such as us to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable o
public companies. We have irrevocably elected w opt out of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards as required when they are adopied.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (1) the last day of our first fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our [P0, (b) in which we
have total annual gross revenues of at least $1.235 billion or (c) in which we are deemed 1o be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-
affiliates exceeds 5700 million of the prior June 30th and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Tarsus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Tarsus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related statements of operations and comprehensive loss,
stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred 1o as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U5, generally accepted accounting principles,

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our awdits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (FCAOB) and are required 1o be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U5, federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to ervor or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's intermal control aver financial reporting, Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to emror or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those

risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used] and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements, We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020,

Irvine, California
March 17, 2023




TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

BALANCE SHEETS
{In thousands, except share and par value amounts)

December 31,
2022 2021

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 5 TLGED § 171,332
Marketable securities 145,366 483
Oither recelvables 3,582 92
Prepaid expenses 4,767 4,045

Total current assets 215,375 175,952
Property and equipment, net 957 755
Operating lease right-of-use assets 575 1,074
Long-term investments a7l —
Other assets 585 1,126
Total assets 5 227863 5 178,907
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounis payable and other accrued liahilities $ 2910 § 8,680
Accrued payroll and benefits 5,519 2,798

Tatal current liabilities 15429 11,478
Term laan, net 19,434 -
Other lang-term liabilities 100 599
Total liabilities 24,963 12177
Commitments and contingencies (Note §)
Stockholders” equity:
Preferred sinck, $0.0001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares isswed and outstanding — —
Common stock, 30,0001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 26,727 458 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2022; 20,726,580 shares issued and
20,696,737 outstanding, which excludes 27,840 shares subject to repurchase at December 31, 2021 3 4
Additional paid-in capital 301,732 213,358
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (74 -
Accumulated deficit (106, 763) (46,672)
Total stockholders’ equity 192,900 166,730
Total liahilities and stockholders® equity 5 2378653 8 178,907

See accompanying nodes to financial statements.




TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Revenues:
License fees
Collaboration revenue
Total revenues
Operating expenses:
Cost of license fees and collaboration revenue
Research and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Laoss from operations before other income (expense) and income taxes
Other income {expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Ciher income (expense], net
Unrealized loss on equity investments.
Change in fair value of equity warrants issued by licensee
Tital other income (expense), net
Lass from operations before income taxes
Benefit {provision) for income taxes
Net loss

Other comprehensive loss;
Unrealized loss on marketable securities and cash equivalents
Comprehensive loss

Ned loss per share, basic and diluted
Weighted-average shares o ding. basic and diluted

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

See accomponying notes w financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
022 202

23883 35 53,067
1,923 3,960
25,816 57,027
955 2,075
42,624 41,712
44,949 25,397
88,528 59,184
(62,712) (12,157)
3499 36
(2,199) —
86 (73)
(268} (591}
(501) (5487)
617 (1,615)
(62,095) (13,772)

4 (35)
(62091) § [13,827)
(74) =
(62,165) § (12,827)
{2.52) § (0.67)
24,619,700 20,554,086




Balance as of December 31, 2020
Net loss
Recognition of stock-based compensation éxpense
Shates issued as consideration for in-license rights
Lapse of repurchase obligation for stock option exercises,
PO 0 vesting
Exercise of vested stock options
Shares issued in connection with the employee stock
purchase plan

Balance as of December 31, 2021
Net Inss
Recognition of stock-based compensation expense
Issuance of commaon stock upon follow-on public
offering, net of issuance costs of 55,280
Lapse of repurchase obligation for swek option exercises,
prior to vesting
Exercise of vested stock options
Issuance of commaon stock upon the vesting of restricted
stock units
Shares issued in connection with the employes stock
purchase plan
Other comprehensive loss

Balance as of December 31, 2022

TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands, except share data)

Torad
Stoc khol ders”
Equity

Common Stock Additisnal Pald-in
Amount Shares Capital
— 20,323,201 4 § 154,821

165,980

(13.827)
B,455
5,404

a4
13

221

166,730

(62,001)
13,460

74,234

56
123

462
{74)

= = 8,455
— 187,500 5,494
— 151,535 04
— 24,959 103
= 11,542 221
— 20,698,737 ] 213,398
== — 13,460
— 5,889,832 74,233
— 27,840 56
— 40,979 123
— 32,914 —
37,156 a62
— 26,727,458 § 5 301,732 §

192,900

See accompanying notes to financial statements.




TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

{In thousands)
Year ended
December 31,
022 021
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net loss 5 (62,091} 3 (13,827)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss 1o net cash {used in) provided by operating activities:
Drepreciation and amortization 325 3z
Stock-based compensation 13,460 8,455
Accretion of term loan-related costs 39
MNon-cash lease expense 464 294
Losz an lease termination — 2
Luss on disposal of propenty and equipment — 70
Amarthzatton of discount om available-for-sale debt securities {1,316} —_
Unrealized Ioss on equity investment 268 591
Change in fair value of equity warrants issued by licensee 501 9a7
Unrealized gain from transactions denominated in a foreign cumency 1 (2
Isswance of common stock upon in-license agreement milestone achievement — 5,494
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Oiher receivables {3,490) (73)
Prepaid expenses (721} (2,043)
Oither non-current assers [215) (2,265)
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities an 3,880
Accrued payroll and benefits 2721 1,758
Other bong-term liabilitics (67 115
Net cash (used In) provided by operating activites (49,030) 3,748
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 5315 —
Purchases of markelable securities (1449,458) —
Purchases of property and equipment (506} (586)
MNet cash used in investing activities (144, 629) [586)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Procesds from Issuance of common stock upon follow-on public offering, net of paid ssuance costs 74,352 -_
Proceads from term loan 20,000 —
Proceeds from sale of commaon stock under employee stock purchase plan 462 221
Proceeds from exercise of vested stock options 123 103
Payment of deferred offering costs (75) (303)
Payment of term loan issuance costs (B75) —
Net cash provided by financing activities 93,987 21
Net (decrease) inerease in cash and cash equivalents (99,672} 3,183
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of year 171,332 168,149
Cash and cash equivalents — end of year 3 L6608 171,332
¥ I el DN h i 3 and Fi Activiti
Interest expense paid in cash 5 1675 § —
Additions of property and equipment included within accounis payable and other accrued liabilitles 5 2 5 2
Stock issued for in-license agreements incleded within research and development expense % — § 5,494
Operating lease right-of-use asse: obtained in exchange for operating lease liability 5 — 5 741
Expense of right-of-use asset upon lease termination % R (38)
Deferved offering osts Included in accounts pavable and accrued Habilities 5 — 5 &0

See accompanying nodes to financial statements.




TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{all tabular amoeunis presented in thousands, excepi share, per share, per unit, and number of years)

1. DESCRIFTION OF BUSINESS AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Description of Business

Tarsus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Tarsus” or the “Company™) is & hiopharmaceutical company focused on the development and commercialization of therapeutics, starting with eye care, The
Company's operations currently consist of its preclinical and clinical studies, corporate administration and commercial leadership supporting planned business growth.

Liquidity

The Company has a limited operating history, no product sales and has accumulated losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception, The Company has funded its
inception-to-date operations through equity capital raises; including the Company's initial public offering in 2020 and the follow-on public offering completed in May 2022 (see Note ), proceeds
from an out-license agreement, and a draw on its credit facility, The Company estimates that its existing capital resources will be sufficient to meet projected operating expense requirements for at
least 12 months from the isseance date of the Financial Statements that have been prepared on a going-concem basis,

Management expects the Company to continue to incur operating losses for the foreseeable future and may be required to raise additional capital vo fund its ongoing operations. However,
no assurance can be given as to whether financing will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, or at all. If the Company is unable to raise additional funds as required, it may need to delay,
reduce, or terminate some or all of its development programs and clinical trials. The Company may also be required to sell or license its rights to product candidates in certain territories or indications
that it would otherwise prefer o develop and commercialize on its own and/or enter into collaborations and other arrangements to address its liquidity needs, which could materially and adversely
affect its business and financial prospects, or even its ability to remain a going concern.

Operating Segment

To date, the Company has operated, managed and organized its business and financial information on an aggregate basis for the purpose of evaluating financial performance and the
allocation of capital and personnel resources. The Company ‘s chief operating decision-maker (CODM), its Chief Executive Officer, reviews its operating results for the purpose of allocating rescurces
and evaluating financial performance. Accordingly, the Company’s management determined that it operates one reportable operating segment.

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Qur Business Startups Act of 2012 (the "JOBS Act”), Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can
delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act uniil such time as those standands apply to private companies. The Company has irrevocably
elected to not take this exemption. As a result, it will adopt new or revised accounting standards on the relevant effective dates on which adoptien of such standards is required for other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND USE OF ESTIMATES
(i) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP") in the United States ("U.5.") and with the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP and with the rules and regulations of the SEC requires
management 1o make informed estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these accompanying Financial Statements and Notes. These estimates and assumptions are based upon

historical experience, knowledge of current events and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities and the recording of expenses that are
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TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{all tabular amoeunis presented in thousands, excepi share, per share, per unit, and number of years)

not readily apparent from other sources and involve judgments with respect to numerous factors that are difficult to predice and may materially differ from the amounts ultimately realized and
reported due to the inherent uncenainty of any estimate or assumption. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

The Company's financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 reflect the Company’s estimates of the impact of the macroeconomic environment, including the
impact of inflation, higher interest rates, foreign exchange rate fluctuations and the COVID-19 pandemic, The duration and the scope of these conditions cannot be predicted; therefore, the extent 10
which these conditions will directly or indirectly impact the Company's business, results of operations and financial condition, is uncertain. The Company is not aware of any specific event or
circumstance that would require an update 1o its estimates, judgments and assumptions or a revision of the carryving value of the Company’s assets or liabilities as of the issuance date of the
accompanying Financial Statements.

The accounting policies and estimates that most significantly impact the presented amounts within these accompanving Financial Statements are further described below:
(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank deposits and highly liquid investments, including moeney market fund accounts, that are readily convertible into cash without penalty, with
original maturities of three months or less from the purchase date, The carrying amounts reported in the accompanying Balance Sheets for cash and cash equivalents are valued at cost, which
approximate their fair value,

(i) Marketable Securities and Long-Term Investments

As of December 31, 2022, marketable securities consist of short-term fixed income investments carried at estimated fair value as determined based upon quoted market prices or pricing
models for similar securities (see Note 7). Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments in fixed income securities at the time of purchase. Available-for-sale securities are
classified as current assets on the accompanying Balance Sheets due to their highly liquid nature and availability for use in current operations,

Marketable securities are recorded at fair value with unrealized losses and gains reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss within the accompanying Statements
of Stockholders’ Equity until realized. The Company periodically evaluates whether declines in fair values of its available-for-sale securities below their book value are other-than-temporary. This
evaluation consists of several qualitative and quantitative factors regarding the severity and duration of the unrealized loss as well as the Company’s ability and intent t hold the available-for-sale
security until a forecasted recovery occurs. The cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to matrity. Such amomization and accretion, as well as
interest and dividends, are included in interest income. Realized losses and gains as well as credit losses, if any, on marketable securities identified on a specific identification basis and are included in
ather income {expense), net on the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. The Company evaluated the underying credit quality and credit ratings of the issuers during the
period. To date, the Company has not identified any other than temporary declines in fair value of its investments and no credit losses associated with credit risk have occumred or have been recorded.
Interest earned on marketable securities is included in interest income within the accompanying Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss,

As of December 31, 2021, marketable securities consisted of holdings of LianBio Ophthalmology Limited ("LianBio") common stock. These shares are classified within long-term
investments on the accompanying Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2022, reflecting the intent to hold these shares for at least one year from the balance sheet date, with associated gains or lnsses
reported in other income (expense), net within the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for each reported period.

{iv) Fair Value Measuremenis

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis in the balance sheets are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs wsed to measure their fair
values, Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or an exit price that would be paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous
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TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{all tabular amounis presented in thousands, excepi share, per share, per unit, and number of years)

market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation technigues used wo measure fair value must maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The authoritative guidance on fair value measurements establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as
follows:

«  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are publicly accessible at the measurement date.

*  Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets, but that are corroborated by market data, These inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities or quoted market prices in markets that are not active o the general public.

+  Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The carrying amounts for financial instruments consisting of cash, cash equivalents, short-term marketable securities, long-term investments, accounts payable and accrued liabilities
approximate fair value due to the short maturities for each, The Company’s equity warrant holdings disclosed as other assets are carried at fair value based on unobservable market inputs (see Note 7).

Assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant w the fair value measurements. The Company reviews the fair value hierarchy classification on a
quarterly basis. Changes in the ability w observe valuation inputs may result in a reclassification of levels for certain assets or liabilities within the fair value hierarchy. The Company did not have any
transfers of assets and liabilities between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years presented.

(v) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net are stated ar historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets that range from three to five years, Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the remaining lease term or the estimated useful lives of related
improvements. The Company evaluates the recoverability of its property and equipment, net whenever events or changes in circumstances of the business indicate that the asset's carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amounts to the sum of the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate over
the remaining useful lives of the assets, If a long-lived asset fails a recoverability test, the Company measures the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. There were no
impairments recognized during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,

(vi) Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

Financial instruments that potentizlly subject the Company to significan concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. The Company
maintains cash held in deposit at financial instioutions in the U5 including at Silicon Valley Bank ("5VE"). These deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) in an
amount up to $250,000 for any depositor, and with respect to SVB are fully insured per recent correspondence from the FDIC. To the extent the Company holds cash deposits in amounts that exceed
the FDIC insurance [limitation, it may incur a loss in the event of a failure of any of the financial insimtions where it maintains deposits. Management believes the Company is not exposed o
significant risk due to the financial position of the depository institution, but will continue to monitor regularly and adjust, if needed, o mitigate risk. The Company has established guidelines
regarding diversification of its investments and their maturities, which are designed to maintain principal and maximize liquidity, To date, the Company has not experienced any losses associated with
this credit risk and continues to helieve that this exposure is not significant,

(vii) Revenue Recognition for Out-License Arrangements

Overview
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TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{all tabular ameunis presented in thousands, excepi share, per share, per unit, and number of years)

The Company currently has no product revenue. Reported revenue in the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss is associated with one out-license agreement
(the “China Oue-License”) that allows the third-party licensee to market the Company’s TF-03 product candidate (representing functional intellectual property) in the People's Republic of China,
Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan (the "China Territory") - see Note 5. The accounting and reporting of revenue for out-license arrangements requires significant judgment for: (a) identification of the
number of performance obligations within the contract, (b) the contract’s mansaction price for allocation (including variable consideration), (c) the stand-alone selling price for each identified
performance obligation, and (d) the timing and amount of revenue recognition in each period,

The China Out-License was analyzed under GAAP to determine whether the promised goods or services are distinct or must be accounted for as part of a combined performance
obligation. In making these assessments, the Company considers factors such as the stage of development of the underlying intellectual property and the capabilities of the customer to develop the
intellectual property on their own, and/or whether the required expertise is readily available. If the license is not distinct, the license is combined with other promised goods or services as a combined
performance obligation for revenue recognition.

The China Out-License arrangement included the following forms of consideration: (i) non-refundable upfront license payment, (i) equity-based consideration, (iii) sales-based rovalties,
(iv) sales-based threshold milestones, (v) drug supply agreement milestone, (vi) development milestone payments, and (vii) regulatory milestone payments. Revenue is recognized in proportion to the
allocated transaction price when (or as) the respective performance obligation is satisfied, The Company evaluates the progress related to each milestone at each reporting period and, if necessary,
adjusts the probability of achievement and related revenue recognition, The measure of progress, and thereby periods over which revenue is recognized, is subject to estimates by management and
may change over the course of the agreement.

Contractual Terms for Receipt of Payments

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service and is the unit of accounting, A contract’s transaction price is allocated among each distinct
performance ohligation based on relative standalone selling price and recognized when, or as, the applicable performance obligation is satisfied.

The coniractual terms that establish the Company's right to collect specified amounts from its customers and that require contemporaneous evaluation and documentation under GAAP for
the corresponding timing and amount of revenue recognition, are as follows:

(1) Upfront License Fees: The Company determines whether non-refundable license fee consideration is recognized at the time of contract execution (i.e., when the license is transferred
to the customer and the customer is able to wse and benefit from the license) or over the actual (or implied) conractual period of the China Out-License, The Company also evaluates whether it has
any ather requirements to provide substantive services that are inseparable from the performance obligation of the license transfer to determine whether any combined performance obligation is
satisfied over time or at a point in time, Upfront payments may reguire deferral of revenue recognition to a future period until the Company performs ohligations under these arrangements,

(21 Development Milestones: The Company utilizes the most likely amount method to estimate the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled for achievement of development
milestones as these represent variable consideration. For those payments based on development milestones (e.g., patient dosing in a clinical study or the achievement of statistically significant clinical
results), the Company assesses the probability that the milestone will be achieved, including its ability to control the timing or likelihood of achievernent, and any associated revenue constraint. Given
the high degree of uncertainty around the oceurrence of these events, the Company determines the milestone and other contingent amounts to be constrained until the uncertainty associated with these
payments is resolved. At each reporting period, the Company re-evaluates this associated revenue recognition constraint, Any resulting adjustments are recorded to revenue on a cumulative catch-up
basis, and reflected in the financial statements in the period of adjustment,

(3) Regulatory Milestones: The Company utilizes the most likely amount method to estimate the consideration to which it will be entitled and recognizes revenue in the period regulatory
approval occurs (the performance obligation is satisfied) as these represent variable consideration. Amounts constrained as variable consideration are included in the
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TARSUS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{all tabular amoeunis presented in thousands, excepi share, per share, per unit, and number of years)

transaction price to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the encertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. The Company evaluates whether the milestones are considered probable of being reached and not otherwise constrained. Accordingly, due to the inherent
uncertainty of achieving regulatory approval, associated milestones are deemed constrained for revenue recognition until achievement.

(4) Royalties: Under the sales-or-usage-based royalty exception the Company recognizes revenue based on the contractual percentage of the licensee's sale of products to its customers at
the later of (i) the occurrence of the related product sales or (i) the date upon which the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied or partially
satisfied. To date, the Company has not recognized any royalty revenue from the China Out-License,

(5} Sales Threshold Milestones: Similar 1o royalties, applying the sales-or-usape-based rovalty exception, the Company recognizes revenue from sales threshold milestones at the later of
(i) the period the licensee achieves the one-time annual product sales levels in their territories for which the Company is contractually entitled to a specified lump-sum receipt, or (ii) the date upon
which the performance obligation to which some or all of the milestone has been allocated has been satisfied or partially satisfied. To date, the Company has not recognized any sales threshold
milestone revenue from out-licensing arrangements.

The Company re-evaluates the measure of progress w each performance obligation in each reporting period as uncertain events are resolved and other changes in circumstances ocour.
(viii) Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred or as certain upfront or milestone payments become contracually due to licensors upon the achievement of clinical or regulatory
events, Research and development expenses include internal costs directly attributable to in-development programs, including costs of certain salaries and other employee-related costs (including
stock-based compensation), and costs to conduct nonclinical studies, clinical trials and contract manufacturing activities. The Company accrues for these costs based on factors such as estimates of
the work completed and in accordance with agreements established with third-party service providers under the service agreements. As it relates to clinical trials, the financial terms of these contracts
are subject to negotiations which vary from contract to contract and may result in payment flows that do not match the periods over which materials or services are provided under such contracts.
Payments made prior to the receipt of goods or services to be used in research and development are capitalized uniil the goods or services are received. Such payments are evaluated for current or
long-term classification based on when they will be realized. The Company's objective is to reflect the appropriate expense in its financial statements by matching those expenses with the period in
which the services and effors are expended. The Company accounts for these expenses according 1o the progress of the trial as measured by patient progression and the timing of various aspects of
the trial taking into consideration discussions with applicable personnel and outside service providers. The clinical wial accrual is dependent in part upon the timely and accurate reporting of progress
and efforts incurred from CROs, contract manufacturers and other thind-party vendors. Although estimates are expected to be materially consistent with actual amounts incumed, the Company's
understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services performed can vary and may result in changes in estimates in any particular period, The
Company makes significant judgments and estimates in determining the accrued liabilities balance at each reporting period. As actual costs become known, the Company adjusts its accrued liahilities,
To date, there have been no material differences between estimates of such expenses and the amounts actually incurred.

(ix) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense for equity awards granted to employees, consultants, and members of its Board of Directors. Stock option awards are at an
exercise price of not less than 100% of the fair market value of common stock on the respective date of grant. The grant date is the date the terms of the award are formally approved by the
Company’s Board of Directors or its designee, The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock option awards as of the date of grant. The fair value of
restricted stock units is representative of the closing market price of the Company's commaon stock on the date preceding the award grant-date,

Stock awards granted typically have one 1o four-vear service conditions and a contractual term of 10 vears. Any performance conditions for vesting are explicitly stated in each award
agreement and are associated with clinical, business
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development, or operational milestones. For stock-based awards that vest subject to the satistaction of a service requirement, the related expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over each
award's actual or implied vesting period, For stock-based awards that vest subject to a performance condition, the Company recognizes related expense on an accelerated attribution method, if and
when it concludes that it is highly probable that the performance condition will be achieved, At each reporting period, the Company reassesses the probability of the achievement of the performance
vesting conditions. As applicable, the Company reverses previously recognized expense for unvested awands in the same period of forfeiture.

The measurement of the fair value of stock option awards and recognition of stock-based compensation expense requires assumptions to be estimated by management that involve
inherent uncertainties and the application of management's judgment, including (a) the fair value of the Company’s comman stock on the date of the option grant for all awards granted prior to the
PO, () the expected term of the steck option until its exercise by the recipient, {c) stock price volatility over the expected term, (d) the prevailing risk-free interest rate over the expected erm, and
() expected dividend payments over the expected term.

Management estimates the expected term of awarded stock options utilizing the simplified method for awards since the Company does not yet have sufficient exercise history since its
Movember 2016 corporate formation and also lacks specific historical and implied stock volatility information. Accordingly, management estimates this expected volatility based on a designated peer-
group of publicly-traded companies for a look-back period (from the date of grant), that corresponds with the expected term of the awarded stock option. The Company estimates the risk-free interest
rate based upon the U.S, Department of the Treasury yield curve in effect at award grant for the time period that corresponds with the expected term of the awarded stock option, The Company's
expected dividend vield is zero because it has never paid cash dividends and does not expect o for the foreseeable future, Subsequent to the IPO, the fair value of the Company’s common stock is
based on the closing quoted market price of its common stock as reported by the Nasdag Global Select Market on the date of grant.

(x) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Deferved 1ax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the estimated [uture tax effects of temporary differences
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and amounts reported in the financial statements, as well as operating losses and tax credit carry forwards using enacted tax rates and laws that are
expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period of enactment.
Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain due to the Company’s historical operating performance and recorded cumulative net
losses in prior fiscal periods. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets, because based upon a weighting of positive and negative factors, it is more likely than not that these
deferred tax assets will not be realized. 1f/when the Company were to determine that deferred tax assets are realizable, an adjustment to the corresponding valuation allowance would increase the net
income in the period that such determination was made.

The Company’s income tax returns are based on calculations and assumptions that are subject (0 examination by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. In addition, the
calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The Company recognizes liabilities for unceriain tax positions based on a
twio-step process, The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is 1 measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is mone than 50% likely of being
realized upon settlement. While the Company believes it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of examinations by
tax authorities in determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes. The Company continually assesses the likelihood and amount of potential revisions and adjusts the income tax provision,
income taxes payable and deferred axes in the period in which the facts that give rise 1o a revision become known,

Interest and penalties related wo unrecognized tax benefies, if any, are recorded as a component of income tax expense.

(xi) Net Loss per Share
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Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration for potential
dilutive shares of common stock. Diluied net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common stock equivalents outstanding for the period determined
using the treasury-stock method and if-converted method as applicable.,

The Company’s participating securities include unvested common stock awards issued upon early exercise of certain stock options, as early exercised unvested common stock awards
have a non-forfeitable right to dividends. The Company's participating securities do not have a contractual obligation to share in the Company’s losses, so in periods of net losses, the rwo-class
method of caloulating basic and diluted earnings per share is not required. In periods of net income, basic and diluted net loss per share anributable to common stockholders is presented in conformity
with the two-class method required for participating securities. Also, net Income 1s attributed o both common stockholders and participating security holders, and therefore, net income is allocated o
shares of common stock and participating securities, as if all of the eamings for the period had been distributed. Diluted earnings per share under the two-class method is calculated wsing the more
dilutive of the treasury stock or the two-class methad.

Due to net losses in all periods presented, all otherwise potentially dilutive securities are antidilutive, and accordingly, the reported basic net loss per share equals diluted net loss per
share,

(xii} Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss represents (i) net loss for the periods presented, and (ii) unrealized gains or losses on our reported available-for-sale debt securities.
(xiii) Recently Issued or Effective Accounting Standards

Recently issued or effective accounting pronouncements that impact, or may have an impact, on the Company’s financial statements have been discussed within the footnote ta which
each relates. Other recent accounting pronouncements not disclosed in these Financial Statements have been determined by the Company's management 1o have no impact, or an immaterial impact,
on its current financial position, results of operations, or cash fows.
3. BALANCE SHEET ACCOUNT DETAIL

The composition of selected captions within the accompanying Balance Sheets are summarized below:
(a) Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses consists of the following:

December 31,
2022 2l
Prepaid insurance 5 1177 § 1,213
Prepald research and development expenses 757 671
Prepaid compater software fees 4dd 6
Other prepaid expenses 2,389 2,105
Prepaid expenses 5 4767 & 4,045

(b) Cither receivables

Other receivables consists of the following:
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December 31,
2022 2021
Regulatory fee reimbursement 5 317 % -
Interest receivable 178 2
Research and development service receivables 161 -
Payrall tax receivahle ac an
Income tax receivable 36 -
Other receivables 5§ 3562 & 92
' This amount represents the required FDA filing fee upon the Company’s submission of its New Drag Application ("NDA™) for TP-03 and was fully refundable based on the Company's status as a qualified "Small
Business" as defined in the relevant Federal statute; it was received from the FDUA in January 2023,
(c) Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consisis of the following:
Decembier 21,
2022 2021
Furniture and fixmures 3 74§ 596
Oifice eguipment 197 i3
Laboratory equipment 167 167
Leasehold improvements. 425 129
Property and equipment, at cost 1,503 976
(Less): Accumulated depreciation and amaortization 46 291
Property and equipment, net 3 957 % 755
Depreciation expense for the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $0.3 million and §0.3 million, respectively.
(d) Other Assets
Other assets consists of the following:
Decemiber 31,
N 2021
Equity warrants issued by licenses {Note 7) % w8 8 [
Depaosits 82 71
Other non-CurTent assets 385 382
Oither Asseis 3 585§ 1,126

(e} Accounts Payable and Other Accrued Liabilities

Accounts pavable and other accrued liabilities consists of the following:
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December 51,
2022 2021
Trade accounts payahle and other 5 5269 § 2,856
Acerued clinical studies 3,691 4,407
Operating lease lability, curvent T2 608
Accrued Interesi, current 215 —
Income taxes payable 14 55
Contract liability — GE7
Employee stock option pre-vesting exercise liability e 56
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 3 9910 § 8,680
(f) Other Long-Term Liabilities
Oither long-term liabilities consises of the following:
December 21,
022 2021
Operating lease liability, non-current 3 52 5 585
Latilanet Heensor labiliny 48 114
Oither long-term liabilities g m 5 G99

4. STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
2020 and 2016 Equity Incentive Plans

The Company's Board of Directors and stockholders adopted and approved the Company’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2020 Plan®) in October 2020. The 2020 Plan replaced the
Company's 2016 Equity Incentive Plan that was earlier adopted in December 2016 (the "2016 Plan”). However, awards outstanding under the 2016 Plan will continue to be governed by its original
terms, The number of shares of the Company's common stock that were initially available for issuance under the 2020 Plan equaled the initial sum of 9,000,000 shares plus 2,432,980 shares that were
then available for issuance under the 2016 Plan, The 2020 Plan provides for the following types of awards: incentive and non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted shares, and
restricted stock units.

The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 2020 Plan are increased automatically on the first business day of each fiscal year, commencing in 2021 and ending in
2030, by a number equal 1o the lesser of: (i) 4% of the shares of common stock oustanding on the lase business day of the prior fiscal year; or (i) the number of shares determined by the Company's
Board of Directors. In general, to the extent that any awards under the 2020 Plan are forfeited, terminate, expire or lapse without the issuance of shares, or if the Company reacquires the shares subject
1o awards granted under the 2020 Plan, those shares will again become available for issuance under the 2020 Plan, as will shares applied to pay the exercise or purchase price of an award or w satisfy
tax withholding obligations related to any award.

Follow-0n Public Offering

In May 2022, the Company completed a follow-on public offering under its Shelf Registration Statement for an initial underwritten sale of 5,600,000 shares of its common stock at a price of
$13.50 per share. The Company also granted the underwriters a 30-day option w purchase up to 840,000 additional shares of its common stock at the public offering price. In June 2022, the
underwriters partially exercised this option and the Company’s sale of additional 289,832 chares at $13.50 per share was concurrently completed.

Total gross praceeds from this offering were $79.5 million (before underwriting discounts, commissions and ather estimated offering expenses), resulting in net proceeds of $74.3 million.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the terms of the Company’s 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, eligible employees can purchase commaon swock through scheduled payroll deductions. The purchase price is
equal o the closing price of the Company's common stock on the first or last day of the offering period (whichever is less), minus a 15% discount. To determine the value of ESPP expense o be
recognized during each offering period, the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is used, in combination with the discounted emplovee price, A participant may purchase a maximum of 3,000 shares
of commaon stock duning a six-month offering penod, not to exceed 525,000 at full market value on the offering date during each ESPP year.

Beginning on January 1, 2021, and each January 15t thereafter, pursuant to the terms of the ESPP, the number of common stock available for issuance under the ESPP is automatically
increased by an amount equal wo the lesser of (i) one percent of the toral number of shares of common stock outstanding on the last day of the vear, (i) 2.5 million shares, or (iii} 2 number determined
by the board of directors,

Common Stock Outstanding and Reserves for Future Issuance

Commaon stockholders have one vote for each share of commen stock held and are entitled to receive dividends declared by the Company’s Board of Directors when legally available for
distribution, then-subject to the dividend rights of the holders of preferred stock, For the vears ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, no dividends were declared.

The Company's outstanding equity awards and shares reserved for future issuance under its 2020 and 2016 Equity Incentive Plans and 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan are
summarized below:

December 31,
2022 2021
Common stnck awards reserved for Furure tssuance under 2020 and 2016 Equity Incentive Plans 8,346,738 9,266,200
Commaon stock awards reserved for future issuance under the 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2663319 2,493,488
Stack aptions issued and outstanding (unvested and vested) under 2020 and 2016 Equity Incentive Plans 3,059,342 2,759,830
Restricted stock units issued and outstanding {unvested) under 2020 Equity Incentive Plan 551,258 17,251
Total shares of common stock Teserved 15,460,657 14,536,769

5 STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stack-based compensation expense was recognized in the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 as follows:

Year Ended
Decenber 31,
2022 2021
Research and development 3 373% 85 1,843
Creneral and administrative 9,724 6,612
Total stock-based compensation 5 13460 5 8455
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The fair value of granted stock options was estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-5choles option-pricing model, based on the following inputs:

Year Ended
December 31,
e 2021
Exercise price S12.89 w0 520.64 521,40 10 $47.25
Expected term {in years) (.25 6.25
Risk-free interest rate 1.63% to 4.21% 066% to 1.37%
Expected volatility T7.3% 10 83.0% G4, 8% (0 69.4%
Expected dividend yield —_ =
‘Weighted-average grant-date fair value per stock option 3 1837 § 3806
Stock Option Activity
Stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was as follows:
Welghted
Werighted- Awerage
Average Hemainkng Aggregate
MNumdser of Exervise Comtractual Tniriinsic
Shares PriceShare Term (Yearsh Walue '
Durseanding - December 31, 2020 1,836,739 § 377 015 § 6,081
Granted 1,005,512 3B.06
Exercised {24,950) 414
Forfeited (57.462) 22,18
Expired — -
Oustanding - Decemnber 31, 2021 2,759,830 1588 B354 3 33641
Granted 1,227,123 1637
Exercised (40.979) 301
Forfeited (d6,632) 2460
Expired — —
Outseanding - December 31, 2002 3809342 8 1669 BO7 S 19,196
Vested - December 31, 2022 1,669,130 % 1343 732 § 13,706
Unvested - December 31, 2022 2223536 § 112 863 5 5490

(1] Represents the total difference between the stack price fair value a5 of December 31, 2022 and the siock aption exercise price, mubtiplied by the numher of incthe-momey options as of December 31, 2022, The smaunt of any inrinsic vloe will
chamge in relation to any increases or decreases in the then-determined fair valoe of the Company s comman siock

The total grant-date fair value of options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $13.7 million and $16.3 million, respectively.
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For the vear ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense tor stock options of $10.7 million. As of December 31, 2022, there was unrecognized
compensation expense of $25.5 million related to unvested stock eptions, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of 2.3 years,

Restricted Stock Uriit Activity

Restricted stock unit activity during the year ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:

MNumber of
Shares Weighted Average Value per Share
Dutstanding - December 31, 2021 17251 3§ 2753
Granted 573,009 17.87
Vested (32,914) 417
Fosfeited (h,0BR) 19,40
Dutstanding - December 31, 2022 551,258 3 17.78
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock units of $2.5 million. As of December 31, 2022, there was
approximately $8.0 million of unrecorded expense that will be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.0 years,
6. NET LOSS PER SHARE
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share:
Year Ended December 31,
202k FUFR]
MNet loss $ (e2o0a1) s (13,827)
‘Weighted-average shares—basic and diluted 24,619,700 20,554,086
Net boss per share—basic and diluted 5 (252) 8 (067)

The following outstanding and potentially dilutive securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their impact under the treasury stock method and if-
converted method would have been anti-dilutive for each period presented:

Year Ended December 31,
202 2021
Stock options, unexercised—wvested and unvested 3,899,342 2,758,830
Restricted stock uniss—unvested 551,256 17,251
Stock options exerclsed prior 1 vesting— remalning unvested — 27,840
Tatal 4,450,600 2,804,921

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis and the level of inputs used in such measurements by major security type are presented in the
following table (see Note 2(iv)):
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Year Ended December 31, 2022
Falr Yalse Measurements

Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 Tatal
Assets:

Money market funds 3 64,685 § — 5 — 5 54, G5
L3, Treasury securities 60,644 —_ —_ 69,644
Commercial paper — 60,355 = 60,355
Corporate debt securities — 11,521 — 11,521
Government-related debt securities — 10,821 — 10,821
Common siock in LianEio 371 — — an
Equity wamants {for LianFio shares) — — 108 108

Total assets measured at fair value 3 134,700 % 82,697 § 08 5 217,505

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Falr Walse Measuremvents
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Money market funds 3 171,332 3 — 5 — 5 171,332
Common stock in LianBio 483 — - 483
Equiry warrants (for LianBio shares) — —_ 663 663
Tonal assets measured at fair value % 171,815 § — 5 663§ 172,478

Moriey Market Funds and U.S. Treasury Securities

Money market funds and U.S. Treasury securities are highly liquid investments and are actively traded with readily-available market prices that are publicly observable and independently
validated as of the measurement date. This approach results in the classification of these securities as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Commercial Paper, Corporate Debt Securities, and Government-related Debt Securities

Commercial paper, corporate debt securities and government-related debt securities were valued using Level 2 inputs that utilized industry standard valuation models, including both
income and market-based approaches, for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly, o estimate fair value. The Company reviews trading activity and pricing for these
investments as of each measurement date.

LianBio Common Stock and Equity Warranis

In March 2021, contemporaneous with the China Out-License transaction (see Mote ), the Company and LianBio (a pharmaceutical company focused on the Greater China and other
Asian markets; NASDAC: LIAN], executed a warrant agreement for the Company to purchase, in three tranches, commaon shares in LianBio. The first two tranches are vested and exercised as of
December 31, 2022 and the third warrant tranche will vest upon the achievement of a regulatory event; each has an exercise price at common stock par value.

In June 2021, one of these three warrant tranches was vested and then-converted to 78,373 shares of LianBio common stock, and recognized at fair value within marketable securnities as
of December 31, 2021, and within long-term investments on the accompanying Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022, In May 2022, the second warrant tranche was vested and in December 2022,
it was exercised and converted into 78,373 shares of LianBio common stock as recognized at fair value within long-term investments on the Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022, LianBio
common stock is classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, given its publicly repomted price on the NASDAG Global Market.

The third warrant tranche remains classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and is presented within other assets on the accompanying Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and
2021 (see Note 3(d)). The most significant assumptions used in the option pricing valuation model as of each balance sheet date 1o determine its fair value included
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observable and unobservable inputs: LianBio common stock volatility (based on the hisworical volatility of similar companies), the probability of regulatory milestone achievement for vesting, and the
application of an assumed discount rate.

The estimated fair value of the equity warrant will be remeasured each reporting period with adjustments reported within other income (expense), net on the accompanying Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss, until exercised or expired, and is valued in the accompanying Financial Statements as follows:

Walue al equily warranes

(see Note 3(d))
Fair value as of December 31, 2021 5 663
Remeasurement of equity warranis (300}
Recognition of equity warrams 103
Exercise of the second tranche of equity warrants into LianBio common stock (157)
Fair value as of December 31, 2022 5 108
\’Hle&wﬂ;g{anu
Fair value as of December 31, 2020 i ==
Initial fair value estimate of equity warrants 1,233
Recognition of equity warrants 1,491
Remeasurement of equity warranis (BT
Exercise of the first tranche of equity warrants imo LianBio commaon stock {1,074}
Fair value as of December 31, 2021 $ 663
The fair value and amortized cost of cash and cash equivalens and available-for-sale investments by major security 1vpe are presented in the following table:
December 31, 2022
Amuortized cost Unrealized gains Unrealized losses Estimaned lair value

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds 5 4685 & — '8 — ¥ 64,685

Government-related securities 44978 — = 4,978

Commercial paper 1,997 — — 1,997

Total cash equivalents % 71660 % — 8 — 8 71,660

Marketable securities:

U5, Treasury securities 3 G720 % 5 8 (81) 5 69,644

Commencial paper 58,358 — — 58,358

Corporate debr securitles 11,524 8 (1) 11,521

Govemnment-related securities 5,038 B, — 5.843

Total marketable securities 5 145,440 % 18 5 (92] § 145,366

Long-term investments:
Commaon stock in LianBio A3 — (268) a7
Total long-term investments b 633 § — 5 (268) 5 an
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December 31, 2021

Amaortized cost Unrealtzed gains Unrealized losses Estimared fair value
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds 171,332 — — 171,332
“Total cash equivalents $ 171,332 § — § — 5 171,332
Markerahle securltes:
Common stock in LianBio 1,074 — {591) 483
Total marketable securities b 1074 % — § (591) 5 443

As of December 31, 2022, substantially all available-for-sale debt securities have a maturity of 12 months or less, Three securities have a contractual maturity between one and five vears,
with an estimated fair market value of $4.6 million and amontized cost of $4.6 million. All available-for-sale debt securities have gross unrealized losses in a continuous loss position for less than ane
year. The Company did not recognize any other-than-temporary impairment losses on these securities,

& COMMITMENTS & CONTINGENCIES

(a) Operating Leases

In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into lease agreements with unaffiliated thind parties for its facilities and office equipment. As of December 31, 2022, the Company
had four active leases for adjacent office and laboratory suites in Irvine, Califomia.

Right-of-Use assets (“ROLU assets") represent the Company’s right to control an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the initial non-cancelable lease term, unless
there is a renewal option that is reasonably certain to be exercised. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date in determining the discount rate utilized o
present value the future minimum lease payments since an implicit interest rate in each at-market lease agreement was not determinable. The Company has lease agreements with both lease and non-
lease components, which are accounted for as a single component for all asset classes.

The Company's variable lease costs, consisting primarily of real estate taxes, insurance costs, and common area maintenance, are expensed as incurred and excluded from the reported
ROL asset and lease liability amounts presented in the accompanying Balance Sheets. Rent expense is allocated to research and development and general and administrative expenses in the
accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss, The below table summarizes the components of total lease expense:

Year Ended December 31,
022 2021
Operating lease expense 5 569 § 385
Variahle lease expense 244 144
Short-term lease expense {lease with 12-month term or less) — 116
Total lease expense i 8313 § 645

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s facility leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 1.1 years and a weighted-average incremental borrowing rate of 10%.

The below table summarizes the (i) minimum lease payments over the next five years and thereafiter, (ii) lease arrangement imputed interest, and (iii) present value of future lease
payiments:
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Operating Leases - Future Paymenis [recember 31, 2022

023 3 874
2024 6l
2025 —_
2026

027 —
Total future lease payments, undiscounted 5 5335
{Less): Imputed interest (46)
Present value of opesating lease payments!! r =

" This amount includes the future lease commitments related m a lease amendment executed s of December 31, 2022, that commences in the first quarter of 2023,
(b) In-License Agreements for Lotilaner
January 2019 Agreement for Skin and Eye Disease or Conditions in Humans

In January 20189, the Company entered into a license agreement with Elanco Tiergesundbeit AG (“Elanco™) for exclusive worldwide rights to certain intellectual property for the
development and commercialization of lotilaner in the treatment or cure of any eve or skin disease or condition in humans, as amended in June 2022 (the "Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement”). The
Company has sole financial responsibility for related development, regulatory, and commercialization activities.

The Company paid $1.0 million upfront upon execution of the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement in January 2019, and also paid a required $1.0 million clinical milestone in Seprember
2020, associated with the first two U.S. pivotal trials for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis. The Company paid an additional $2.0 million for its second pivotal trial milestone in April 2021, which
was recorded in research and development expense in the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the vear ended December 31, 2021,

In June 2022, the Company made a contractual prepayment of $1.5 million that can be applied towards any milestones that become due under the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement and/or
the Company’s in-license agreement with Elanco, granting it a worldwide license to certain intellectual property for the development and commercialization of lotilaner for the treatment, palliation,
prevention, or cure of “all other” diseases and conditions in humans {i.e., beyond that of the eye or skin), as amended in June 2022 (the “All Human Uses Elanco Agreement”).

As part of the China Out-License, the Company made a required contractual payment in the amount of $2.5 million to Elanco following the receipt of 525 million of proceeds from
LianBio during the second quarter of 2021, During the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company recognized $0.4 million of cost of license fees and collaboration revenue upon receipt of $10 million of
cash proceeds from LianBio for the achievement of a clinical development milestone, which was applied against the $1.5 million prepayment.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company is obligated to make further cash payments to Elanco of $3.0 million under the Eye and Derm Elanco Agreement (that can be offset against any
remaining prepaid amounts) upon achievement of cerain clinical milestones in the treatment of human skin diseases using lotilaner and a maximum of $79.0 million for various commercial and sales
threshold milestones for the treatment of human skin diseases and the reatment of any type of blepharitis in humans using lotilaner. In addition, the Company will be obligated to pay tiered
contractual reyalties to Elanco in the mid to high single digits of its net sales. If the Company receives certain types of payments from its sublicensees, it will be obligated o pay Elanco a variahle
percentage in the low to mid double-digits of such proceeds, except for territories in which it has achieved applicable regulatory approval,

September 2020 Agreement for All Other Diseases or Conditions in Humans

In September 2020, the Company executed an All Human Uses Elanco Agreement with Elanco and concurrently issued Elanco 222 460 shares of its common stock with an estimated fair
value of $3.1 million ($14.0003 per share, approximating the issuance price of the Company's Series C preferred stock in Seplember 2020).
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The Company is required 1o make cash payments to Elanco under the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement upon the achievement of various clinical milestones up to an aggregate maximum
of 54.0 million, and various commercial and sales threshold milestones up to an agpregate maximum of $77.0 million. In addition, the Company will be obligated w pay contractual rovalties to
Elanco in the single digits of its net product sales. If the Company recelves cerain types of payments from its sublicensees, it will also be obligated to pay Elanco a varable percentage in the low o
mid double-digits of such proceeds, except for territories in which it achieved applicable regulatory approval prior 1o sublicense execution,

In March 2021, the Company entered into the China Out-License agreement with LianBio, that required it to grant Elanco an additional fixed 187 500 shares of the Company's common stock
that otherwise would have heen issuable no later than the 18-month anniversary of the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement for continued license exclusivity. These issued shares were valued at
$5.5 million, based on the Company's closing stock price of $29.30 per share on the date this issuance became contractually required and is recognized within research and development expense
within the accompanying Staternents of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the year ended December 31, 2021,

In December 2022, a clinical milestone was triggered to Elance under the All Human Uses Elanco Agreement upon enrollment of the first patient in the Phase 2a Carpo trial, for the
treatment of Lyme disease, The related milestone expense of $0.5 million was applied against the $1.5 million prepayment and included within research and development expense on the
accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss. for the year ended December 31, 2022
(c) Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into employment agreements with eight of its executive officers, These agreemenis pravide for the payment of certain benefits upon separation of employment
unider specified circumstances, such as termination without cause, or lermination in connection with a change in control event.

(d) Consulting Agreements

The Company has a preexisting consulting agreement with a board member that was appointed in December 2021, This consulting agreement provides for annual cash compensation of
approximately $0.2 million and option grants to purchase 45,134 shares of the Company’s common stock, with exercise prices ranging from $2.01 to $34.72 per share. This consulting agreement may
be terminated by either party with ten days notice and contains standard confidentiality, indemnification, and intellectual property assignment provisions in favor of the Company.

(e) Litigation Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be subject to various litigation and related matters arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company is cumrently not aware of any such matters
where there is at least 2 reasonable probability that a material loss, if any, has been or will be incurred for financial statement recognition.

() Indemnities and Guarantees

The Company has certain indemnity commitments, under which it may be required to make payments to its officers and directors in relation to certain transactions o the maximum extent
permitted under applicable laws. The duration of these indemnities vary, and in certain cases, are indefinite and do not provide for any limitaton of maximum payments. The Company has not been
abligated to make any such payments to date and no liabilities have been recorded for this contingency in the accompanying Balance Sheets.

9. OUT-LICENSE AGREEMENT

Out-License of TP-03 Commercial Rights in Greater China in March 2021
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On March 26, 2021, the Company entered into The China Out-License agreement with LianBio for its exclusive development and commercialization rights of TP-03 (lotilaner
aphthalmic solution, 0.25%) in the China Territory, as defined in the agreement, for the treatment of Demodex blepharitis and Meibomian Gland Disease. LianBio is contractsally responsible for all
clinical development and commercialization activities and costs within the China Territory.

Through December 31, 2022, the Company received payvments from LianBio totaling $80.0 million comprised of an uplront payment of $15.0 million and $65.0 million for the
achievement of specified milestone events. In February 2023, a development milestone was triggered resulting in expected cash proceeds of $2.5 million.

The Company is eligible to receive further consideration from LianBio upon the achievement of additional TP-03 events, including (i) additional development milestone payments of up
o an aggregate of $25.0 million (includes $2.5 million for a milestone triggered in February 2023), (ii) China-based TP-03 sales threshold milestone payments of up 1o an aggregate of $100.0 million,
(1ii) tiered low-to-high-teen royalties for China Territory TP-03 product sales, and (iv) vesting of a LianBio equity warrant upon centain regulatory milestones.

Revenue recognized in the accompanying Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss relates to the satisfaction of performance obligations including (i) the transfer of TP-03
license rights in the China Territory (0 LianBio and (ii) the completion of U.S. clinical activities and then providing LianBio with the related data w supplement its local pivotal wial package for TP-
03 in the reatment of Demodex blepharitis.

10. CREDIT FACILITY AGREEMENT

On February 2, 2022, the Company executed the Credit Facility with Hercules Capital, Inc, ("Hercules”) and SVB that expires on February 2, 2027, Concurrent with the execution of the
Credit Facility, the Company made a $20.0 million draw.

On January 5, 2023, the Company entered into an amendment to the Ioan and security agreement (the "First Amendment™). The First Amendment set a maximum interest rate, and
updated the terms of prepayment under the Credit Facility and other certain specific conditions, including an extended period for the Company to draw down the $25.0 million tranche associated with
the NDA submission, from March 15, 2023 1o March 15, 2024, provided at least $5.0 million is drawn on or before March 15, 2023 and at least an additional $5 million is drawn on or before
September 15, 2023, The Company did not incur any lender fees as part of this First Amendment.

As of December 31, 2022, the Credit Facility provides for a remaining aggregate principal amount of up to $135.0 million with tranched availability as follows: 525.0 million related o
the New Drug Application ("NDA") submission with the FDA for TP-03, $35.0 millien upon FDA approval of TP-03, $50.0 million upon achievement of product net revenue thresholds, and
525.0 million upon lender approval. On March 15, 2023, the Company made a $5.0 million draw (including SVEB's commitment of 51.25 million) from the $25.0 million tranche that became available
upon submission of the KDA,

Each of these ranches may be drawn down in 55.0 million increments at the Company's election. The Credit Facility requires interest-only payments through February 1, 2026, followed
by 12 months of principal amortization, unless extended for one year w its maturity, upon meeting certain contractual conditions. All unpaid amounts under the Credit Facility become due on its
February 2, 2027 expiry.

Under the First Amendment, the outstanding principal draws accrue interest at a floating interest rate per annum equal to the greater of either (i) The Wall Street Journal prime rate plus
4.45% with an aggregate cap of 11.45% or (i) 8.45%. At the execution date of the Credit Facility, the Wall Street Journal prime rate was 3.25% and further increased during 2022, reaching 7.50% as
of December 31, 2022,

The Company is required to pay a specified foe upon the earlier of (i) February 2, 2027 or (ii) the date the Company prepays, in full or in part, the outstanding principal balance of the
Credit Facility ("End of Term Charge"). The curvent End of Term Charge of $1.0 million was derived at the execution of the Credit Facility by multiplying 4.75% by the $20.0 million drawn at
closing and is accreted to interest expense through maturity,
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On March 10, 2023, 5VB was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or the FDIC, as
receiver, and SVE was subsequently transferred into a new entity, Silicon Valley Bridge Bank, N.A. On March 12, 2023, the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointly
released a statement that depositors at SYB would have access to their funds, even those in excess of the standard FDIC insurance limits, under a systemic risk exception. Such parties also announced,
amoig other items, that Silicon Valley Bridge Bank has assurmed the obligations and commitments of former SVEB, commitments o advance under existing credit agreements will be honored in
accordance with and pursuant to the terms of such credit agreements and any other duties or roles under existing credit agreements will be performed by Silicon Valley Bridge Bank in accordance

with and pursuant to the terms of such credit facilities,

As of December 31, 2022, the carrying value of the Credit Facility (reported as term loan, net on the accompanying Balance Sheets) consisted of $20.0 million principal cutstanding less
legal and administrative issuance costs of approximately $0.9 million that were recorded as a debrt discount to the term loan, net and will continue (o be accreted to interest expense using the effective

interest method during its term, As of December 31, 2021 the Company had no outstanding debt.

As of December 31, 2022, the effective interest rate for the full term of the Credit Facility was 13.61%. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized interest expense on the

accompanying Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss in connection with the Credit Facility as follows:

[nterest expense for term loan

Accretion of end of term charge
Amortization of debt issuance costs

Total Interest expense related w renm loan

The principal balance of this Credit Facility and related accretion and amortization as of December 31,

Balance Sheet as follows:

Term loan, gross.

Dbt issuance costs

Accretion of end of term charge

Accumulated amaortization of debt issuance costs
Term loan, met

11. INCOME TAXES

“The components of loss from operations hefore provision for income taxes were as follows:

United States
Toal

The provision for income taxes from operations were as follows:
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Year Encled
December 31, 2022
L 1,890
174
135
§ 2,199
2022 is reported on a combined basis as term loan, net on the accompanying
December 31, 2022
5 20,000
{a75)
174
135
19,434
Year Ended
December 31,
2022 2021
3 (62,085) § (13.,772)
5 (62,095) 5 (13,772)
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Current:
Federal
State

Deferred:
Federal
State

Total income tax (henefit) provision

Year Ended
Deoember 31,
02 202l
4 8 42
— 13
(4] 5 55
{4} 3 55

A reconciliation of income taxes was computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate in each period o the pretax loss for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, and

adjusted for certain classes of transactions, as summarized below:

Expected tax benefit ar statutory rate

State Income tax, net of federal benefii

Permanent items.

Stock-based compensation

Esecutive compensation

Research and development credis

Change in fair value of equity warrants and equity securities
Otther

Change in valuation allowance

Incomse tax (benefit) provision

Significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
22 2021
(13040) 3 (2,691)
(212) (92}
(22) (12}
G0G TE0
QiR —_
(1,753) (2,408)
a1 331
12 (50)
13,126 4,417
) s 55
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Year Ended
December 31,
22 021

Dieferred tax assets;

Net operating loss carry Fopwards % 667§ 4,934
Research and development credit carryforwards 47X 2,969
Capitalized research and develop 7,634 —
Intangible assets 2870 2904
Stock-based compensation 2,119 1,136
Orther, net 1,199 712
Total deterred tax assets before valuation allowance 25,324 12,735
Less: valuation allowance (25,201) (12,059)
Total defered tax assets 3 123§ 676
Deferred tax liabilities, net:

Orperating, lease right-of-use assels (123) [234)
Dweferred revenue = [442)
Net deferred tax asset % ™ _

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrving amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes. The Company maintains a valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty that such asseis will be realized and evaluates the recoverability of its
deferred tax assets on at least an annual basis. The Company has determined that its deferred tax assets, with the exception of amounts supporied by the reversal of taxable temporary differences, are
not realizable. Consequently, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets of $25.2 million and $12.1 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

At December 31, 2022, the Company has federal and state net operating loss camyforwards of approximately $31.1 million and $25.9 million, respectively, As a result of the Tax Cuts and
Jubs Act of 2017 (the "Tax Act”), for U5, income @ax purposes, net operating losses generated prior o December 31, 2007 can be carried forwand for up to 20 years, while net operating losses
generated after December 31, 2017 can be carvied forward indefinitely, but are limited to 80% utilization against taxable income. The Company’s total federal net operating loss of $31.1 million will
not expire but will only be able 1o be offset 80% of future axable income within each year. The other state net operating losses will begin to expire in 2037, At December 31, 2022, the Company had
federal and other state research and development tax credits of $4.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively, The federal research and development tax credits begin to expire in 2040 unless previously
utilized, and the ather state credit carryforwards begin to expire in 2037,

The Internal Revenue Code ("TRC") Sections 382 and 383 limit annual use of NOL and research and development credit carryforwards in the event a cumulative change in ownership of
more than 50% ocours within a three-vear period, The Company has not vet completed an ownership change analysis. If a requisite ownership change occurs, the amount of remaining tax attribute
carryforwards available to offset taxable income and income tax expense in future years may be restricted or eliminated. If eliminated, the related asset would be removed from deferred tax assets
with a corresponding reduction in the valuation allowance. Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, limitations created by future ownership changes, it any, will not impact the Company's
effective tax rate.

Uncertain tax positions are evaluated based upon the facts and circumstances that exist at each reporting period. Subsequent changes in judgement based upon new information may lead
1o changes in recognition, derecognition, and measurement. Adjustment may result, for example, upon resolution of an issue with the taxing authorities or expiration of a statute of limitations barring
an assessment for an issue, The Company recognizes a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position when it is more-likely-than-not that it will be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. As of
December 31, 2022, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $3.4 million, none of which would affect the effective tax rate if recognized. The Company does naot anticipate any
significant changes in its unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months. The Company's policy is to recognize the interest expense and/or penalties related to income tax matters as a component
of income tax expense. The Company had no accroal for interest or penalties on the accompanying Balance Sheets at December 31, 2022
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and has not recognized interest and/or penalties on the accompanying Statements of Operations tor the years ended December 31, 2022 or 2021.

The following table summarizes the changes to the gross unrecognized tax benefits:

YWear Ended
December 31,
02z w0zl
Balance at beginning of year 3 3045 % 488
Additions related m current year positions 340 658
Additions related (o prios year positions — 1,899
Deecreases related 1o prior year positions (1) —
Balance at end of year b 3393 3§ 3,045

The Company is subject to taxation in the U5, Federal jurisdiction and various states. All tax years from inception are subject to examination by federal and state tax authorities, The
Company's practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. No interest or penalties related to income tax matters have been incurred at
December 31, 2022 and 2021 and the years then ended. Further, the Company is not currently under examination by any federal, state, or local tax authority.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We makntain a system of disclosure controls and procedures that are designed (o provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act™), is processed, recorded, summarized and reported within the time periods specitied in the Securities and Exchange
Commission's rules and forms. These disclosure controls and procedures include, among other processes, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, respectively), as appropriate, w allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and aperation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2022, Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of December 21, 2022, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are
required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated wo our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management's Report on Internal Conirol Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate intemal contral over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), We
maintain intemnal contral over financial reporting designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
intemnal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in “Intemnal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework), Based on this assessment, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December
31,2022,

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting during the quaner ended December 31, 2022,

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls ar our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all
errors and all fraud, A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the
design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the henefits of controls must be considered relative w their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of contrals can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that
judgrments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumyented by the individual acts of some persons,
by collusion of two or mare people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events,
and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to ervor or fraud may
occur and not be detected.
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Ttem 9B. Other Information.
Mone.
Ttem 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Mot applicable.




Part 11T
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be contained in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders within 120 days
after December 31, 2022 (the "Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference,

Ttem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be comtained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Trem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be contzined in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Ttem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.
Ttem 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be comained in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.




Part 1V

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this repor:
{1) Financial Statements {included in Part 1T of this Annual Report on Form 10-K):

+  Repoit of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
+  Balance Sheets

+  Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

*  Statements of Stockholder's Equity

+  Statements of Cash Flows

«  Notes to Financial Statements

{2) Financial Statement Schedules:
All financial statement schedules are omitted because the information is inapplicable or presented in the notes to the financial statements

(b} The following exhibits are included herein or incorporated herein by reference:
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L Pursuant 1o Ttem G011 10) of Regulation 5-5, certain conlidential ponions of this exhilit kave been omitted by means of marking such ponions with asierisks g the identified confidential portions (i) are non msterial and (i) would

likely cause competitive harm ta the registrant if publicly disclosed.
# Indicaes a r CONTACT OF COMp v plan.
. The cerifications atfached as Exhibies 32,1 and 32,7 that accompany this Annual Repart on Form 10K are not deemed

filed with the SEC and are not 1o be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, &s amended, whether made befove or after the date
af this Anmsal Repori an Form 102K, inespective of any general incorporation language congained in such filing.

{¢) Financial Statement Schedules, All schedules have been omined because the information required to be presented in them s not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or related
notes,

Item 16, Form 10-K Summary

Nane.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K o be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly avthorized, in the City of Irvine, State of California, on March 17, 2023,

Tarsus Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
J/s/ Bobak Azamian, M.D., Ph.D.

Bobak Azamian, M.D., Ph.D,
President, Chief Executive Officer and Board Chairman

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Bobak Azamian, M.D., Ph.D., Leonard Greenstein, and Bryan
Wahl, M.D.. and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any
and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attormevs-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be
done in connection therewith, as fully w all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confliming all that said anomeys-in-fact amd agents, ar any of them, or
their or his substitutes, may lawfully do or cause t be done by virue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.




Signature Tithe Date
/s Bobak Azamian, M.D., Ph.D. Fresident, Chiel Executive Officer, and Board Chairman March 17, 2023
Bobak Azamian, M.D., Ph.D. {Principal Executive Officer)
/s Leonard M. Greenstein Chief Financial Officer March 17, 2023
Leonard M. Greenstein (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
s/ Scont Morrison Directar March 17, 2023
Scott Morrison
/s/ Bhaskar Chaudhuri, Ph.D. Director March 17, 2023
Bhaskar Chaudhuri, Ph.D.
/s/ Rosemary Crane Director March 17, 2023
Rosemary Crane
/s Andrew Goldberg, M.D. Director March 17, 2023
Andrew Goldberg, M.D.
‘5! William J. Link, Ph,D, Director March 17, 2023
William J. Link, Ph.D.
s/ Wendy Yamo Directar March 17, 2023
‘Wendy Yarno
/5! Elizabeth Yeu-Lin, M.D. Director March 17, 2023

Elizabeth Yeu-Lin, M.D.
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